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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREH|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the
annual report of BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited for
the year ended 31 December 2024. This year marked a period of
strategic transformation as we navigated evolving market dynamics,
invested in future growth drivers, and strengthened our leadership
in the IT solutions sector.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In FY2024, the Group reported revenue of approximately HK$648.0
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$63.1 million
or 9.7% compared to FY2023. However, driven by a higher
contribution from high-margin businesses such as Managed services,
the gross profit recorded an increase of approximately HK$9.2
million or 8% compared to FY2023. Impacted by our strategy
investment in both R&D and market expansion, the profit for the
year decreased by 77.8% to approximately HK$1.0 million for
FY2024 from approximately HK$4.5 million for FY2023.

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES AND OPERATIONAL
HIGHLIGHTS

(i) Continuously strengthening the Group’s
businesses in the IT solutions sector

The Group remains committed to delivering new and
customised IT products and solutions to customers in Macau,
Hong Kong and the PRC, especially for the Greater Bay Area.
Over the past few years, the government in Macau, Hong Kong
and the Greater Bay Area launch different supportive initiatives
to support the digital transformation of SMEs. Also, the recent
wave of Al developments created significant opportunities to IT
sector. To capitalise on opportunities for digital transformation
and advancements in Al, we are enhancing our business
model by expanding our product range and improving solution
integration capabilities.

(ii) Focus on R&D in innovative technologies

During FY2024, we accelerated investments in Al and brain-
computer interface technologies. A dedicated R&D team
specialising in Al and large language models was established
in Macau. The Group has achieved breakthrough progress
in developing foundational large language models and BClI
applications, with related products expected to launch in
the near future. We believe the technologies will create a
remarkable value to the Group, and the Shareholder in the
future.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERH/E

(iii) Market expansion in the Greater Bay Area

Leveraging policy benefits from the Macau SAR government
and the Zone, the Group continues to expand its footprint in
the Greater Bay Area. Initiatives such as cross-border data flow
pilots and tax incentives will accelerate business growth and
diversify our existing models, allowing the Group to thrive amid
global economic fluctuations.

OUTLOOK

The digital transformation wave and rapid advancements in
the Al industry present significant opportunities, particularly in
Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC. Additionally, investments by
Macau gaming operators in non-gaming sectors and intelligent
transformation are expected to drive steady growth in our traditional
Enterprise IT solutions business. While macroeconomic uncertainties
persist, the Group’s strong liquidity and strategic partnerships ensure
resilience.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | extend my sincere gratitude to all
stakeholders — including shareholders, employees, customers,
suppliers, business partners, and vendors — for their unwavering trust
in the Group and continued support for our business development
across Macau, Hong Kong, and the PRC.

Yours sincerely,

Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERR DT

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

IT solutions involve the design, supply, integration, operation
and maintenance of IT systems. IT solutions could be primarily
categorised into two segments, namely (i) Enterprise IT solutions;
and (i) distribution and resale of hardware and software. Enterprise
IT solutions could be further categorised into (i) Professional
IT services; (ii) Managed services; and (iii) IT maintenance and
consultancy services.

As an IT solutions provider and authorised distributor, the Group
introduces IT products and services, and provides related IT solutions
to the local markets, including Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC, and
provides IT solution services covering procurement and integration,
Managed services and maintenance services to the end users in
Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group has also extended its
footprint to the Greater Bay Area since 2021.

With the steady recovery of the economy, in particular, the
Greater Bay Area, Hong Kong and Macau, coupled with economic
transformation, enterprises are more inclined to use digital means
and technology for operation and marketing, which has brought
significant demand to the IT industry:

(a) as the transformation of the economy and the popularisation
of digitalisation in the Greater Bay Area, Hong Kong
and Macau, local enterprises have planned to increase
their investment in IT infrastructure renovation and new
IT upgrade projects. At the same time, with the local
government’s strong promotion of digitalisation and
economic transformation, there is an increasing number
of local enterprises which have utilised digital tools such
as digital platforms, advanced systems and smart devices
more extensively in order to improve their operational
efficiency and expand their customer acquisition channels.
The Group expects the demand for IT solutions and related
products will increase along with the popularisation of digital
transformation among the enterprises in the Greater Bay
Area, Hong Kong and Macau;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

(b)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

as the six gaming operators in Macau had committed
to invest and support the development of non-gaming
industries in Macau in the coming years under the
requirement of the new gaming concession contract,
together with the increasing efforts from the government
of the Macau SAR to diversify the economy away from its
reliance on gaming industry, the Group will still benefit
indirectly from the increasing demand for IT solutions arising
from the investments to be committed by those operators in
the coming years; and

the government of Macau SAR reinforced its policies on
the “1+4" adequate diversification development strategy
to enrich Macau’s function as “One Centre” for integrated
tourism and leisure, while facilitating the development of
four nascent industries, namely the “Big Health” industry;
modern financial services; high technology, conferences
and exhibitions, commerce and trade, and culture and
sports in the “2024 Policy Address”. It also emphasised
the importance of integrating various technologies with
traditional industries such as tourism and gaming industries
so as to create new experiences for tourists in the future.
The Group expects the demand for IT solutions in the above
industries will increase along with the increasing influence
of IT elements in business operations under the related
supportive policies from the government of Macau SAR.

(b)

(@

RPN EIE R B S R E IR AT ET
KERRAT TERBRREFRERT
FIEBRITENER - URERPRR
BUR AN NES - I SREEE S oAb A
BB TENRBET - AEBEGHEE
RBENZEFEEE AR REFAGIEL
E"]Txé“ﬁﬁfgiﬁlmmkﬁ%ﬁ WG H
Sk

RPIR R BT 2024 F ie B R & 17 58
1H1+4J}E"%7E1E§XJE@%W LR
BRI — B L MRS IREIRE IR

R (e s PO E R AR BR - EUFK@
FIER BRERRG - SR -
EEERXLEE - HIRBERT %
(R R RIS R ) BRI &
BEEE  NERZRA/BETRIEMNER
AREEFERT - IRV IR BT AR X
FERT  MTREXGELTNTED
B - a7 RENTRR TS RE0F K AGIE
e

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following emerging business opportunities in the Greater Bay
Area, Hong Kong and Macau also offer a platform for the Group to
expand its business:

Supportive Macau governmental policies R&D
incentives fuel development

Macau SAR government’s “Development Plan for Appropriate
Economic Diversification of the Macao Special Administrative
Region (2024-2028)" outlines several targeted measures to support
technology companies, aiming to foster innovation, enhance
competitiveness, and integrate Macau into regional technology
ecosystems. These include creating financial incentives and the
funding channel by providing the subsidies via FDCT for R&D
particularly in priority sectors including Al, big data, blockchain and
smart city application as well as the tax incentives to the technology
companies investing in technology innovation by reducing corporate
taxes or exemptions. The strategy encourages Macau IT companies
to intensify industry-academia-research co-operation with the higher
education institutions in Macau and the PRC, which will accelerate
talent development and technology transfer between Macau and
the PRC. By deepening these partnerships, the initiatives target to
achieve the enhancement of solution integration capabilities by
building the technology ecosystem integration across Macau and the
PRC.

The Group has seized opportunities arising from economic
transformation and the widespread adoption of digitalisation,
actively aligned with government policies, and gained extensive
recognition. Following its certification in FY2023 as one of the
first three highest-level “Key Technology Enterprises” by the
Economic and Technological Development Bureau of Macau, during
FY2024, the Group was awarded the “Merit Medal for Commerce
and Industry” by the Macau SAR government, a testament to its
outstanding contributions to technology research and development,
further highlighting its leading position as a premier local technology
enterprise in Macau.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

Macau’s gaming industry’s intelligent
transformation drives growth

As a global leader in gaming and tourism, Macau’s gaming
industry is driving growth through intelligent digital transformation,
increasing its investments in smart technologies to enhance
operational efficiency and customer engagement. To seize the
opportunity resulting from such increasing investments, the Group
will focus on developing customised IT products and IT solutions.
These include deploying Al-driven operational intelligence — such
as machine learning-based dynamic pricing, real-time customer
volume forecasting, and risk control systems — to optimise resource
allocation, reduce costs, and boost profit margins. The Group
will also focus on immersive experience innovation through
integrating AR/VR and digital twin technologies to create interactive
entertainment scenarios, elevating customer spending and
differentiation. Additionally, the Group is upgrading its collaboration
models to extended collaboration models, shifting from single-
project delivery to full-cycle “system integration + data service”
partnerships, and expanding into smart campus management and
cross-border data solutions. The Group believes the solution related
to the intelligent transformation will drive the growth of the Group'’s
business in coming years.

Al commercialisation expands revenue streams

In recent years, the Al industry has experienced rapid growth,
driven by technological breakthroughs, the expansion of application
scenarios, and accelerated commercialisation. These developments
have created significant opportunities for the IT sector. To capitalise
on these opportunities, the Group plans to strengthen R&D in core
Al technologies to build multifaceted competitive advantages. The
Group will focus on developing and delivering industry-specific
solutions, including:

- Fin-tech: Developing Al-driven risk control systems tailored
for financial institutions in Macau and Hong Kong;

- Smart retail: Deploying Al-powered footfall analytics and
unmanned store solutions across the Greater Bay Area; and

- Gov-tech: Implementing government service robots and big
data platforms to improve public service efficiency.

In parallel with developing these industry-specific solutions, the
Group's strategy prioritises business model innovation. This includes
scaling Saa$S subscription services to expand the Group's revenue
streams from technology licensing.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Al and BCI technologies scale cybersecurity and
cognitive solutions

The Group will continue to increase its investment in R&D for Al
and BCI technologies. During FY2024, the Group deployed a suite
of high-performance computing devices dedicated to training
and inference tasks. Also, a new R&D team was newly set up in
Macau during FY2024, which specialises in the development of
technologies in Al and large language models. As of 31 December
2024 and the date of this report, the Group had registered 26
software copyrights (as of 31 December 2023: 17) and 57 patents (as
of 31 December 2023: 31) for related technologies with the China
National Intellectual Property Administration.

Currently, the Group is advancing its self-developed vertical domain-
specific large models through two strategic pillars: enhancing
traditional business operations and driving innovative R&D. Earlier,
with support from FDCT, the Group collaborated with Pengcheng
Laboratory, University of Macau, and Zhejiang University to jointly
develop a multi-agent information security alert analysis and
decision-making platform. The platform’s core foundational large
model has successfully completed its first phase of fine-tuning and is
slated for full deployment by mid-2026 across existing and potential
clients of the Group’s information security operation centers. The
Group believes that leveraging large model technology will pioneer
a human-machine collaborative approach to information security
operations, significantly boosting the revenue and profit contribution
of its business of Managed service.

Additionally, later this year, the Group plans to launch a behavior
reasoning large model based on audio-visual and language modality
perception, which targets to be applied to scenarios such as
emotional companionship and cultural tourism in the future. This
innovation is expected to generate new revenue streams for the
Group.

In the field of BCI, the first phase of visual-evoked technology has
been completed. The Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Barco, is
leveraging multi-modal data collection — including EEG technology
— alongside the Group’s behavior reasoning large model to develop
an emotion and cognition perception model that correlates
environmental behaviors with human mental states. Initial results
from this research are expected to reach the market by the end of
this year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

Although the investment in R&D may exert short-term pressure
on profitability, it represents a strategic investment by the Group
to maintain its technological competency and drive long-term
sustainable development. After these products under development
are launched in the market, the Group believe it will lay a solid
foundation for future business growth. The Group will continue
to prioritise innovation and technological advancement to ensure
it remains at the forefront of a rapidly evolving market, thereby
creating enduring value for the Shareholders.

Opportunities in the PRC

Central government policies and the strategic advantages of the
Zone offer transformative opportunities for the Macau-funded
enterprises, including leveraging policy benefits such as cross-
border data flow pilots and tax incentives to expand the operations
and develop cross-border data services in the PRC. Through
industrial synergy, collaboration with mainland partners enables co-
development of localised solutions like loT and digital healthcare
platforms, while tapping into national “new infrastructure”
initiatives. Additionally, regional expansion allows Macau-funded
enterprises to replicate its smart tourism expertise in the PRC
cultural tourism markets via the Hengqin hub, fostering cross-border
integration.

The Group would also identify potential business opportunities,
including but not limited to extending the Group's current business
model to cities outside the Greater Bay Area and developing new
business models, which could help further diversify the Group's
business and expand the Group's business footprint in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During FY2024, the Group continuously maintained its
leading position in the Macau IT solutions market by providing
comprehensive and high-quality end-to-end Enterprise IT solutions as
well as distribution and resale business to customers under various
industry sectors in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC, especially the
Greater Bay Area.

Revenue of the Group for FY2024 decreased from approximately
HK$717.6 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$648.0 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$69.6 million or 9.7%
as compared to that of FY2023. The decrease in revenue is mainly
due to the decrease in the revenue from the Enterprise IT solutions.
Since certain projects with large contract sums were completed
substantially in 2023, the revenue from Professional IT services
decreased from approximately HK$379.2 million for FY2023 to
approximately HK$289.6 million for FY2024.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

BEHMENRE NS HERBNERES -
BERRENEEGFRMEN L ESH R
BRERERMOBEKRE - ARERE RESR%E
FEMEDE  BARKNEBERETRER
o AEBBEBELBRAFNRMES - 7
PRI PR B R MY T 45 P RIF RS - e RAX
REBERAER -

R B RS

FREFOERRNAERBOERES HRETE
RHEHTEUKE  SREHEREEERBHIE L
HWEBERRES  EPRBEREZGLERE
BEIERG - BMBEXHR - BAMAERHS
15 - KRIFRBEAHMCERTTER - YR LT
BEYE  RN2SEBERFEZIER 4t
EYEEER OREMXENBBEESRAR
FIME BIREERERD TR A IRT S - e
HE_EEHEES -

AREESVEBENRFERS - SFRETRR
AR EIRA R R RER B AR SN T
RERFOBERN  SHAINE—SHE
REEEBZRACABANEEEF B ET -
By o

E 3 E)

204F - AEBEEBBRIAM - BB
FRE(LERANER)SETEXEPERE2E R
BEARERERTRARDRALR D HEEER
1% REFRPITERR TS RIS H) B EHAL -

AEBM R E2023F M FH717.6 B BB ILH
DEI2AER EH648.0F B IT - 82023481
FRADH69.6BEEITLHIT% - WaHPEE
ERRPETRAFTROEERD - BRETK
BAAIEE B R2023F REGERK - EEITRT
U 2023 F B FMAI379.2B BB LR L2
2024 F B F #9289 .6 BEE T ©

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Due to the non-gaming investment commitments pledged by
the gaming operators under the requirements of new gaming
concession contract, the Group expects the demand for IT solutions
and products related to non-gaming investments from the gaming
operators to increase in coming years. During FY2024, the Group
entered into a number of highly complex contracts with the gaming
operators. Along with the contract works that were proceeding, the
revenue from such contracts will contribute more significant revenue
in the future.

In addition, the Group endeavoured to expand its businesses in
relation to Managed services and IT maintenance and consultancy
services in Macau and Hong Kong during FY2024. With the
increasing number of contracts in relation to Managed services and
IT maintenance and consultancy services entered into between the
Group and customers in Macau and Hong Kong, the Group expects
the revenue from such services will continuously contribute steady
revenue in the future.

Enterprise IT solutions

Revenue from Enterprise IT solutions decreased by approximately
HK$63.1 million or 13.8% from approximately HK$456.2 million
for FY2023 to approximately HK$393.1 million for FY2024. Such
decrease was mainly attributable to the net effect of the decrease in
the revenue from Professional IT services by approximately HK$89.7
million or 23.6%, the increase in the revenue from Managed service
by approximately HK$24.1 million or 87.0% and the increase
in the revenue from IT maintenance and consultancy services by
approximately HK$2.5 million or 5.1%. The decrease in revenue
from Professional IT services was mainly due to the decrease in the
revenue recognised from the contracts with large contract sums
as they were substantially completed in 2023 and there was no
significant revenue recognised during FY2024.

In response to economic transformation and the growing demand
for digital applications among enterprises, the Group has increased
its resource investment in high-profit businesses such as Managed
services, and has also focused more on the development of these
businesses. The relevant businesses have also experienced significant
growth during FY2024 and represented an increasingly significant
portion of the Group’s revenue. The Group believes that it will
gradually occupy an important proportion of the Group’s business
and bring sustainable and stable revenue to the Group in the future.

Furthermore, in order to enhance the competitive advantage of such
businesses, the Group will invest to R&D in the related technologies
such as multi-agent information security alert analysis and the
decision-making platform. These technologies are expected to boost
the Group’s revenue and create cost-benefit efficiencies of such
businesses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

Distribution and resale

During FY2024, the Group continuously acted as a distributor by
partnering with system vendors or their authorised distributors in the
sale and distribution of a selected range of hardware and associated
system relating to corporate mobility and cybersecurity solutions
in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group also procured different IT
products for resale to fulfill the needs from different customers in
Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC.

Revenue from distribution and resale decreased by approximately
HK$5.4 million or 2.2% from approximately HK$251.0 million
for FY2023 to approximately HK$245.6 million for FY2024.
Such decrease was attributable to the decrease in the number of
distribution orders in Hong Kong. The Group will continuously
explore the opportunities to expand its businesses of distribution and
resale by partnering with more system vendors or their authorised
distributors.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately HK$69.6 million
or 9.7% to approximately HK$648.0 million for FY2024 from
approximately HK$717.6 million for FY2023. The decrease was
attributable to the aggregate effect of the decrease in revenue
generated from the Enterprise IT solutions business by approximately
HK$63.1 million and the decrease in revenue generated from
distribution and resale business by approximately HK$5.4 million. For
explanations of such change in revenue, please refer to the section
headed “Business Review" in this report.

Cost of sales and services

Cost of sales and services of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$78.7 million or 13.1% to approximately HK$523.2 million for
FY2024 from approximately HK$601.9 million for FY2023. The
extent of the decrease in cost of sales and services was greater than
that of the revenue for FY2023. The reason was mainly due to the
completion of certain contracts with significant contract sums in
FY2023 and lower gross profit margin while the weight of revenue
recognised from the contracts decreased during FY2024. There were
no significant change in the mix of cost of sales and services for both
period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit of the Group increased by approximately HK$9.2
million or 8.0% to approximately HK$124.8 million for FY2024
from approximately HK$115.6 million for FY2023. Such increase
was attributable to the decrease in the weight of revenue from the
contracts with lower gross profit margin. In addition, along with the
Group's increasing focus on development of high-profit businesses
such as Managed services, the revenue from such businesses
contributes more significant portion of the Group’s revenue
during FY2024. As a result, the gross profit margin increased by
approximately 3.2 percentage point from approximately 16.1% for
FY2023 to approximately 19.3% for FY2024.

Other income

Other income of the Group increased by approximately HK$9.2
million or 112.2% to approximately HK$17.4 million for FY2024
from approximately HK$8.2 million for FY2023. The increase was
primarily attributable to (i) the increase in the government grant
received by the Group relating to research and development
activities; and (ii) the increase in the income generated from a
partnership agreement which aims to provide support to small and
medium-sized enterprises in Macau for digital economy development
with a gaming operator.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses of the Group increased by
approximately HK$11.7 million or 36.2% to approximately HK$44.0
million for FY2024 from approximately HK$32.3 million for FY2023.
The increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in the salaries
payable to the salespersons and commission expenses by HK$7.9
million due to the expansion of the selling and marketing team as
well as the related business support departments in Macau and
Hong Kong; and (i) the increase in marketing expenses by HK$4.5
million due to increasing investments in marketing activities in Hong
Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately
HK$6.5 million or 9.1% to approximately HK$78.3 million for
FY2024 from approximately HK$71.8 million for FY2023. The
increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in the employee
benefit expenses by approximately HK$4.9 million resulting from a
salary increment in line with the employment market and additional
costs incurred from recruiting additional staff; (ii) the increase in the
legal and professional expenses by approximately HK$0.5 million due
to the additional professional fee incurred for potential acquisition
projects during FY2024; and (iii) the increase in the depreciation
of property, plant and equipment by approximately HK$0.5 million
resulting from the completion of office renovation in both Macau
and the PRC during earlier of FY2024.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses of the Group increased by
approximately HK$8.4 million or 84.0% to approximately HK$18.4
million for FY2024 from approximately HK$10.0 million for
FY2023. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in R&D
investment in accordance with the latest progress of products related
to BCI technologies in FY2024. In addition, the Group established
a new R&D team in Macau during FY2024, which specialises in
the development of technologies in Al and large language models.
The increment costs also contributed the increase in research and
development expenses.

Other gain and loss, net

For FY2024, other net gains mainly consisted of net exchange
gains of approximately HK$1.6 million and the fair value loss on
revaluation of investment property of approximately HK$0.1 million.
For FY2023, other net losses mainly consisted of net exchange losses
of approximately HK$0.8 million.

Finance costs

Finance costs of the Group increased by approximately HK$0.8
million or 100.0% to approximately HK$1.6 million for FY2024 from
approximately HK$0.8 million for FY2023. The increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in interest costs from bank borrowing
of approximately HK$0.8 million resulting from the more borrowing
raised from the banks in Macau and PRC during FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Income tax expense

Income tax expense of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$2.2 million or 75.9% to approximately HK$0.7 million for
FY2024 from approximately HK$2.9 million for FY2023. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in the unrecognised
tax loss in the PRC and Hong Kong. The effective tax rate for FY2024
and FY2023 are approximately 40.8% and 39.5%, respectively.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing reasons, profit for the year of the Group
for FY2024 decreased by approximately HK$3.5 million or 77.8%
to approximately HK$1.0 million for FY2024 from approximately
HK$4.5 million for FY2023.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a conservative approach towards its treasury
policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout
FY2024. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
assessing the potential customer’s credit quality, defining credit limit
by customer and conducting regular meetings and reviews on the
overdue status of the customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Company to finance the
Group’s operations and meet its short-term and long-term funding
requirements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed its operations mainly through a combination
of cash flow from operations and borrowings. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$85.9 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$28.7
million) that were mainly denominated in HK$, MOP, RMB and US$.
The increase in the cash and cash equivalents is mainly attributable
to (i) the decrease in pledged deposit by approximately HK$42.6
million due to the expiry of the bank facility in Macau; and (i) cash
inflow from its operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2024, which
was calculated based on the total borrowings as at the respective
dates, was approximately 4.4% (31 December 2023: 3.3%).
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total borrowings of
approximately HK$14.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$11.1
million), which mainly comprised of secured bank borrowings of
approximately HK$14.7 million (31 December 2023: secured bank
borrowings of approximately HK$5.5 million and financial liabilities
on bills discounted with recourse of approximately HK$5.5 million).
The bank borrowings were dominated in RMB (31 December
2023: same). The bank borrowings were with fixed-rate ranging
from approximately 2.80% to 3.25% (31 December 2023: from
approximately 1.70% to 3.65%). As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had total lease liabilities of approximately HK$14.8 million (31
December 2023: approximately HK$11.2 million), of which short-
term lease liabilities amounted to approximately HK$9.0 million (31
December 2023: approximately HK$7.1 million).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the Group entities’ functional currency. For commercial
transactions, the exposure to foreign exchange risk is minimal as the
majority of subsidiaries of the Group operate in Macau and Hong
Kong with most of the transactions denominated and settled in
HKS$.

For assets and liabilities, a majority of the monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in HK$, MOP and US$, and the foreign
exchange risk is considered minimal as these currencies are pegged.
The Group considers Macau and Hong Kong subsidiaries are
exposed to minimal foreign exchange risk from insignificant amounts
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in RMB.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and tries to
minimise these exposures through close monitoring. The Group did
not carry out any hedging activities against its foreign currencies’
during FY2024 and FY2023.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$677,000 (31 December 2023: HK$1,252,000)
relating to capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statement.
The decrease in capital commitment is mainly attributable to the
renovation of the office in Macau is completed in early of 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not execute guarantees
in favour of banks in respect of facilities granted to subsidiaries (31
December 2023: HK$80,000,000). As at 31 December 2024, no
facilities (31 December 2023: nil) had been utilised.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no significant investment, material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group during
Fy2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other future plans
for material investments or capital assets.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 341
employees (including four executive Directors and excluding one
non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors), as compared to a total of 287 employees as at 31
December 2023. The remuneration packages that the Group
offers to its employees include salary, commissions, discretionary
performance bonuses, pension scheme and other cash subsidies.
In general, the Group determines employee salaries based on each
employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has
designed an annual review system to assess the performance of its
employees, which forms the basis of its decisions with respect to
salary raises, bonuses and promotions. The total staff costs incurred
by the Group for FY2024 were approximately HK$136.9 million
compared to approximately HK$112.1 million for FY2023. Various
on-the-job trainings were provided to the employees based on their
job duties’ needs.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Board upon
recommendation from the Remuneration Committee of the
Company having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The following assets of the Group were pledged to secure banking
facilities and a bank guarantee requested by a supplier as of 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

EEEH

2024912 A31H KX2023F12A318 » K"&EE
AT EERFURFRITRERHERZ Ry
RITHER ¢

2024 2023

2024%F 2023%F

HK$ million HK$ million

BHEAT BEBT

Investment property WEWE 4.7 4.9
Bill receivables R R & - 5.5
Pledged bank deposits BIMIRITIER 10.7 53.3
15.4 63.7

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events after the end of the
reporting period and up to the date of this report that either
request adjustment to the financial statement or are material to the
understanding of the Group’s current position.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities (including
sales of treasury shares) during FY2024 and up to the date of this
report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company does not hold any treasury
shares (31 December 2023: nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final
dividend for FY2024 (FY2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Net Proceeds from the global offering on the Listing Date
amounted to approximately HK$93.0 million after deducting the
underwriting fees and commissions and other listing expenses borne
by the Company. As at date of this report, the Net Proceeds have
been fully utilised and the Company had used the Net Proceeds in
accordance with the intended application of the Net Proceeds as set
out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus.

An analysis of the planned usage of the Net Proceeds as stated in
the Prospectus and the actual utilisation of the Net Proceeds for the
period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this report are set
out below:

EHEEIwR AN

FREREAR

R BHERA RS A RN AR AENEM £
FI<i& - L BEM 2R EMFIIRFRY
R93.0B8ABTT - RAMRE A - FISFURFE
EERHBA - ARREREAKRER KK
NG FRIAMZE | — SRS SR FEEE
R fE R FTS SIEFEE ©

ARERFTENABFIRF RN SRS - AR
B £ B B2 A RE B 5 L HARE P S SR AR
MERERBRIITOT

Utilised Net
Proceeds as at
Percentage of Allocation the date
total Net of Net of this Unutilised
Proceeds  Proceeds™ot report  Net Proceeds
L2 EATE REREAE
RIERHE Fri8 8 EBAN  KBANRE
Use of proceeds FiSRIARAE BEOLL RESEMY RENIRFH SIERE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
Ecy BEET BEET
Capturing business opportunities 1B A & K i
in the Greater Bay Area 43.8% 40.7 40.7 -
Upfront costs of two Enterprise IT FI{E{ ZITER R T =IER
solution projects R BTERR AR 30.4% 283 283 -
Strengthening the product DN5R E i 7 2 B
development capabilities 15.8% 14.7 14.7 -
General working capital —REEES 10.0% 93 93 -
Total st 100.0% 93.0 93.0 -

Note: As disclosed in the Prospectus, the estimated Net Proceeds after
the deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and estimated
expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Global
Offering, were approximately HK$104.8 million, which was revised to
approximately HK$94.1 million as disclosed in the Company’s offer
price and allotment results announcement dated 14 July 2022. The
actual Net Proceeds received by the Company were approximately
HK$93.0 million. The Company intends to adjust the difference of
approximately HK$1.1 million to the business strategies in the same
proportion as the original funds applied as shown in the Prospectus.
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RANEFMEE  Z2HEEIANMIEES
T o AR RIBIOER TS HRIBEFEL A93.0
BEEL ARFRIRBRERZAIRARTE S
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERERERE

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of eight Directors, comprising four
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three INEDs.
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the

BE

EFEeRM/\REFER AT ERNERTE
£ —RBIPTEER=RBUIFRITES - T
RESNEREESNETER -

Directors.
Relationship
amongst
Date of Directors Relationship
Date of joining appointment  Length of Existing position Main roles and and senior with substantial
Name Age  the Group asaDirector  service in the Company responsibilities management Shareholder
WA BZIR EZRER BIERRH
fe FR F5EEY 209 BBER BRELANEL  FEBERER EEENBE B
Executive Directors
HITEE
ChaoKaChon 48 21 April 2003 18 February 3 years Chairman, CEOand ~ Overall management, ~ Cohabiting with Ms.  N/A
2021 executive Director strategic development  Chiu as a spouse
and leading the
business development
of the Group
B 435 2003F4A218 2021528188 3% IR BRHTER ASENEEEE. ARBESLRE TEA
H7E% BRARREERH
BR
ChiuKoon Chi 46 11 January 2011 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall administration, ~ Cohabiting with Mr.  Cohabiting with
2021 operations and Chaoasaspouse  Mr. Chaoasa
human resources spouse
and marketing of the
Group
HES 467  2011F1ANB 2021528188 3% HES AEERMRRTH ERBERLERE EEBRARLRE
BB BERAN
BRAREH
Lei Sok Han 47 3 June 2013 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall development of ~ None None
2021 product solutions and
marketing strategies
of the Group
R 4% 2013%6A38  2021%2A18H 3% HES ARENERIR . B £
ERSRREHRR
NgHong Kei 37 1July 2014 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall business Elder brother of Mr.  None
2021 development and Ng Hong Seng,
business consultation ~ a member of the
of the Group senior management
team
REH 3MEm WFTAIE 200152818R 3% HES AEENERABRE AREEEENKE &
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENREREERRE
Relationship
amongst
Date of Directors Relationship
Date of joining appointment  Length of Existing position Main roles and and senior with substantial
Name Age  the Group asaDirector  service in the Company responsibilities management Shareholder
mA BZER EZREH BIERRH
#e FR FREEH 209 RBFER BRRALFANERE  TEREREHR EEENER B
Non-executive Director
FHUTEE
Li Haodong 43 1 April 2021 1 April 2021 3 years Non-executive Director  Providing strategicand ~ None None
development advice
to the Board
R 485 201F4RNR 2021F4A18 3% FHNTES MESSREREE B &
BRER
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTEE
Man Wing Pong 54 20June 2022 20June2022  3years INED Supervising and None None
providing independent
advice to the Board
3K S4F 202266A208 202%6A208 3% BUFMITES EERmEZERE B &
Bugs
U Seng Pan 54 20June 2022 20June2022  3years INED Supervising and None None
providing independent
advice to the Board
AR S 2020%56A208 200256A208 3F BUFHTES EERmEZERE B &
Bugs
Suen ChiWai 60 20June2022  20June 2022 3years INED Supervising and None None
providing independent
advice to the Board
Bk 607 2022%6A208 2020568208 3% BUFMITES EERmEZERE B &
Bugs
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Executive Directors

Mr. Chao Ka Chon (BAX1&), aged 48, is the founder of the Group,
Chairman, CEO and executive Director who is primarily responsible
for the overall management, strategic development and leading the
business development of the Group. Mr. Chao was appointed as a
Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated as Chairman,
CEO and an executive Director on 20 April 2021. Mr. Chao is a sole
director of Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited, which is a substantial
Shareholder. Mr. Chao is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Chao is cohabiting with Ms. Chiu as a spouse.

Mr. Chao has over 20 years of experience in the IT industry. Mr.
Chao was elected as a member of FE ARBCAR A EZHETE
BEMTEEEZEE (the 14th Guangzhou District Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference*) on 22 January
2022 and has been a member and a standing committee member
of FEIARBUAHEmEHEMNTHAEZ 8€ (Guangzhou Baiyun
District Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference*) since October 2021. Mr. Chao also has been a
member of the &% R ZE B (Economic Development Council*)
since August 2021 and has been the vice chairman of E7&8B X & [&
5 B 495 B2 (the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
Internet Alliance*) since December 2020. Mr. Chao has been the
executive vice chairman of the board of supervisors of the Macau
International Industrial Technology Development Association since
October 2018. Mr. Chao has also been the vice chairman of the
board of supervisors of the Guangdong and Macao Federation of
Industry and Commerce since July 2018.

Since launching the scholarship and internship awards programme
in collaboration with the Institute of Data Science of the City
University of Macau in May 2019, a programme that aims to support
and cultivate talents in Macau, Mr. Chao has been the chairman
of such scholarship committee and has been leading the overall
co-ordination and candidates’ selection process of the programme.

Mr. Chao obtained a degree of bachelor of science and a
postgraduate diploma in science from The University of Auckland
in New Zealand in October 2000 and June 2002, respectively.
Mr. Chao was awarded “Excellence Award in Entrepreneur” by
the Business Awards of Macau in November 2019. Mr. Chao was
admitted as the member of Science and Technology Committee of
Macau in 2023.

* for identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chiu Koon Chi (#57E32), aged 46, is an executive Director who
is primarily responsible for the overall administration, operations,
human resources and marketing of the Group. Ms. Chiu was
appointed as a Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated
as an executive Director on 20 April 2021. Ms. Chiu first joined the
Group as a director of BoardWare Macau in January 2011. Ms. Chiu
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Chiu is
cohabiting with Mr. Chao as a spouse.

Ms. Chiu has over 18 years of experience in administration,
operations, human resources and marketing. Ms. Chiu obtained
a degree of bachelor of social sciences from Lingnan University,
Hong Kong in December 2001. In July 2006, Ms. Chiu obtained
a diploma in marketing from The University of Hong Kong School
of Professional and Continuing Education in association with the
Chartered Institute of Marketing.

Ms. Lei Sok Han (Z=3Uf), aged 47, is an executive Director who
is primarily responsible for the overall development of product
solutions and marketing strategies of the Group. Ms. Lei was
appointed as a Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated
as an executive Director on 20 April 2021. Ms. Lei first joined the
Group as a manager of the product and marketing department
of BoardWare Macau on 3 June 2013 and has been a director of
the aforementioned department of BoardWare Macau since April
2016. Ms. Lei is also currently a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Ms. Lei has over 22 years of experience in the IT industry. Ms.
Lei obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration
in marketing from the University of Macau in January 2001.
In June 2007, Ms. Lei obtained a degree of master of business
administration from Capstone University, the United States through
distance learning.
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Mr. Ng Hong Kei (8#), aged 37, is an executive Director who
is primarily responsible for the overall business development and
business consultation of the Group. Mr. Ng was appointed as a
Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated as an executive
Director on 20 April 2021. Mr. Ng first joined the Group as a
manager of the presales and consultant department of BoardWare
Macau in July 2014 and was promoted to be a director of the
business consultation department of BoardWare Macau in October
2018.

Mr. Ng has over 15 years of experience in the IT industry. Mr. Ng
obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration in business
information system from the University of Macau in March 2009.
Mr. Ng was recognised as a Cisco certified design associate from
May 2009 to October 2017, a Cisco advanced wireless design
specialist from June 2009 to June 2011 and a Cisco security
solutions and design specialist from August 2010 to August 2012
and from October 2014 to October 2016, by Cisco Systems, Inc.

Mr. Ng has been serving as a member of B S @4t [ERGHEAEZE
& (the Islands District Community Service Advisory Committee*) of
Macau since January 2019. He is currently appointed as the Deputy
Coordinator of the committee for a term up to 29 January 2025.
Mr. Ng was awarded as Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area (GBA) Outstanding Young Entrepreneur in 2023.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Li Haodong (Z%5R), aged 48, was appointed as a Director on
1 April 2021 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 20
April 2021. Mr. Li is primarily responsible for providing strategic and
development advice to the Board.

Mr. Li has over 15 years of experience in business management.
Mr. Li has been a director and the general manager of Da Heng
Qin (Macau) Limitada, which principally engages in the provision
of industrial development, project investment and management
services, since December 2019. Mr. Li has been a general manager
assistant of /8 X1& = &£ EFR 2 7] (Zhuhai Da Henggin Group
Limited*), which principally engages in the provision of infrastructure
project investment, construction and industrial development,
property management and consultancy services, since March 2019.

Mr. Li obtained a degree of bachelor of science in industrial
automation from Guangdong University of Technology, the PRC in
July 1998. Mr. Li also obtained a master of business administration
degree from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications, the
PRC in December 2008.

* for identification purpose only
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INEDs

Mr. Man Wing Pong (32k #8), aged 54, was appointed as an INED
on 20 June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Man has over 20 years of experience in investment banking,
asset management and corporate management. Mr. Man is the
Chief Risk Officer of Silverstone Investments Limited and is licensed
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance as a responsible officer
to carry out Type 4 (Advising on Securities), Type 6 (Advising on
Corporate Finance) and Type 9 (Asset Management) regulated
activities. From April 2020 to June 2021, Mr. Man worked at
League Capital Limited as Managing Director. From January 2019
to February 2020, he worked at Mason Global Capital Limited as
Director, Investment Banking. From September 2014 to April 2018,
he worked at ABCI Capital Limited with his last position as Senior
Vice President, Investment Banking Department. From June 2011 to
September 2014, he worked at RHB OSK Capital Hong Kong Limited
with his last position as Director, Corporate Finance. From October
2007 to June 2011, he worked at China Merchants Securities
(HK) Co., Limited with his last position as Manager, Investment
Banking Department. From December 2004 to September 2007, he
worked at Deloitte with his last position as Manager, Mergers and
Acquisitions Advisory Services.

Mr. Man serves as an independent non-executive director of
Changan Minsheng APLL Logistics Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
01292), serves as a member of China Committee of the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute, serves as the Honorary Treasurer
and a director of the board of The Federation of Alumni Associations
of The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and serves as the Vice-
President and a director of the board of The Alumni Association of
Shaw College of The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Man is a fellow of CPA Australia, a fellow of Institute of Public
Accountants, a fellow of Institute of Financial Accountants, a fellow
of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a fellow of Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute and a HKCGI Sustainability
Professional registered under HKCGI Sustainability Governance
Academy.

Mr. Man obtained a bachelor’s degree of social science from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1993, obtained a master’s
degree of financial management from Rotterdam School of
Management, Erasmus University in 2004, and obtained a
postgraduate diploma in professional accountancy from Graduate
School, The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2018.
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Dr. U Seng Pan ((REX3E), aged 54, was appointed as an INED on 20
June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent advice to the Board.

Dr. U has nearly 30 years of experience in the IT industry. Dr.
U is currently a management member of Silergy Corp., a high-
tech company which has the industry-leading process technology
to design innovative mixed-signal and analog IC for automotive,
industrial, consumer, computing and telecom equipment, since
March 2023. Dr. U was the co-founder and currently Council
President of Macao Institute of Industrial Technology (MIIT), a non-
profit organisation and business incubator aiming at technological
innovation and entrepreneurship by facilitating applied research,
uniting and attracting international and cross-border high-end
talents and teams for technological transformation since September
2022. Dr. U served as co-chief executive officer and a managing
director of Macau of Akrostar Technology Co., Ltd, a high-tech
company which principally engages in the provision of chip design
and system applications with advanced semiconductor intellectual
property development and services, from March 2021 to August
2022.

Dr. U has been currently a member of the 4% % % & £ B @
(Economic Development Council*) since August 2021 and a
member of the Macao Committee for Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Great Bay Area Development of the Boao Forum for Asia
(BFA) with his appointment valid until November 2025. Dr. U has
been a committee member of JRPFIFRITTHREBFEHEZ B € (The
Technology Committee of the Government of Macau*) and JEF4F
RIFTHER BT A A 3B Z 8 (The Talent Development Committee
of the Government of Macau*), since August 2016 and March
2020, respectively. Dr. U has been the vice chairman of the China
Semiconductor Industry Association IC Design Branch of the PRC
since November 2019.

In recognition of his pioneering contribution both in academic
research & industrial development, he was awarded by The
2021 Best Sci-Tech Innovation Award for Outstanding Young
Entrepreneur in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area, Macau SAR government the 2010 Honorary Title of Value
and the 2021 Merit Medal of Industry and Commerce, and 2019
National Commemorative Medal of celebration of 70th anniversary
of the founding of the PRC.

* for identification purpose only
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Dr. U obtained a bachelor of science in electronics engineering
from Jinan University in Guangzhou, the PRC in June 1991. Dr. U
obtained a master of electrical and electronic engineering from the
University of Macau in July 1997. Dr. U obtained a doctorate degree
in electrical and electronic engineering from the University of Macau
in July 2002. Dr. U obtained a doctorate degree in electrical and
computer engineering from the Instituto Superior Técnico of the
University of Lisbon, Portugal in April 2004. Dr. U has been a fellow
of The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers since January
2016.

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (& & {2), aged 60, was appointed as an INED
on 20 June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Suen has nearly 25 years of experience in corporate finance
and with area of practice principally in initial public offerings on the
Stock Exchange, mergers and acquisitions, corporate reorganisations
and Listing Rules compliance matters. Mr. Suen was a partner of
Withers from February 2018 until his retirement in March 2023. Mr.
Suen is currently a consultant in Withers.

Mr. Suen has been serving as an INED of (i) Venus Medtech
(Hangzhou) Inc., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2500) since July 2019; and (ii) Da Yu Financial
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1073) since July 2019. Mr. Suen was an
INED of Xin Yuan Enterprises Group Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1748) from
September 2018 to December 2024.

Mr. Suen obtained a degree of bachelor of science from University
of East Anglia, the United Kingdom in July 1987 and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong in June 1998.
Mr. Suen has been admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong since
October 2000 and in England and Wales since December 2003.
Mr. Suen has also been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1993.
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Save as disclosed above, each of the Directors:

(i)  did not hold other positions in the Company or other members
of the Group as at the date of this annual report;

(i) did not hold other major appointments and professional
qualifications as at the date of this annual report;

(i) had no other relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial Shareholders as at the date of this
annual report;

(iv) did not have any other directorships in public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities markets in Hong
Kong or overseas in the three years prior to the date of this
annual report; and

(v) confirmed, to the best of his or her knowledge, information
and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, there were
no other matters that need to be brought to the attention of
the Shareholders, and save as disclosed in the section headed
“Changes of Directors’ Information” of the “Directors’ Report”
in this report, there was no information relating to him or her
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules as at the date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, save as the interests of Mr.
Chao in the Shares which are disclosed in the section headed
“Disclosure of Interests and Other Information” in directors’ report
in this annual report, each of the Directors does not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Other than the Directors, the senior management team consists
of seven members, who, together with executive Directors, are
responsible for the day-to-day management and operation of the

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSHREEE

BREERE

Group. The table below sets out information in respect of the senior
management personnel.

BRESI

SREREERHCRKEAR K
EEPTEFARAEAEEANAEERRE
B TREYEESNEEERENER

Date of
appointment Relationship with
as a member Directors, Controlling
Date of joining  of senior Existing position in Shareholders and
Name Age  the Group management the Group Roles and responsibilities substantial Shareholders
BzEAR4 HES  ZRRRR
#E FR MAZKEEH EEERERN RRERENBL BHBREL TERRHBEE
Leong Wai Meng 39 23 June 2014 1 August 2019 Director of the sales department ~ Overall supervision and None
of BoardWare Macau management of the sales
matters of the Group
RE6 395 2014468238 201958A1H  BRRMEENEE ERREEAREMERHE &
E
Chan Kuong Kit 38 2 January 2020 2 January 2020 Director of the application Overall management and None
development department of development of the software
BoardWare Macau application business of the
Group
Bt 8% 2020F1A28 20061728 BRERMEREFRISEE TEEINEREARENE B
BERREE
Hoi Ut Sim 42 1 November 2017 1 June 2019 Director of BWZ department Overall business development ~ None
and IR&D department of and the supervision of
BoardWare Macau Managed Services matters
and Innovation and R&D
matters of the Group
SFAE QF  7TFENAIE 201956418 BRRMAFEHEESR W TRENEEXBURREE B

BIR A as
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENRSREERE
Date of
appointment Relationship with
as a member Directors, Controlling
Date of joining  of senior Existing position in Shareholders and
Name Age  the Group management  the Group Roles and responsibilities substantial Shareholders
BzEAE4 HEZ  ZRRRR
#E £k MATKERY ERERERE BRAKENEQ BEREL TERRNBEE
Ho lo Keong 55 23 September 23 September Director of professional service  Overall daily operations of the ~ None
2013 2013 department of BoardWare service team and overseeing
Macau the delivery of service
functions of the Group
(s S5 2013F9A23E  2013F9A23F  BRERFEXRKTEE AREMEERGERNAE &
Efe YEERERNE
i3
Ng Hong Seng 35 2 January 2014 1 June 2019 General manager of BoardWare  Overall management of the Younger brother of
Hong Kong daily operations and talent Mr. Ng, an executive
development programmes of ~ Director
the Group
REH 5 01451828 201956818 BRERELSR ERERAREMAR WTESRALNNS
LERATER:E
Chan Hon Fan 48 2 May 2000 April 2018 General manager of Synergy ~ Overall management of the None
ccL daily operations and talent
development programmes of
the Group
REE 485 200095828 2018547 EHr e BREEARENER &
LERATER:E
Ng Weng Hou 30 21 November January 2025 Financial Controller Overall management and None
2023 operation of accounting and
financial reporting of the
Group
RNE 30 2023F11A21H 2005617 Bip e BREENEEARENEY &
REBEEEE
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leong Wai Meng ( 2 {& B3 ), aged 39, joined the Group as
a manager of the sales department of BoardWare Macau on
23 June 2014 and was promoted as an assistant director of the
aforementioned department on 1 August 2019. He has been a
director of the aforementioned department since 1 January 2022.
Mr. Leong is primarily responsible for the overall supervision and
management of the sales matters of the Group.

Mr. Leong has over 13 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Leong worked at NetCraft Information
Technology (Macau) Co., Ltd., a solution provider in Macau, from
July 2009 to June 2014 where his last position was a sales manager
of the sales department.

Mr. Leong obtained a degree of bachelor of engineering from
Northeastern University, the PRC in July 2009.

Mr. Chan Kuong Kit (B 3 £%), aged 38, joined the Group as an
assistant director of the application development department of
BoardWare Macau on 2 January 2020 and promoted as a director of
the aforementioned department since 1 January 2024. Mr. Chan is
primarily responsible for the overall management and development
of the software application business of the Group.

Mr. Chan has over 9 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked at EasyTone Network
Technology Limited, an online payment platform company focusing
on system development and research, from November 2013 to
December 2019 with his last position as a general manager.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration
(business information system) from the University of Macau in July
2008.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSHREER

Ms. Hoi Ut Sim (5F B i), aged 42, joined the Group as a business
engagement manager of the presales team of the business
consultation department of BoardWare Macau in November
2017. She is currently the director of BWZ department and IR&D
department of BoardWare Macau. Ms. Hoi is primarily responsible
for the overall business development and the supervision of
Managed Services matters and Innovation and R&D matters of the
Group.

Ms. Hoi has over 23 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Hoi worked at Microsoft Hong Kong Limited,
a subsidiary of Microsoft Corporation which is a company listed on
Nasdaq (stock code: MSFT), from December 2014 to April 2017 as
a services account executive. From September 2012 to December
2014, she worked as a services sales supervisor for Microsoft Macau
Limited, a subsidiary of Microsoft Corporation. From September
2007 to September 2012, Ms. Hoi worked as an assistant product
marketing manager at Mega Tecnologia Informatica Lda., a Macau
IT services provider. From May 1999 to August 2007, Ms. Hoi
worked at Detection Security Systems (Macau) Co., Ltd. with her last
position as a senior clerk.

Ms. Hoi obtained a degree of bachelor of management from Macao
Polytechnic Institute in August 2008. She also obtained a degree
of Master of Business Administration from Vanguard Institute of
Technology in year 2024.

Mr. Ho lo Keong (fiT#58), aged 55, joined the Group as a director
of the professional service department of BoardWare Macau on 23
September 2013. Mr. Ho is primarily responsible for the overall daily
operations of the service team and overseeing the delivery of service
functions of the Group.

Mr. Ho has over 28 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Ho worked at CSA Automated (Macau)
Limited, a subsidiary of Automated Systems Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 771) which principally engages in the provision of IT services,
from July 1994 to July 2013 with his last position as a technical
services manager.

Mr. Ho obtained a degree of master of business administration
with a major in international business from the European University,
Montreux Campus, Switzerland in March 2016 which was a long
distance learning course.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

Rt 428% 0 FR2017F 11 ALATE 4R
XGBANENEFNEBEE SCESHDNA
REE - KB ABERPIBINEBERE KA
FTEARFEE AL c AL E BB EAEEREE
¥R EREEEAERGEEA LB EAMEE
18 o

HFEERNTITERBE23FEH - RIMANRER
ZH PR ER2014F 12 AE2017F4 R EMN
BESERAREEREFRISITBERE - Z2
RAIRE AR (A—FRERMETER AR
BEORER - MSFT)RIMIBAR] - B2012F9/3 =
201412 B - BRNREURPIE R A R EE R
HEXTE B ZARDMEARNMBAGE -
B2007F9 8 E201249A » #FFxtHBFITAR
51 FE B Mega Tecnologia Informatica Lda. & 1{F
BYIEEE i 2 SHAC TR o 8199945 H £200748
B HZIRRELTEERGERARMHEE - Hi&
BETREARS ASABE -

FFZEF2008F8 A SRR TSR ER S+
B o IR 2024 F SR ERETERT
BN ==l VA

{IHBsR 4 » 555% ° 201399 A23 B MAtH 4R
PIEERGILBRES D INARER - [AJEEEE
BEAEENZEREBEBNEEEE  WEE
BRASERAE AYIRIE ©

AL ERNTITER B E28F K5 - NIMANER
2R AR ERR 19947 AE2013F7 A EEH)
ZHECRF)ARARMMRE - ZRAITIEBRAS
EERAR(A—ERBRXAER ETHAG -
D REE - 771 MMBAR - TEHEREITHR
RER - EREMMEERE ARSI o

fa] 52 A2 1R 2016 5F 3 H % 15 BN K 22 (European
University) i TR EF &R R TS BIE 24 -
FERBREK(BREZEERE)

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ng Hong Seng ( ® 3§ 2% ), aged 35, joined the Group as a
solution architect of the professional service department of
BoardWare Macau on 2 January 2014 and was promoted to be a
technical manager on 1 January 2017. Mr. Ng was promoted to
be an assistant director of the professional service department of
BoardWare Macau on 1 June 2019. Mr. Ng has been a general
manager of BoardWare HK since July 2023 where Mr. Ng is primarily
responsible for the overall management of the daily operations and
talent development programmes of the Group.

Mr. Ng has over 10 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Ng worked at CSA Automated (Macau)
Limited, a subsidiary of Automated Systems Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 771), which principally engages in the provision of IT services,
from December 2011 to February 2013 with his last position as a
network engineer in the engineering department.

Mr. Ng obtained a degree of bachelor of management from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University, the PRC in July 2011. Mr. Ng was
awarded as a certified information systems security professional
by the International Information System Security Certification
Consortium in September 2020 and was recognised as having
completed the relevant certification test requirements in relation to
routing and switching by Cisco Systems, Inc. in July 2013.

Mr. Chan Hon Fan (FR#8}), aged 48, joined the Group as a field
service engineer of Synergy CCL on 2 May 2000. Mr. Chan has
been the general manager of Synergy CCL since April 2018 and
is primarily responsible for the overall management of the daily
operations and talent development programmes of the Group.

Mr. Chan has over 23 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked at Chat Horn Engineering Ltd. as
an assistant radio frequency maintenance technician from June 1999
to May 2000.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of bachelor of science from Oxford
Brookes University, the United Kingdom in June 2007 through
distance learning. He also obtained a degree of master of science in
electronic and information engineering and a degree of master of
business administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in October 2011 and September 2016, respectively.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Ng Weng Hou (R 3kE), aged 30, joined the Group as a finance
manager of the Group on 20 November 2023. Mr. Ng has been a
financial controller of the Group since January 2025 where Mr. Ng
is primarily responsible for the overall management and operation of
accounting and financial reporting of the Group.

Mr. Ng has over 7 years of experience in professional auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Ng worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers from October 2018 to
November 2023 with his last position as a manager in the audit and
assurance department.

Mr. Ng obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Accounting

from University of Macau in June 2018. Mr. Ng was admitted as a
certified public accountant of CPA Australia in August 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREAHRE

The Board is pleased to present the CG report contained in the
annual report for FY2024.

CG PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements
of good CG in the management structures and internal control
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.
The Company has adopted the Code Provisions.

Except for the deviation from provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
Company’s CG practices have complied with the CG Code during
FY2024 and up to the date of this annual report. The reason for
the deviation is explained in the paragraph headed “Chairman and
Chief Executive” in this CG report.

The Directors will review the CG policies and compliance with
the CG Code each financial year and comply with the “comply or
explain” principle in the CG report, which will be included in this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors regarding any
non-compliance with the Model Code. All the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code in FY2024.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AND DELEGATION BY
THE BOARD

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
is in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but are not limited to formulating
the Group’s business and investment plans and strategies, deciding
all significant financial (including major capital expenditure) and
operational issues, developing, monitoring and reviewing the
Group's CG practices and all other functions reserved to the Board
under the Articles of Association.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXREAHRSE

The Company has delegated certain responsibilities to various
committees as set out in their respective terms of reference.
The responsibilities of these committees include monitoring the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensuring that
appropriate internal control and risk management systems are in
place. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions to
the management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management is mainly responsible for the execution of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
other duties assigned to it from time to time.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management on the Company’s behalf.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
the management has an obligation to supply the Directors with
adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Group’s expense.

CG FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that CG should be the collective responsibility
of Directors and has delegated the CG duties to the Audit
Committee which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on CG
and make recommendations to the Board,;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Group; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code from time

to time adopted by the Group and the disclosure in the CG
report to be contained in the Company’s annual report.
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The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to CG
functions are set out in the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee. Upon the Listing, the Audit Committee appointed the
consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The review
covered the Company’s terms of reference of Board Committees,
CG policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management and
disclosures in the CG report. The consultant has provided certain
recommendations on improving the Company’s CG practices,
which the Company has adopted accordingly to ensure sound CG
practices.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board
should include a balanced composition of executive Directors, non-
executive Director and INEDs so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

At the date of this annual report, the Board currently consists of
eight Directors, comprising four executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three INEDs as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chao (Chairman and CEQO)
Ms. Chiu

Ms. Lei

Mr. Ng

Non-executive Director
Mr. Li

INEDs

Mr. Man
Dr. U
Mr. Suen

Except that Ms. Chiu is cohabiting with Mr. Chao as a spouse, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) among the Board.

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

For term of appointment of each of the non-executive Director,
please refer to the section headed “Directors’ Service Contracts” in
this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXREAHRSE

The non-executive Director and INEDs have brought in a wide
range of business and financial expertise, valuable experience
and independent judgement to the Board for promoting the
best interests of the Company and Shareholders. Through active
participation in the Board meetings and serving on various Board
Committees, all INEDs will continue to make various contributions to
the Company.

Throughout the year, the Company had three INEDs, meeting the
requirements of the Listing Rules that the Board must include at
least three INEDs and the number of INEDs must represent at least
one-third of the Board members, and that at least one of the INEDs
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of the Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed annually.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board has established mechanism to ensure independent view
and input are available to the Board when it discharges its duties.

Such mechanism includes:

1. annual evaluation of training sessions undertaken by each of
the Director during the financial year;

2. obtaining advice from external advisers when and where
required,;

3. a Director (including an INED) who has a material interest in
a contract, arrangement or other proposal shall abstain from
voting or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same; and

4.  the Chairman meets with the INEDs annually without the
presence of executive Directors and the non-executive Director.
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DIRECTORS" CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary
induction programme, training and information to ensure that
he/she has proper understanding of his/her responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other applicable laws, rules and regulations prior
to his/her appointment. The Directors are encouraged to participate
in continuous professional development courses and seminars to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company will
continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular seminars
to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements regularly.

All Directors have participated in training provided by the Company
during FY2024, all Directors have been updated with the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements through reading materials to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

The individual training record of each Director received during
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FY2024 is summarised below: I
Attended
Attended trainings
trainings organised
organised by
by the professional Reading
Company organisations materials
2 MAELTE SIMBEEA
Directors 2= BEMAIZTI BRI BOEM R
Executive Directors PITEE
Mr. Chao (Chairman) A%E(ERE) v v 4
Ms. Chiu 2zt v v v
Mr. Ng REHE v v v
Ms. Lei =g v v v
Non-executive Director HFHITESE
Mr. Li TR v v v
INEDs BUHHITEE
Mr. Man XA v v v
Dr. U G v v v
Mr. Suen REHE v v v
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Chao is Chairman and CEO.
In view of the fact that Mr. Chao has been responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Group since 2010 and the steady
development of the Group, the Board believes that with the support
of Mr. Chao’s extensive experience and knowledge in the business
of the Group, vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive
officer in Mr. Chao strengthens the consistent and solid leadership
of the Group, and thereby allows for efficient business planning and
decision which is in the best interest of the Group as a whole.

The Board considers that the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstances. Notwithstanding
the above, the Board is also of the view that the current
management structure is effective for the Group’s operations, and
sufficient checks and balances are in place. The Board will continue
to review the effectiveness of the CG structure of the Company in
order to assess whether separation of the roles of Chairman and
CEO is necessary.

The Board and the senior management of the Company, which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals can ensure the
balance of power and authority. As at 31 December 2024, the Board
comprised four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three INEDs.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.
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Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit
himself/herself for election by Shareholders at the first general
meeting of the Company after appointment and any new Director
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by the Shareholders at the next following annual
general meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-election and succession planning of Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the CEO.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings
regularly. Both the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee shall meet at least once every year and the Audit
Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Notices of not less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers
are despatched to the Directors or committee members at least
seven days before the intended date of the meeting to ensure that
they have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meeting. When Directors or committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters
to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman or the committee members prior to the meeting.

Minutes of meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies
circulated to relevant Board or Board Committee for comments and
records. Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by the Board or committee members and dissenting views
expressed. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the relevant Board or committee members for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by Directors.
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For FY2024, six board meetings were held and the attendance of the
individual Director at these meetings is set out in the table below:

R2024FMF - BT TRNREZESE © @5
EENZFERNHFBEREINNTE

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

BHE/REREREES
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting 2024 AGM
20244
EZg8eE EZE89E REZE89E FHZEe8E RREFAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chao AL 6/6 N/ATER 2 1/1 "N
Ms. Chiu L 6/6 NATEF N/ATE N/ATE A 1/1
Ms. Lei Tt 6/6 N/ATER N/ATSE F N/ATE A 1/1
Mr. Ng REE 6/6 N/ATER N/AT S F N/ATE A 1/1
Non-executive Director HHATEE
Mr. Li L 6/6 N/ATER N/AT S F N/ATE 111
INEDs BUHHTEE
Mr. Man XEE 6/6 33 22 N/ATE 111
Dr. U KEL 6/6 33 NATER 1/1 111
Mr. Suen BEE 6/6 33 212 1/1 1/
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING BRREFKSE

An annual general meeting is an important forum in which
the management of the Company can communicate with the
Shareholders. The upcoming 2025 AGM will be held on 20 June
2025.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Group delegates certain responsibilities to various committees.
In accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules, the Group has established Board Committees, each Board
Committee has its own terms of reference relating to its authority
and duties, which have been approved by the Board and are
reviewed periodically. The terms of reference of each committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each Board Committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Group’s expense.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 20 June
2022 in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr. Man, Dr. U
and Mr. Suen, Mr. Man has been appointed as the chairman of the
Audit Committee and he possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
major duties of the Audit Committee are the followings:

Maintain relationship with the Company’s
independent auditor

(a

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the independent auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the independent auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the independent auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
shall discuss with the independent auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
commences, and to ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved. Procedures to review and monitor the
independence of independent auditor may include:

considering all relationships between the Group and the
independent auditor (including non-audit services);

i. obtaining from the independent auditor annually,
information about policies and processes for maintaining
independence and monitoring compliance with relevant
requirements, including those for rotation of audit
partners and staff; and

ii. meeting with the independent auditor, at least once
annually, in the absence of the management, to discuss
matters relating to audit fees, any issues arising from the
audit and any other matters the independent auditor may
wish to raise.
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to develop and implement policy on engaging the independent
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, an
independent auditor includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee shall report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or improvement
is needed:;

to ensure that the independent auditor’s provision of non-
audit services does not impair its independence or objectivity.
When assessing the independent auditor’s independence or
objectivity in relation to the provision of non-audit services, the
Audit Committee may wish to consider:

whether the skills and experience of the independent
auditor make it a suitable supplier of non-audit services;

i. whether there are safeguards in place to ensure that
there is no threat to the objectivity and independence of
the audit work as in itself of the provision of non-audit
services by the independent auditor;

iii. the nature of the non-audit services, the related fee levels
and fee levels individually and in total relative to the
external independent auditor; and

iv.  criteria for compensation of the individuals performing the
audit work; and

to review with independent auditor and the staff of the
Group'’s finance department, the Group’s management, the
adequacy of the Group’s policies and procedures regarding
internal controls (including financial, operational and
compliance controls) and any statement by the Directors to be
included in the annual accounts prior to endorsement by the
Board.
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Review the Company’s financial information

(a

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them. In reviewing
these reports before submission to the Board, the Audit
Committee shall focus particularly on:

Vi

any changes in accounting policies and practices;
major judgmental areas;

significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;
compliance with accounting standards; and

compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements
in relation to financial reporting.

regarding above:

members shall liaise with the Board and senior
management of the Company and the Audit Committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the independent
auditors;

the Audit Committee shall consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in
the reports and accounts, and shall give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for accounting and financial reporting
function, the compliance officer or the auditors; and

discussing problems and reservations with the
independent auditors arising from final audit, and any
matters the independent auditors may wish to discuss (in
the absence of management where necessary).
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Oversee the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures

(a)

(b)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have an effective system. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and management'’s response to those findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and independent auditors and to review
and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the independent auditor’'s “management
representation letter”, any material queries raised by the
independent auditor to management about accounting records,
financial accounts or system of control and management’s
response;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the independent auditor;

to review the whistle-blowing arrangements of which
employees of the Group and other persons who have
connections with the Company, such as customers and
suppliers, may use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters relating to the Company. The Audit Committee
shall ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate
follow-up action;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to
the issues raised in the independent auditor’s “management
representation letter”, if any;

to report to the Board on the matters set out in the CG Code
and CG Report (Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules);

to do any such things to enable the Audit Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the
Board;
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() to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that
may from time to time be contained in the Memorandum
of Association and Articles of Association or imposed by the
Listing Rules or applicable law;

(m) to consider agreeing with the Board in relation to the
Company'’s policies on hiring employees or former employees
of the independent auditor and monitoring the application
of these policies. The Audit Committee should then be in a
position to consider whether there has been or appears to
be any impairment of the independent auditor’s judgment or
independence for the audit;

(n) to review ongoing connected transactions of the Company and
ensure compliance with the terms of approval by Shareholders;
and

(0) to consider such other matters as the Board may from time to
time determine.

During FY2024, the Audit Committee held three meetings to
consider, review and make recommendations to the Board for (i)
the draft audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2023; (ii) the draft unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024; (iii)
the re-appointment of independent auditor; (iv) adequacy of staff
experience, qualifications, resources of the company’s accounting
and financial reporting departments, training programs and budget;
and (v) the audit scope and audit plan prepared by the independent
auditor relating to the audit for FY2024. The Audit Committee also
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 20
June 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee consists of one executive
Director, namely Mr. Chao and two INEDs, namely Mr. Man and
Mr. Suen. Mr. Suen has been appointed as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. The major duties of the Nomination
Committee are the followings:

(@) toreview the structure, size and composition (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service) of the Board at least annually, to evaluate
whether Directors have committed adequate time to discharge
their responsibilities, and to make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company'’s
corporate strategy;
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(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and senior management of the Company, and
to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships or senior
management for approval. In identifying suitable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall consider candidates on merit
and against the objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board,;

(c) to assess the independence of INEDs, review the INEDs' annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its
review results in the CG report;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the CEO, taking into
account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future,
together with the Board, as appropriate;

(e) to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and review
measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy and progress on achieving the objectives, and to make
disclosure of its review results in the CG report annually;

(f)  to do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee to
perform its duties and functions conferred on it by the Board,;
and

(9) to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation
that may from time to time be contained in the Articles of
Association of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law.

During FY2024, the Nomination Committee held two meetings
to (i) discuss, review and make recommendations to the Board for
the policy, procedure and criteria for nomination of the Directors;
(ii) review and discuss the Board Diversity Policy and discuss all
measurable objectives set for implementing the policy and the
progress made towards meeting the measurable objective in the
policy; (iii) assess the independence of INEDs; (iv) consider the
re-election of the retiring Directors at the 2024 AGM; (v) review the
contributions and responsibilities of executive directors; (vi) review
the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee; (vii) make
recommendation to the Board for the nomination of Company
Secretary and authorised representative of the Company; and (viii)
fulfill duties as required aforesaid.
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NOMINATION POLICY
Objective

The Nomination Committee shall identify candidates who are
qualified/suitable to become a member of the Board and to make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates
nominated for directorships with a view to ensuring that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee is authorised by the Board to determine
the nomination of Directors, the procedure, process and criteria
to be adopted for the purposes of selecting and recommending
candidates for directorship, and shall make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Director and
succession planning for the Directors, in particular, the Chairman
and the CEO.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination
Committee may make reference to certain criteria such as
Company'’s need, reputation for integrity, motivation, experience in
principal business of the Company, balance of skills, knowledge and
experience on the Board, the amount of time and effort that the
candidate will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities
and, in case of INEDs, the independence requirements set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and take into account various aspects
set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the Company, number of
directorship(s) in other listed/public companies, and in case of INED,
number of years he/she has already served in the Company.

Selection criteria

(@) Proposed candidate will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information, together with his/her written consent to
be appointed as a Director and to the public disclosure of his/
her personal data on any documents or the relevant websites
for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as
a Director;

(b) Non-executive Director and INEDs will receive a formal letter
of appointment on his/her appointment to the Board, setting
out clearly the expectations of him/her in terms of time
commitment, committee service and involvement outside Board
meetings; and

() Any appointment of proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be
made in accordance with the Company'’s Articles of Association
and other applicable rules and regulations.
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Nomination procedures

(@

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall invite
nominations of candidates from Board members, if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not
nominated by Board members;

Non-executive Director should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election;

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until
the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment, and shall then be eligible for re-election. The
Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting. Every Director, including those appointed for
a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years;

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the
circular to the Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

ii. if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or
more) listed company directorship, the reasons that the
Board believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board;

ii. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

iv. how the individual contributes to diversity (including
gender diversity) of the Board; and

If an INED serves more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
Shareholders. The papers to the Shareholders accompanying
that resolution should include the reasons why the Board (or
the Nomination Committee) believes he/she is still independent
and should be re-elected, including the factors considered, the
process and the discussion of the Board (or the Nomination
Committee) in arriving such determination.
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(f)  Each newly appointed Director should receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Subsequently,
he/she should receive any briefing and professional
development and obtain legal advice necessary to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing
Rules as amended from time to time, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee shall keep under review the leadership
needs of the Company, for both executive and non-executive
Directors, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the
Company to compete effectively in the marketplace. The Nomination
Committee will report annually in its CG report on how this policy
is being applied in recommending candidates for directorship and
retiring Directors for re-election during the year.

Review of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall keep up to date and be fully
informed about strategic issues and commercial changes affecting
the Company and the market in which it operates. The Nomination
Committee will review this policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this policy in line with the Company’s strategy.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Board Diversity Policy has been adopted, which sets out the objective
and approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives of the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy
provides that the Company should endeavour to ensure that the
Board members have the appropriate skills, expertise and diversity
of perspectives that are required to support the execution of the
Group's business strategy. Board Diversity Policy (including gender
balance) is reviewed from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness and the Company will disclose the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy in the CG report on an annual basis.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of candidates for
Directors will be based on a range of perspectives, including but not
limited to skills, professional experience, educational background,
knowledge, expertise, culture, age and gender. The ultimate decision
of the appointment will be based on merit and the contribution
which the selected candidates will bring to the Board and the
business needs of the Company from time to time.
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The Board believes that such merit-based appointments will
best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward. The Board comprises of eight members,
including four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three INEDs. Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
management and strategic development, corporate finance,
investment banking, legal and professional accounting in addition
to experiences in the IT industry. Furthermore, the Board has a wide
range of age, ranging from 37 to 60 years old, and comprises of
two female Directors and six male Directors. The Group also has
a good mix of new and experienced Directors, who have valuable
knowledge and insights of the Group’s business over the years,
while the new Directors are expected to bring in fresh ideas and
new perspective to the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Group had eight Directors

in the Board. Set out below is the detailed breakdown of the
composition of Directors by designations, gender and age.

DESIGNATIONS GENDER
B f (:F:]

<

Bl Female %1k
Male B4

Bl Executive Director $17TE =
B Non-executive Director JE¥1TE S
INED B FEE/TE S

As at 31 December 2024, the ratio of female to male in the
workforce (excluding non-executive Director and INEDs) was 28:72
whereas the ratio of that was 29:71 as at 31 December 2023. For
details of gender distribution, please refer to ESG report in this
annual report.

As regards gender diversity of the Board and the senior management
team of the Company, the Group has two female Directors and
six male Directors, and one out of seven members of the senior
management team is female. Given the current composition and
gender diversity of the Board, the Board and the Nomination
Committee are of the view that it is not necessary to set numerical
targets and timeline for board gender diversity for the time being.
Nevertheless, the Group is committed to creating favorable working
environment to employ and promote more females in the workforce
to hold senior management positions based on the qualifications,
experience and skills required for those positions. The Group strives
to increase the ratio of females in the workforce to the extent
possible onwards and maintain diversity and equality in respect of its
workforce.
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The Nomination Committee will (i) report annually, in the CG report
contained in this annual report, on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy; and (ii) review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 20
June 2022 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Chao and two INEDs, namely Mr. Suen and Dr. U.
Dr. U has been appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The major duties of the Remuneration Committee are
the followings:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

() either:

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director
and senior management of the Company; or

i. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director
and senior management of the Company.

This should cover bonus, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group. The Remuneration Committee shall
also ensure that the levels of remuneration should be sufficient
to attract and retain the Directors needed to run the Company
successfully but should avoid paying more than is necessary for
this purpose;
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(m)

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management of the Company for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not
excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

to determine the criteria for assessing employee performance,
which should reflect the Company’s business objectives and
targets;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration;

advise Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service
contracts of the Group's directors which require Shareholders’
approval under Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules;

reviewing matters relating to the Group'’s share scheme;

confirm to any requirement, Direction and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the Articles of Association of
the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable law;
and

do any such things to enable the Remuneration Committee to
perform its duties and functions conferred on it by the Board.

During FY2024, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to (i)
discuss and review the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management of the Company; (ii) assess performance of executive
Directors; and (iii) make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company (i.e. the model of Remuneration
Committee under Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code); and (iv)
fulfilled duties as required aforesaid.
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REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT =B B i

Number of person(s)
Band of remuneration B4 48 B A
From nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 3
From HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 722,000,000/ 7T 3
From HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001/ T2 3,000,000 7T 1

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid employees are set out in notes 12 and 13 respectively
to the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During FY2024, Deloitte was engaged as the Group’s independent
auditor. The remuneration paid/payable to Deloitte for audit and
non-audit services in respect of FY2024 is set out below:

EERAEREHHALE—FSFHBFDRIER
A MBHREMFF12RX13 -

B % B AT

R2024F M F - B RZERAEBBEIZH
B o M2024F 81 5 - BLERT RIEFEFTRBE
/RSB esImT

Fee paid/payable

Services R Bt EAE R
HK$'000

FHEIT

Audit services EET RS 2,100
Non-audit services (Note) JEEETARAS (BIRE) 108
Total @5t 2,208

Note: The non-audit services mainly included taxation services and other
services.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2024 which
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of the Group’s consolidated
financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the IASB and in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The Company
provides all members of the Board with regular updates on Group's
performance, positions and prospects.
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the independent auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the Company's strategic objectives, and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Board acknowledges that such risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate
the risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Group has established an enterprise risk
management policy in order to provide sound and effective risk
management. This sets out a framework for the identification,
analysis, evaluation, treatment, monitoring and reporting of the
Group's key risks, with a view to supporting the achievement of the
Group's overall strategic objectives. The Company does not have an
internal audit department. The Board has reviewed the need for an
internal audit function and currently takes the view that there is no
immediate need to set up an internal audit department in light of
the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The need
for an internal audit department will be reviewed from time to time.

In view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in
order to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting
periodic reviews of the Group’s internal control and enterprise risk
management systems, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant firm to execute the internal audit function. Independent
consultant has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group's enterprise risk management, procurement and accounts
payable management and inventory management for FY2024. The
report issued by the independent consultant firm was reviewed by
the Audit Committee and the Board and no major issue was raised
for improvement.
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The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
aimed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and thus can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including
financial, operational, strategic and compliance controls and has
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company's
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Board considers
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review of the
risk management and internal control systems will be performed
annually.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE

INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the SFO and the Listing
Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the
safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept
strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensuring that
information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of
a material fact. The Group is committed to ensuring that information
contained in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative
facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the
Board’s processes and communications among Board members,
Shareholders and the management of the Company. Mr. Tsang Tik
Man had been appointed as the Company Secretary since 20 April
2021 and resigned on 22 May 2024. Following his resignation, Ms.
Wong Kwun Ling, delegated by an external service provider, has
been appointed as the Company Secretary on 22 May 2024. Ms.
Wong's primary corporate contact at the Company is Mr. Ng Weng
Hou, the financial controller of the Company. During FY2024, Ms.
Wong had confirmed that she had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each
substantially separate issue at Shareholders’ meetings, including
nomination and election of individual Director.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
in a timely manner after each Shareholders’ meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Procedures for convening extraordinary general
meeting by Shareholders

In accordance with Article 58 of the Article, any one or more
member(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 58 of the Articles for requisitioning
an extraordinary general meeting and including a resolution at such
meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article 58 of the
Articles are set out above.

Procedures for putting forward enquiries to the
Board

The Group values feedback from Shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Shareholders
are encouraged to send their enquiries to the Board by post to the
principal place of business set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” in this annual report. Shareholders may also make
enquires with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted, on 20 June 2022, the Memorandum of
Association and Articles which took effect from 15 July 2022. There
was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during FY2024.

COMMUNICATION POLICY

Under the Company’s communication policy, to promote
effective communication, the Company maintains a website of
“www.boardware.com” which provides the Shareholder and
stakeholder a communication channel with the Company. The
website provides up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, CG practices, biographical
information of the Board and other information are available for
public access.

During FY2024, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy, and
considered that the current available communication channel for
Shareholders and stakeholders is effective and adequate.
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ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of Professional IT
Services, Managed Services, IT equipment leasing, IT maintenance
and consultancy services, as well as distribution and resale of
packaged hardware and software.

ABOUT THE ESG REPORT

This ESG Report summarises the Group’s ESG practices, plans, and
performance.

Reporting Period

Unless specifically stated otherwise, this ESG Report covers the ESG
activities, challenges, and measures of the Group for 2024.

Reporting Scope

The reporting scope is consistent with this annual report and covers
all the business operations under the direct operational control of
the Group, including the headquarters in Macau, offices in Hong
Kong, Zhuhai, and Nansha in the PRC. The major business segments
representing the Group’s major sources of revenue include (a) the
provision of Enterprise IT solutions, including (i) Professional IT
services, (i) Managed services, (iii) lease income from IT equipment,
and (iv) IT maintenance and consultancy services; and (b) distribution
and resale of hardware and software.

Reporting Framework

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide. This ESG Report complies with all “comply or
explain” requirements and reports on all mandatory disclosures
outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide. Information relating to the
Group's CG practices can be found in the CG report in this annual
report.

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied
the reporting principles in the ESG Reporting Guide, as described
below:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted with key
stakeholders to identify material issues during the Reporting Year,
thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus for
the preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was
reviewed and confirmed by the Board and the Sub-committee. For
further details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.
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Quantitative: Environmental and social performance data were
collected in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide and were
relevant to the Group’s targets and ESG direction. The standards,
methodologies, and applicable assumptions used in the calculation
of KPIs data were supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: This is the third ESG report presented by the Group.
The approach adopted in preparing the ESG Report is substantially
consistent with the one adopted in 2023. Explanations are provided
for data with changes to the scope of disclosure or calculation
methodologies.

Balance: This ESG Report aims to provide a balanced and
transparent representation of the Group’s performance. It
avoids selections, omissions or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence the decision or judgment of the report
reader.

MESSAGE FROM CHAIRMAN
Dear Valued Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present this ESG Report
which demonstrates the Group’s strong commitment to improving
its performance in both environmental and social aspects including
but not limited to environmental management, employment and
labour practices, operating practices, and community involvement.

The Group believes that long-term success can only be accomplished
by operating a profitable business without sacrificing the well-
being of people or the environment. It therefore incorporates
ESG concepts into its business philosophy to cultivate sustainable
value for shareholders by seizing opportunities and managing
risks associated with developments in the economy, society, and
environment. The Group’s ESG responsibility initiative depends
critically on the Group’s ability to comprehend how various ESG issues
may impact the Group's business and the Group’s stakeholders.

The Group remains committed to enhancing its CG practices, as well
as prioritising compliance and effectiveness. In order to effectively
manage ESG-related matters within the Group, the Board holds
ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group’s ESG performance
and has established the Sub-committee to monitor ESG issues.
The Sub-committee, authorised by the Board, is responsible for
implementing ESG policies and strategies, monitoring and analysing
the Group’s ESG risks, gathering ESG data, evaluating the Group's
progress toward its targets, and reporting to the Board. Both the
Board and the members of the Sub-committee possess relevant
knowledge and skills to manage ESG issues and are committed
to keeping abreast of ESG updates. More information about the
Group’s ESG governance structure is stated in the section headed
“ESG Governance Structure”.

RIR - HERERHRS

Bt RELM SEREEIIRIZESGIREIES]
Wik - WEARKEE B R RESGTT FIERE - AR
AT HBSHERIEIRBURRIRE TR RABRER
REFEES AT

— M I AREBIRIHE ZHDESGHRE -
ESGHR &5 FTiR A M RELS N E2023F FTiR A E
A - ST WBEHE S AE AR EB L
B BETRA -

F - AESGHE 5 E AR EAEBIR I T
BERAMERL - B2 TR MBI ER
EEERRRAGOEE  ERK2HIEN -

EFEHEE
R HE -

AANERREZEMAREAESCHRS - K9
AEERREIMMETE(BEETRIREE
2 RELSTEN  2FEMMHRSE)D
e H AR R EAGE ©

REBEE  RBEETEEABIIRERILNE
NTEERFZER - A BIRREAKY - Bt -
REEKSGESBARLLEIES - BBILEL
B e AIRREROEBIEERR - AR
BERFEEE - ASERMESGEEERERK
R EBURNAEE IR S EBESGREB N E
AEEMEKIAEBFDENES °

REBBEBRORBECEERER - BARK
MEBERIEEN - BB RERALEBARNMNESG
HEEE  EEeHEEAEENESSGESA R
REAL  WERKY/NMEZ B S UABITESGER -
MEZEBSREBRSRE - BERITESGEE X
G B RO M AL EMESGER  EESG
g FHMAAEREXBEZNER  TRNESS
B - 2R/ MEAZE8ek B ABEEESG
EERARE MM WBI M T BRESG
RSB - BEAEEESGEARBENELZE
B ESGE AZRE | —56 -

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT

63



64

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERHRS

To identify and prioritise material ESG issues that have a significant
impact on the Group's operations and stakeholders, the Group
continuously communicates with internal and external stakeholders.
The Board has delegated the Sub-committee and hired an
independent third party to carry out the materiality assessment.
Details about the stakeholder engagement channels and the
materiality assessment conducted by the Group are stated in the
sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” respectively. In order to have a more comprehensive
understanding on stakeholders’ expectations of the Group’s
sustainable development, the Group will further strengthen its
communication with stakeholders and formulate relevant policies
and measures based on their opinions.

Being a proponent of corporate social responsibility, the Group
recognises the significance of minimising its potential adverse
impacts on the environment. Aligning with the corporate strategy
and the national vision of carbon neutrality, the Group has set
various environmental targets to showcase its commitment and
progress in improving ESG performance. The Group quantifies
its environmental performance annually and the Board reviews
the results to understand the progress and make adjustments if
necessary. Relevant results are summarised in the section headed
“Environmental Targets”.

Moving ahead, the Group will maintain a vigilant stance in observing
how the evolving market conditions impact corporate compliance,
business development, and ESG considerations from various angles.
The Group will proactively respond to national, regional, and
industry calls to formulate timely and effective strategies strictly in
line with the requirements of the central and local governments.
Furthermore, the Group will persist in its endeavours to create
higher economic and social value.

Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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ACCREDITATION AND AWARDS

Awards/Recognitions

®E/ AT

RIE - HERERERS
7.7 B 38 1

Organisers

EZ ]

e Medal of Merit for Commerce and Industry
o IEVEHE

e Key Technology Enterprises

o EHMREE
e High-Tech Enterprises
o EIBMLE

. 2023 Authorised Partner
o 2023FBESIEBME

. 2023 Cloud Service Provider
o 2023ERRISALIER

e 2023 Outstanding Contribution Partner Award
o 20235 MEBIGIERMHE

e 2023 Best Project Reporting Contribution Award
o 2023FxFIRB MIBERNE

e 2023 Excellence Contribution Award in Business
Market (Hong Kong and Macau Region)
o 2023WEMBGEMERE(ERE)

e 2023 Excellent Partner Award for Network Products
and Solutions (Hong Kong and Macau Region)

o 2023WREMMBRNREFSEBHE(ERR)

e 2023 Sales Elite Best Project Reporting Award
o 2023HEIFRREIA R MiFE

. 2024 Best Contribution Partner
o 2024E(EEEIATERLE

e 2024 Huawei Digital Power Certified service partner
3-star

o 2024FERBFRURBERBGHH —EREREE

e 2024 Strategic Partner
o 2024BMSAERME

Macao SAR Government

RV R ERAT

Macao Economic and Technological Development Bureau

BRPIBEMRER B

Torch High Technology Industry Development Center
Ministry of Science and Technology

TEMEREMAERRMERREH L

Lenovo Group Ltd.
G EEABR AR

VMware
BE

Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd.

ERRMARAR

Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd.

ERRMBERAR
Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd.
ERRMERAR]
Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd.
EREMERAT]

Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd.

ERRMARATR

Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd.

ERRMAERAT
Huawei Technologies Co. Ltd.
ERRMARAT

SuperMap Software Co. Ltd.
L REBE KRG BRAE
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Awards/Recognitions
#®1E, R

Organisers

EZ ]

° 5th Authorised Partner
o FHESRIEAERMY

e 2024 Authorised System Integrator
o 2024FBERMREAKE

e 2024 Sliver partner
o 20248RMAEVEREH

e 2024 Gold partner
o 2024 AAEVERM

e 2024 Strategic Partner (Hong Kong and Macau
Region)
o 2024EMAERHCERE)

e FY24 Top Country Distributor Award for Hong Kong
o 2024 BEFRE MR KED HEHLE

e 2025 Gold Medal Cooperative Agent
o 2025 MEAEHRIE

e Authorised Distributor Plaque — Trend Micro
o  FRESHEESE — Trend Micro

e Silver Sponsorship Award — JOS Macau Solution Day
o  IRARBHE—GMBECRF AT RA

e  Certificate for Qualification of Information Security
Service Provider

s FEERERBEEZ

e |SO/IEC 27001:2013 for Providing Cybersecurity
Monitoring Services
e ISO/IEC 27001:201 3t #4% %2 2 Ba 2 AR 75

e |SO/IEC 20000-1:2018 for Providing IT Hosting
Services
e ISO/IEC 20000-1:201 81 HEITEEE AR 7S

66 BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Hikvision Technology Co. Ltd.
Hikvision Technology Co. Ltd.

Hikvision Technology Co. Ltd.
Hikvision Technology Co. Ltd.

xFusion International Pte. Ltd.
xFusion International Pte. Ltd.

Sangfor Technologies (Hong Kong) Ltd.
RMERRH (B )BR AT

Hillstone Networks
LA 484

Hewlett Packard Enterprise Company
Hewlett Packard Enterprise Company

FangMail Information Technology Co., Ltd
R AR EERRBR AT

Trend Micro Inc.
Trend Micro Inc.

HKBN JOS Limited
HKBN JOS Limited

China Cybersecurity Review Technology and Certification

Centre
PR 2B ERITEREF L

International Organization for Standardisation (ISO)
Bl B AR AL 4B £5(1S0)
International Organization for Standardisation (ISO)

BB AZ (L AHA(SO)
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Awards/Recognitions
8818, RA

RIE - HERERERS

Organisers

EZ ]

e |SO 9001 Quality Management System
e ISO9001EEEERER

e ISO 14001 Environmental Management System
e ISO 14001 RFEEER

e ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System
* ISO45001BRfEFEL 2 EIRER

e Level 2 Professional Contracting for Electronic and
Intelligent Engineering
o TBTHTRMCIREEERB_K

e Information System Construction and Service
Capability (CS1)
o EERSEENMRIEEN(CS)

e CMMI V2.0 for Development Maturity Level 3
o BENKRVEIEBIERRE2.ONR — ERAERS3

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

International Organization for Standardisation (ISO)

BB AZ (L 4B 45 (S0O)

International Organization for Standardisation (ISO)

BB AR L AR AR (1SO)

International Organization for Standardisation (ISO)

BB AR L AR AR (1SO)

Urban Planning and Construction Bureau of the Hengqin
and Guangdong-Macao In-Depth Cooperation Zone

BEERRNESIERMTAREIMER

China Electronics Information Federation

PEETERITEBAS

Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA)
BIE B R MBI EISACA)

ESGEAZEE

The Group has developed an ESG governance structure to ensure ﬁEIE%UEESG%/ﬁ%% " AREIRELESGE 12
its ESG governance aligns with its business strategy and to integrate & H SRS B I S ESGE IR M A K R HE L
ESG management into its business operations and decision-making ~ JRFBEIE -

process.

The Board holds the overall responsibility for overseeing the Group’s ZEFEZEE EEBEAEEMESGRAR NS
ESG risks and opportunities and formulating ESG management ~ WHIFESGEIE )X « KA - BEREMBLRR -
approaches, strategies, priorities, and objectives. The Board is £ F& 8 & HER AN B[ b B 12 M A FE 6 Z 5t
responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group's risk ~ HFIAZM - WHEESGHEPHIKE © ESGHEE
management and internal control systems, as well as approving SFBBEEFSE R °

disclosures in the ESG Report. ESG issues are discussed on an annual

basis via Board meeting.
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The Group's Sub-committee serves a supportive role to the Board
in implementing the agreed ESG policies and strategies, conducting
materiality assessments of environmental-related, climate-related,
and social-related risks, assessing climate adaptation practices,
continuously monitoring the implementation of measures to address
the identified ESG-related risks, and ensuring compliance with ESG-
related laws and regulations. To ensure data accuracy, the ESG data
collected from different parties by the Sub-committee are confirmed
by the respective departments before applying in this ESG Report.
The Group's Sub-committee is also responsible for gathering data
and comparing the performance of KPIs against relevant ESG-related
goals and targets set by the Board. When there is any deviation
from targets, the Sub-committee will investigate and liaise with
responsible departments to take prompt rectification actions. The
Sub-committee reports to the Board on an annual basis via board
meeting on the Group's ESG performance and the effectiveness of
ESG systems (including but not limited to any climate related risks).

An ESG team comprised of personnel from departments such as
human resources, administration, and procurement is also set up
to coordinate and manage general ESG affairs. The ESG team is
responsible for guiding the development of ESG-related matters,
communicating with stakeholders and assessing ESG-related risks
and opportunities including those related to climate change. Related
ESG issues would be discussed with the Board at meetings at least
once every year. Where appropriate, external advisors would be
engaged to provide expertise and professional advice for the ESG
management process.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Effective and ongoing stakeholder engagement is an integral part
of the Group’s business development and commitment to the
environment and society. By identifying the Group’s stakeholders
and understanding their views, the Group can better align its
business practices with stakeholders’ needs and expectations. This
approach enables the Group to build trust and mutual beneficial
relationships with the Group’s stakeholders and enhances ESG
performance effectively. The Group formulates and updates its
engagement approach based on the engagement objectives and
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stakeholders’ level of interest and influence. As part of its business
strategy, the Group engages with its stakeholders via different
channels as shown in the table below.

Stakeholders

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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RFNENONBRZERE - tIELREHSET
N o EREBREN—FD - AEBEBTRER

BEBNERTHE - MTRAR

Expectations and concerns

Communication channels

i E MERETER BBRE
Shareholders and investors — CGsystem — Annual general meeting and
— Business strategies and shareholders’ meetings
performance — Financial reports

BREBEE

Employees

7l
pil}

Suppliers
e

Customers

P

Government and regulatory bodies

B EREE R

Media, non-governmental
organisations, and the public

REE - SRR AR

— Financial results

- BXERIE
— FIERRERAER
— MRS

— Career development

— Occupational health and safety
— Remuneration and benefits

— Equal opportunities

— Company's prospect

— BEER

- BEREERELZE

— ¥ RAER)

- FE#E

— RAEFIR

— On-time payment

— Fair and open procurement
~ EBAR

— RFRFARE

— Quality of products and services
— Privacy protection

— Business ethics and reputation
— EmkRBEE

— BALfRE

- BXBRLAER

— Compliant operation
— Payment of tax
— ARKE

— M

— Environmental protection
— Social welfare

— Transparent information disclosure

— BRI
— EiEF
— ERMERRE

— Announcements and circulars
— Company website

— Social media

- BRAFREMRREH

— BgmE

— RNENIBH

NGIF =

— FERHES

— Trainings, seminars, and briefing
sessions

— Company activities

—  Performance reviews

— H FHERERE
— AFED
— EE

— Supplier audits and assessments
—  Email

— HEREE KA

— BFHH

— Customer satisfaction surveys
— Customer service hotline and email
— Company website

- BEFmEERAE
— BPRGBEREETEF
— AL

— Compliance officer
— Legal advisor

- BMRERE
— JAREER

— Company website
— Media channels
— ESG reports

ANGIE =
— HEERE
— ESGIRE

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT
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RIR - HERERHRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In the hope of understanding the views and expectations of
stakeholders on the Group’s ESG performance effectively, the
Group adopts a systematic approach in conducting the annual
materiality assessment. With reference to the Group’s business
development strategy and industry practices, the Group identified
and determined a list of material ESG issues. The Group then
prepared a questionnaire based on the list and invited relevant
stakeholder representatives to rate the potential material issues
according to the level of importance to the stakeholders and to the
Group. During the Reporting Year, the Group invited shareholders
and investors, employees, suppliers, customers, as well as the media,
non-governmental organisations and the public to participate in the
guestionnaire. The results of the survey were analysed to identify
material topics and develop a materiality matrix. The analytical
results were reviewed and confirmed by the Board and the Sub-
committee before disclosure. The Group’s materiality matrix for the
Reporting Year is shown below:

BEEMFTMG

BT HERTBENEHREBESGEMNME AN
HE  AEBRABRGHAIETFEEEN
S - 2EREEEBEEBBNITERD - K
EBHRIWHETE T — (D BEAESGHEEBE - A&
EpER IR EREMNE - WEGHEBEOER
FRIRBESGRBERNERAERNEERE -
WEBEENEAHBEITITL - RIREFE - A%
BEZERENEEE B  HER FPUK
2 BTG R ARLEMEAT - AEE
HRABSERETHOMASNERZET REES
MEE - HMERNFEIERESE M/MEE
EERENER - AEBNREFENEZNE
P a0 R AR

MATERIALITY MATRIX

ERMEEE

High &

Customers’ Satisfaction
BEREE

Supply Chain Management
fEEER

Water Consumption
Ak

WWESES

REEY

Customer privacy
B

Occupational Health and Safety
BEEET S

Training and Development
B RERE

Equal Opportunity
FEHE

Employee Benefits

BB &7

Anti-corruption
k&5
Energy Consumption

BEIREFE

Low 1K

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS' ASSESSMENTS AND DECISIONS
HEFOETHRRRNDEKT

CONTACT THE GROUP

Stakeholders’ valuable opinions can help the Group continue to
improve performance on ESG. Please feel free to contact the Group
with any comments or suggestions related to the ESG Report.

Address:  Unit 01-02, 12/F., Tower |, Enterprise Square
No. 9 Sheung Yuet Road
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: ir@boardware.com

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACT
B REREEVENEEMKF

High &

BEAEE

BN ER TR AEBRERASCH
M o A EABRAESGHREH M B R a2
RS -

ik - FENENLRE
BB
PEEEIE—E12201-02%

EH : ir@boardware.com
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL
Environmental Targets

To better manage the Group’s material topics and its
sustainability performance, the Group has set various
environmental targets. The table below summarises the Group’s
environmental targets, of which the progress is monitored and

assessed annually:

Aspects Targets set in 2023
& 2023FRENE R

A. RiE

LT

Progress

EE

B5ER
REHHEBRARENERZELEA
FEZREY AEECHESERE
BiIZ - TREBEAKENRRBAE A
R EN S FETTEDR KA

RIR - HERERHRS

Targets set in 2024
2024 REMEF

GHG emissions
BEREHEK

[ co.3

Maintain the total GHG emissions intensity
for 2024 to be not more than the 2022
baseline (0.39 kgCO,e/HK$'000 revenue).

RE204FE R EREHNZETRB
2026 MEZ039T R _EtiRESE
FATWE) ©

Waste reduction  Maintain the total non-hazardous waste

RAEEREY) intensity for 2024 to be not more than the
anlliae 2022 baseline (1.78 g/HK$'000 revenue).

RE20UFNEEEERZYRETBRSE
2022 B (1,785 /T TE)

Close to reaching
the target and will
enhance the GHG
reduction practices.
BATER B RIS
SRR E REBRE
i

Close to reaching
the target and will
enhance waste
reduction practices.
BATER B RIS A
MR BERYAE
e ©

2024 FERE

Maintain the total GHG emissions
intensity for 2025 to be not more
than the 2022 baseline (0.39
kgCO,e/HK$'000 revenue).
REF2025F M R ERBHNEE
THBiB2022 M ER(039F R =
kg e/ THETkER) -

Reduce the total GHG emissions
intensity by 3% by 2027 compared
to the 2022 baseline (0.39 kgCO,e/
HK$'000 revenue).
BRESRERBHNEE  £ER
2027F 2 BIE2022 FF M E45(0.39
FTr-@tmEE/ FTHETKER)
TH3% e

Achieve peak carbon emissions by
2030 to be in line with the PRC’s
14th Five-Year Plan and the Macau
SAR’s 2nd Five-Year Plan.

2120305 - ERIBRYERIEE - AR
&R B+ R R B AR PR RIT
BEME_ERFHE -

Maintain the total non-hazardous
waste intensity for 2025 to be
not more than the 2022 baseline
(1.78 g/HK$'000 revenue).
REF2025F B REEZYTE D
2022 FMEL(1.78% /T
ToiiEs) o

s BMUEESNRBEARAT
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RIR - E

Aspects
Em

REAHRE

Targets set in 2023
2023FRENEF

Progress

EE

Targets set in 2024
2024FRENEF

Energy use
efficiency

REIRIE AR

Reduce the total non-hazardous waste
intensity by 3% by 2027 compared to the
2022 baseline (1.78 g/HK$'000 revenue).

RELEZEENEE  FHER2027F2
RIE020224E OB 4R (1,785 /T T lezs)
TFE3% o

Maintain the total energy consumption
intensity for 2024 to be not more than
the 2022 baseline (0.71 kWh/HK$'000
revenue).

REF2024F 0 AL IRBFEE E T 82022
EMEZO.NTRE,/ THRTHRE)

Reduce the total energy consumption
intensity by 3% by 2027 compared to
the 2022 baseline (0.71 kWh/HK$'000
revenue).

BRELRRBERTE - EHR20275 2/l
82022 FHEL (071 FRE/FHETHR
) TE3% o

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

Will continue to
identify effective
waste reduction
methods.
B R E DR,
FETTE ©

Close to reaching
the target and will
enhance energy use
efficiency practices.
B ER B RS
BiRm AR A MK
HOFE R ©

Will continue to
identify effective
energy-saving
methods.
1 4 8 B P 8 R B
REE

2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Ongoing

Recycle at least 80% of the office
paper used in 2025.
P2025F I E L 80% M A E B
#® e

Conduct annual activities such as
seminars to raise awareness of
waste reduction among employees
in 2025.

R2025F BRI G FFEES
REEIRIEZNES

Maintain the total energy
consumption intensity for 2025 to
be not more than the 2022 baseline
(0.71 kWh/HK$’000 revenue).
RIF2025F BRI BREE T
B2FNEZ(ONTRE /T
ATTE)

Ongoing

Launch initiatives and participate in
awareness-building activities related
to energy conservation in 2025.
R2025F E LB RAET LRI IEE
W2 EBEEHREREE -

Replace office lighting with LED by

2027 to enhance energy efficiency.

)‘SA2027¢ZEU1§FHLEDP“*£@)J$’A
REA - ARRAERAE -
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RIR - HERERHRS

Aspects Targets set in 2023 Progress Targets set in 2024
=g 2023 RENB R EE 20245 RENEE
Water efficiency ~ Conduct or participate in awareness-  Achieved Ongoing
Rk building activities related to water
~IN conservation annually from 2023 onwards.
(’ 05 A20236 1 - SEETRERAME KN DER 17
9. EHRRED -
Np
A1. Emissions Al BERRY

The Group recognises the importance of environmental
protection as the starting point for sustainability. The
Group strives to reduce the adverse environmental
impacts of its operations and to promote environmental
protection within the Group and the supply chain. The
Group has developed comprehensive ESG-related policies
to meet its environmental objectives in carbon footprint
reduction, energy reduction, and waste reduction.

Although the Group is predominantly service-oriented and
does not belong to a heavy-polluting industry, the Group
recognises its operations still have a certain level of impact
on the environment and acknowledges that addressing
environmental issues is a collective responsibility shared by
every member of the community. The Group is committed
to minimising the adverse impacts that its operations may
have on the environment. The Group continually improves
its environmental management practices and measures to
reduce energy and other resource consumptions, minimise
waste, and promote a recycling culture within the Group
adhering to the principle of “Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, and
Replace”.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not have any
material non-compliance of environmental laws and
regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include but
not limited to the “Environmental Law (Law no. 2/91/
M)” of Macau, the “Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution”,
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid
Waste” of the PRC, the “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”,
“Water Pollution Control Ordinance”, and the “Waste
Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong.

2024 FERE o

AEBEHIREREEAVIFESR
REZFNEZN - REEBAOKFS
HELBURBENBEZE  TEAS
BRI EEARERRIRE - X5E
EflE 2 EAESGHBAIEE - LLEIR
REBER DI ZH - 4R R AR
VEVAEHAREER -

BEAKEUNRERERE - TEBR
BRRTE - BEASENEEDRY
REEL - TERENZE  ABEER
RERBH B LR EEKEXRNE
T ARERIRNEERIELER
BEHIRIBEK TR E - NEET
B o IR E IR E IR MG - AU
DREBRMEAMERNER - FERD
RE - UWERKDRDER - EVER
BRBELRBRERINRE - £ARE
A BB R R W B A XL

RBEFE  AREYTNNBERNE
ARERBAEBELEAZENERH
FER SR EREEYEN - ARk iR
s AEREZEEVNELESH
REBEZERMAD - HEREARRRDIE
B BRIORFIZE2/91/MSRERCGR TR
HEE) - PE(PEARKMBERE
Re&E) - (PEARKMBIAIS R
SR (P EARKMBAR)SRE
SR (REARKNBEEREY)S
AREPDAE) REB(ERTRE
B ~ KOS RE MRS MR B
EI5RBI)

BREESHNEARAT
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RIR - HEREGRE

Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group’s
operations do not involve any industrial production or
possess any factory facilities that involve an extensive
consumption of fossil fuel. Therefore, the Group’s air
emissions are mainly generated from the fuel consumption
by its motor vehicles. Since the amount of air emissions
produced during the operations was not significant
and hence no relevant targets were set. Nevertheless,
the Group has implemented measures relating to the
reduction of air emissions including:

e  Perform efficient planning on driving routes to
minimise the number of trips made for business
purpose;

e Regularly maintain and repair the vehicle by qualified
personnel to ensure fuel consumption efficiency
and respective emissions have complied with local
emission standards; and

e Switch off the engine when the vehicle is idling.

The Group's air emissions are as follows:

R

HRASENEBMEE  AEENE
B RAER T REEERER ERH
FAREBCAMEE TRRE - EHit
AEENERFNEEREEREE
WEVREDERE - ANEEBIEPES
MRERBENEL TEAX - itk &R
EHBEER - BENL  AKECDE
MR A BE R B MARRE IR IE - BIE

o BMRETERER BEMREH
ERE

. EHEAERABRRGTEREEE
RARE + LARELRIA % R K
RARREEHE I A S
R

o NEWMEERREMSIE -

AEB BRI T

Type of air emissions’ Unit

BERBERE R B 2024 2023
Nitrogen oxides g 244.02 333.14
p=K ()] I

Sulphur oxides g 4.53 6.18
malty 2

Particulate matter g 17.97 24.53
FERIY) 7

Note: Ff3E

1. The calculation method of air emissions is based on
“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange.

1. BERHMENFEIEZREATE
M EERE LB RERR
=M REARERIERER
$E30) -
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GHG Emissions

The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly attributable to
direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) from the fuel consumption
by its vehicles and energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope
2) from the purchased electricity. In order to achieve the
emission reduction targets described under the section
headed “Environmental Targets”, the Group has actively
adopted measures on vehicle usage described in the
section above, as well as the energy saving measures
described in the section headed “Energy Management” in

Aspect A2.

The Group’s GHG emissions and its intensity performance

are as follows:

RIR - HERERHRS

BEREHH
AEEMNREREHNTIEREHS
WREDHREENER R =R
(BEN) RINBENELNREREE
BERBHR(BE2) - REBIRE
BiR ] —EpTeR B 1R - AEED
TERRERER X —E Pl ) B SR R 1R
e ARA2BE g/ E IR | — & Fr it
EVENREHEHE ©

AEEWEERBHMMETRENT

Type of GHG emissions sources' Unit
BE R HERURE R By 2024 2023
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions
HE - EEREREHN
e Petrol tCO,e 0.82 1.12
e UM WE—SULIRE S
Scope 2 - Energy indirect GHG
emissions
FHE2 - RAEREREEN
e Purchased electricity tCO,e 264.77 259.22
e HNEED WS tiRE =
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2)  tCO,e 265.59 260.34
BEREHNEE(BE1R2) WE—SULIRE S
Total GHG emissions intensity kgCO,e/HK$'000
revenue? 0.41 0.36
BREREHREE Fr-S/RES
FA TR

Notes:

1. The calculation method of GHG emission data is based
on, including but not limited to, the “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
2023 Sustainability Report” released by CLP Holdings, the
“Announcement on the Release of 2022 Electricity Carbon
Dioxide Emission Factors” issued by the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of the People’s Republic of China and
“Sustainability Report 2023" by CEM of Macau.

2. The revenue of the Group for 2024 was HK$648,012,000
(2023: HK$717,595,000). The data is also used for

calculating other intensity data.

R

1. REREHRBURNFETEKEE
FEAB AN PR OB 52 A 3 M mOC IR AR
B HekEamE Mg ®
BHREBERERIES) - PEE
R B MR 2023 F AT BB RIE )
I AR MBI AERRIF M
(RAR EM2022F B —S/LHREER
BAFaRE)ARRPIE N RG AR
RAEMEIC2023F Al F B H R W

g

2. 2024F AREE R U A648,012,000

67T (20234 717,595,000 7T ) °
ZEE ARG EE MR E UL

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT

75



76

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREGRE

Sewage Discharge

The offices of the Group do not generate any industrial
waste water during the course of operations, but only
domestic sewage. As the sewage discharged by the Group
will be sent to the sewage treatment plants through the
sewage pipe network, the amount of sewage discharge
is considered as the water consumed. Information related
to water consumption will be described in the section
headed “Water Management” in Aspect A2.

Waste Management

Under ESG Policy, the Group has formulated a “Policy on
Generation of Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes”
to ensure that all hazardous and non-hazardous waste is
properly and safely managed.

Hazardous Wastes

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group does
not generate a significant amount of hazardous wastes
during daily operations, and therefore no relevant targets
have been set. Nevertheless, the Group has established
guidelines in governing the management and disposal
of hazardous wastes. In case of any hazardous wastes
generated, the Group shall engage a qualified chemical
waste collector to handle such wastes to comply with
relevant environmental laws and regulations.

Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group adopts the principle of “Reduce, Reuse,
Recycle, and Replace” for waste management and strives
to promote better utilisation of resources. The major non-
hazardous waste generated during the course of the
Group's daily operations is office paper. General wastes
are collected by official third parties for handling and
recyclables such as paper are sorted with recycle bins for
recycling. Such measures were effective in reducing the
amount of purchase and waste while reusing over 17,477
pieces of paper during the Reporting Year.

ST
AEBRNGRMELEBIET TEL
EAITREK  EEEEESK - H
RSB PR3 K @B KEH
REJSKEER - FIS/KEERER
RFEKE © Eﬁiﬁﬁ%ifﬁ B E R
BEA2[KERER |-yt

BEEYEHE

RIRESGHK - REEEHE(EELE
ERMEFEZYMNBR) - LAERTA
BEERBERENARIZERTS
B o

BEEERY
BHARAEENEBILE  AEERA
FREDPYBELAEBERRY
A RJRERBESR - BELU > K
KECHEEAREEAEREEYN
EEHE - WMEETABEEEEYD
AEEAEREERNBREMIE
ERIEZEREY - AETHBRRE
BRI -

BEEZEY

REBUDCRDER - EMER - B3R
BEMBERERINRESEEEY)
BAOREEFRNZR - AEBEHBL
ERETEANBEEEED T Z A
DR - —MEEVHEAE =K
LRI KRS ERYRERE K
FEETTDER - ZEEEE SR
THREENRE RAERBREFEER
EEFRT17,477% R4 -
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In order to achieve the waste reduction target described
under the section headed “Environmental Targets”, the
Group has implemented measures including but not

limited to the following:

RIR - HERERHRS

RERRFEBR | — ST e RE
ZWER  ARECERRER - 8%
BARRRIATEIE :

Utilise electronic communication means such as
e-leave system, e-cards for festival greetings, medical
e-claims, and e-brochures, where applicable;

Reduce printing and paper wastage by minimising
font sizes and deleting unnecessary blank space in
documents;

Use double-side printing as default mode for printers
and encourage employees to reuse single-side paper
for internal documents or drafting need;

Use high-performance multifunction printers which
incorporate the functions of printing, scanning, and

Lﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁfﬁ %LuﬂHT g
FREBES EFEFR - BE
E&%/‘?\E\ &E&%?Hﬂ% ;

BB RIMETFREA /N R MBR S
RABENZEBME @ B EHR
KAFORE

75 BT EN Rl 3% B 4T I RO FE R
B BB R B R AR Ml
BEREREEEAERAR

EREMEENZINEEITHE - 8
FEITED - fotE MAEENDRE -

copying;

e Share the printers among different departments to LI S

reduce energy consumption;

e Redeploy office furniture, computers, and notebook o

where possible;

e Place recycling bins and appropriate signage in office o P
areas to encourage recycling; and

R &R Pz A Z AT EN# AR
J\ég// \/%%%

WA AR TR AR
BRERAEN

N E YA B E R
Fie 0 PATEIEY - R

e Sort recycled waste into appropriate receptacles and e RBAEKEENMHOENEZEE

educate employees on sorting methods if needed. BRBRF - WEZERMESHR
BHRERE

The Group’s generation of non-hazardous wastes and its AEEEANEREEEVEARER

intensity performance are as follows: [EEIMT -

Type of non-hazardous wastes Unit

BERERYER B 2024 2023

Total non-hazardous wastes

e Office paper kg 1,164.83 1,077.79

LI NEESS T

Total non-hazardous wastes intensity ~ g/HK$'000 revenue 1.80 1.50

BERIZEEDRE 5,/ T T

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT
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RIE - HERERERS

A2. Use of Resources

A2. ERERA

The Group has established the “Policy on the Efficient Use
of Energy and Other Raw Materials” under the ESG Policy
to manage the use of resources with a view to achieving
energy-saving, reducing energy consumption, as well
as minimising the negative impacts on the environment
during the Group's business operations.

Energy Management

During the Group’s daily operations, apart from the
slight direct consumption of fuel by its vehicles, the major
source of energy consumption is electricity consumption.
To achieve the target and prevent unnecessary energy
wastage, employees are required to adopt the following
energy-saving measures as stated in the aforementioned
“Policy on the Efficient Use of Energy and Other Raw
Materials”:

e Turn off lights when not in use and use natural light
when possible;

e Turn off, not just log off, all computers, speakers,
and other office equipment at the end of every work
day;

e Turn off power strip at the end of every work day;

e Activate the power down features on computers and
monitors to enter a low-power or sleep mode when
not in use;

e Unplug equipment that drains energy when not
in use, such as cell phone chargers, fans, coffee
makers, desktop printers, and radios;

e Maintain the air-conditioning at 25 degrees Celsius;
and

e |dentify and apply feasible clean technologies such
as energy efficiency equipment in our business
operations.

RER B 2 ARIRESGHEUR H ECH A A
R KR EMEM R BEIAEEER
W@%’MﬁJ%%MﬁWEW*W
PAEBEBELBIETLHIRENE
[E-Z X

BEREHE

MALBERAEEET  FhEBEFHEH)
MEERESEREIN  ERERENEE
FRAEENHERE - BEDBZERD
FTREBEMERRE - BEARR it
(B BF B RETR & E A R AT R ER D)
FIRTER T 5 SRR -

s EHE m@%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁ
BAIREER B AN

e NREEIERERKTILEL-
FERMER - BB LEM
NG

e NREEIRERFHEMERE
NN

o RBEMNBETRSRMEIER

RE R MBS RS
=

o WiIRHETERBEERE
o PIMFHITES AR W
DEE « REHTEDH RIS

o ZEHRRBERK2E K
o BRI REMATTHERRM -

AN TR AT B SR 4B A R I RE TR
R
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The Group’s energy consumption and its intensity
performance are as follows:

RIR - HERERHRS

AEBMERERENATREESIT

Type of energy Unit

BERE R B 2024 2023
Direct energy consumption’ MWh 2.99 4.08
BHERRHER JKFLEF

Indirect energy consumption MWh 501.96 477.47
B BEIRHAE JK LB

Total energy consumption MWh 504.95 481.55
RERHRERE JK LB

Total energy consumption intensity kWh/HK$'000 revenue 0.78 0.67
BRERERTE FTRE FHETWE

Notes: 5T

1. The unit conversion method of energy consumption data is
formulated based on the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued
by the International Energy Agency.

Water Management

The Group’s water consumption is mainly attributable to
the usage in offices. Based on the locations of the Group’s
operations and as the property management company
is responsible for the provision of water within the office
premises, the Group did not encounter any issues in
sourcing water that fits for purpose during the Reporting
Year. As water usage has been included in the rent, the
consumption data is not available and thus no quantitative
target has been set.

Although the Group’s business is not water-demanding,
the Group understands the importance of saving water.
The Group has implemented the following water-saving
measures and encourages employees of the Group to use
water efficiently:

e Extend the air conditioning drain to a barrel to collect
wastewater for watering and cleaning;

. Flush toilets with high or low water flow rate,
depending on the amount of water needed to flush
dirt; and

e Perform regular maintenance and replace old faucets
timely.

1. BERBREBURM BEARE T ATIRIE
BRELIRE T M A0l BEIR LAt T I

F o

KEREE

HARREENFEKEZHPRAEER
SIEE - REBAKERGRME - UK
MEEERFARREBERIEAIN
KR - RBEFEANREERGE
& RBEe/KDT I BB R A A o
HRKEBEFARS - BEEREEK
2E > A ERETAELRE -

BEAKBEXBHARERK - BX
SETAAZEBRKER/ER - £ %
B EMmEKER  YEREAEED
BEELETERERKER :

o EZEFPKE MK —ERH
W - WER BRI TIETE R D,

o  HARBENIEISYMAKSE
Z - HRIMEB AT NI #E
T &

o  TEHRE - K FHREIKER -
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IRIE - HERERHRSE
Since 2022, the Group has been committed to conducting B2022F AR - AEE—EHR NN
or participating in activities related to water conservation Rk 2HEEKBERNES - LERE
to raise awareness among employees. During the BENE#H RBREFE  RELAEER
Reporting Year, although the Group did not take part in RBEAEHES - B RRDEIK
a specific activity, it has not forgotten the importance of EEEFZENEZ M - itk - A%
water conservation as a year-round issue. In echo, the EimRNEFEEEK DL - 8BH
Group has made an effort to raise awareness among ReaEEMNEKEH AEEEME
employees by delivering water-saving tips throughout §%1E§¢%1,\*ﬁ%§@ﬁﬁ7k B AX -
the year. Comprehensive guidance regarding water TERAK RS RK R AEER KR
consumption for drinking, kitchen, cleaning, and flushing WEEES - ANEEJEESHEAA
as well as maintaining water facilities has been provided FEREE B) Jo R 2R A] 20 A 7K R s )
to all staff members. The Group will continuously explore g o
other relevant activities as well as opportunities to improve
water efficiency in the future.
Use of Packaging Materials BEFEEH
The products involved during the provision of IT solutions AR A S BN RHITERET ZRRD
and services are pre-packaged by the suppliers and it is HARES R w2 on R AR TS T R (R IE P TR
less likely for the Group to provide re-packaging service EEE  AEERVIEEELNERN
on the products. Hence, no respective disclosures on RS - Ilil:jfﬁm?‘ﬁﬁ”]ﬁ%&%(
policies and data are available and no respective targets BER - IMERTAEBERE
have been set.

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources A3. RIER RARER

In view of the IT-related business nature of the Group, ERASERITHBANEREE
highly-polluting production and procedures are not A %@Vﬂ[Tﬁi&mﬁ%E’]i?&I
involved in its daily operations. The impacts on the r_ AEEEBEHHRENZEE
environment of the Group's business activities are EEERERBERE - AREEZIR
mainly attributable to the consumption of energy. The %E’\J%i‘%—fﬁﬁgéﬂﬁiﬁiiﬁﬁ%
Group is conscious of its potential adverse impacts on 2 FORUEREEERFHEE
the environment and strives to conduct operations and EROSARRES LGS - NEED
activities in an environmentally responsible and sustainable il L3t B BN A e R K E At R A L
manner. The Group has established the aforementioned B ) - R RZEGIZERER - It
“Policy on the Efficient Use of Energy and Other Raw AN - AR ENRI A Bl & R F R HY
Materials” to restrict and control resource utilisation. In MRTTBAERAMEEREZEEKNED
addition, the paper used for printing the interim reports ERRER  ZZEGEREEENE
and annual reports is supplied by paper mills that are BEERAFENAAEAEARNE
members of the Forest Stewardship Council, which aims D5
to promote the responsible and sustainable use of forest
resources in the world.
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Environmental Awareness

In addition to strictly requiring employees to implement
the environmental protection measures formulated by the
Group, the Group proactively promotes environmental
awareness among its employees. For instance, employees
are frequently reminded to recycle wastes, conserve
energy and water, as well as protect the natural
environment. Employees are also encouraged to participate
in environmental protection activities and share their
views on environmental issues via internal communication
channels. Besides, the Group adopts green procurement
practices when purchasing resources such as paper and
electronic appliances. The Group is dedicated to reviewing
its environmental impacts and implementing measures to
further enhance its environmental performance.

Indoor Air Quality

The Group provides a comfortable and green working
environment for the employees by constantly monitoring
the indoor air quality in the workplace. The air-
conditioning and ventilation systems in the offices are
cleaned four times a year to ensure that indoor air quality is
maintained at a good level.

Climate Change

Climate change poses escalating risks and challenges
to the global economy and may negatively impact the
Group'’s business. During the Reporting Year, phenomenal
typhoons relentlessly hit Macau, Hong Kong, and
Guangdong Province in the PRC, where the Group’s
operations were located. The Group also experienced
the destructive consequences brought by the strong
rainstorms and floods. It is anticipated that the increase
in ocean temperature from global warming will provide
more heat energy for typhoons, resulting in a higher
probability and frequency of powerful typhoons. In view
of this trend, local communities have been urging for
climate action plans.
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In response to the community’s gradual concern about
climate changes and related issues, the Group has
implemented the relevant ESG Policy. The “Policy on the
Efficient Use of Energy and Other Raw Materials” outlines
the Group’s management approach to climate-related
issues and commitment to climate mitigation, adaptation,
and resilience across its operations and along the value
chain. Furthermore, the Group has paid attention to
climate change and has identified the following climate-
related risks:

Physical Risks

The Group is aware of the risks brought forth by climate
change, especially the increasing frequency and intensity
of extreme weather conditions such as typhoons.
The increasing frequency and severity of such events
may increase the risk of power failures, supply chain
disruptions and damage to the office premises. This
could disrupt the Group’s servicing activities, resulting in
reduced revenue as well as increased costs for repairing
and insurance premiums in long term. The Group is also
aware that these incidents may endanger the safety of its
employees. As mitigation, the Group closely monitors the
latest weather alerts and suggestions issued by the local
government authorities. The Group has established work
arrangements during typhoons in the “Staff Manual”
to ensure that all personnel are prepared to deal with
such extreme weather conditions, aiming at reducing
or avoiding potential losses and injuries during extreme
weather circumstances. A “Business Continuity Plan” is
in place to ensure operational continuity of processes and
activities of the Group. To prepare for rapid response,
the Crisis Management Team has been designated with
unified structure and management plan prior to crises.
The Group also maintains a comprehensive insurance
coverage to safeguard its assets and employees.
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Transition Risks

The development of international policies and regulations
on climate change and the evolving commitment of the
PRC and Hong Kong government to carbon reduction
are anticipated, which may present potential risks to
the Group in the coming years. In addition, the Stock
Exchange has strengthened the disclosure requirements
to cover more climate-related information and data,
which may increase related compliance costs and efforts.
Hence, the Group strives to move towards a sustainable
business model smoothly to lessen the impacts such as the
increasing operational costs from changes in operational
practices. Failure to meet climate change compliance
requirements may expose the Group to the risk of
claims and litigations, which may result in a possible
loss of corporate reputation. To this end, the Group will
regularly monitor existing and emerging climate-related
trends, policies, and regulations to avoid compliance and
regulatory risks due to slow response. The Group will also
continue to assess and monitor the energy consumption
of the Group's operations comprehensively and optimising
the corresponding procedures to save energy.

B. SOCIAL
B1. Employment

Recognising employees are its greatest asset, the Group
strives to attract and retain the best people for its
sustainable growth. The Group has established the “Staff
Manual” and “Human Resources and Payroll Management
Policy” to ensure that employees are treated fairly and
equally, and that their rights and interests are protected.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include
but not limited to the “Labour Relations Law (Law no.
7/2008)" of Macau, the “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Social Insurance
Law”, the "Regulation on the Administration of Housing
Accumulation Funds” of the PRC, and the “Employment
Ordinance” of Hong Kong.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 341 employees
(including four executive Directors and excluding one non-
executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors) (as at 31 December 2023: 287 employees).
Employees’ composition by gender, age group,
employment type, and geographical region is shown as

HZE2024F12 8318 » REEA341
ZEEB(BENEHTESHETBIE
— BT EER B IERNTE
£)(HZE20235F12A31H : 287418
8) o LRl - FEAER - BEERAN
@ EDMESBRET

follows:
2024 2023
Number % Number %
AE % A %

By gender R
Male 51 247 72.43 204 71.08
Female ey 94 27.57 83 28.92
By age group RERER
<31 31T 128 37.54 103 35.89
31-50 312505% 200 58.65 172 59.93
> 50 505% A 13 3.81 12 4.18
By employment type RERER
Full-time £ 333 97.65 277 96.52
Part-time FRER 8 2.35 10 3.48
By geographical region RitE
Macau P 187 54.84 150 52.26
Hong Kong BE 63 18.47 60 20.91
The PRC F 91 26.69 77 26.83
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Recruitment, Compensation, Promotion and
Dismissal

The Group believes each employee should be entitled
to fair, courteous, and dignified treatment. The “Policy
on Recruitment, Promotion and Development of Talent”
has been formulated under the ESG Policy to offer an
innovative, growth-oriented, and challenging workplace
with the expectation that everybody contributes to the
results and shares in the success of the Group. The Group
recruits employees mainly through online recruitment
platforms, recruitment agents, and by referrals.
Educational backgrounds, technical qualifications,
characters, relevant industry experiences, and adoption
of our corporate values are key recruitment criteria. The
human resources department of the Group reviews the
Group’s recruitment policy from time to time to cope
with the needs of the Group’s business operation and the
latest regulations.

The Group is committed to providing a competitive
remuneration package to all eligible full-time and part-
time employees according to the “Policy on Other
Benefits and Welfare” under the ESG Policy. The
Group's remuneration package generally comprises basic
salary, performance-based commission, if applicable,
discretionary bonuses, and other benefits such as medical/
labour insurance and travel insurance. The Group
reviews and evaluates the performance of the Group's
employees periodically and makes salary adjustments
and promotions accordingly. According to relevant PRC
laws and regulations, the Group makes contributions to
employee benefit plans at specified percentages of the
salaries, bonuses, and certain allowances of the Group's
employees, up to a maximum amount specified by the
local jurisdiction from time to time.

The Group conducts employee performance appraisals
every year to assess its employees’ past performance
and jointly formulate their career development direction.
Subject to the company operation, the results of appraisals
may be used as the standards and grounds for promotion
recommendation, deployment or salary adjustment.

Employees who fail to fulfil the responsibilities set out by
the performance criteria, rules, procedures, and standards
of conduct may be subject to adverse personnel action.
The Group may impose a disciplinary penalty of demotion,
suspension without pay or dismissal to employees who
demonstrate unsatisfactory performance consistently.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a turnover
rate> of approximately 27.86% (2023: 23.69%). The
breakdown® of employee turnover rate by gender, age
group, and geographical region is shown as follows:

EREFE  AEBEBSRAEY
27.86% (2023 % : 23.69% ) ° 7t
Al FEAERI MR E 5 HEE K
KA TR

Turnover rate AR 2024 2023
% %
Total A&t 27.86 23.69
By gender =R
Male B4 26.72 24.51
Female peglis 30.85 21.69
By age group REwRAR
<31 31T 43.75 42.72
31-50 31=508% 17.50 13.95
> 50 S50BRMA 30.77 -
By geographical region it E
Macau P 22.46 20.00
Hong Kong B 25.40 13.33
The PRC H 40.66 38.96
Notes: 5T

1. Calculation method of turnover rate: (total number of
departures during the reporting year =+ total number of
employees at the end of the reporting year) X 100%.

2. Calculation method of turnover rate for each category:
(number of departures in the specific category during the
reporting year = number of employees in the specific
category at the end of the reporting year) X 100%.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

To suit different business needs, the working hours of
different positions may vary. The “Policy on Working
Hours and Compensation” has provided an overview on
working hours and compensation for employees. Subject
to the Group's work assignments and executive Director’s
approval, the employee’s supervisor shall determine the
hours of employment that best suit the needs of the work
to be done by the individual employee. The policy has also
provided regulations regarding attendance, punctuality,
and overtime compensation. On the other hand, rest
periods and holidays are provided to employees according
to the "Policy on Rest Periods” to ensure the work-life
balance of employees and in compliance with relevant
laws and regulations.

1. REAERNFERE: (REFEH
BREAB-BEFERREAR
X 100% °

2. BERIRAENHERL: (REF
ERTENNBEBAS - REFER
HEERMEE AZ) X100% ©
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

Creating a discrimination and harassment-free working
environment is every employee’s responsibility and one
of the major goals of the Group. The Group upholds the
value of diversity and strictly implements the “Policy on
Equal Employment Opportunity” under its ESG Policy. The
policy guides the Group to provide equal opportunities
in all aspects of employment, including recruitment,
job assignments, promotions, working conditions,
scheduling, benefits, wage and salary administration,
disciplinary actions, termination, and social, educational
and recreational programs. The Group does not tolerate
any forms of discrimination within the Group’s operations
with regard to race, colour, religion, national origin, sex,
age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, political
affiliation, personal appearance, family responsibility or
any other characteristics as recognised by relevant anti-
discriminatory regulations. The “Policy on Discrimination
and Harassment” is also in place to clearly define and
prohibit discrimination or harassment in the workplace,
whether committed by or against managers, co-
workers, customers, vendors, or visitors. Any claims of
discrimination or harassment will be investigated promptly
and appropriate disciplinary actions will be taken to
eliminate inappropriate behaviour.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to achieving excellence in
occupational health and safety management in a dynamic
process and continually strives to improve the Group’s
performance. The Group values continuous improvement
in the Group’s facilities, products, and services. The Group
has developed and adopted the “Policy on Occupational
Health and Safety” to ensure and provide a safe and
healthy working environment for all employees with zero
tolerance for unsafe acts or conditions.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with laws and regulations relating
to health and safety that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include
but not limited to the “General Regulation of Work
Safety and Hygiene of Offices, Services and Commercial
Establishments (Decree-Law no. 37/89/M)" and the
“Legal Regime on Compensation for Damages Arising
from Work Accidents and Occupational Diseases (Decree-
Law no. 40/95/M)” of Macau, the “Provisions on the
Administration of Occupational Health at Workplaces”,
the “Law of the People’'s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases” of the
PRC, and the “Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance”
of Hong Kong.

In the Reporting Year, the Group recorded 1 case of
work-related injury and the lost days of work were 3.
The Group has notified the Labour Affairs Bureau about
the case in a timely manner and assisted the involved
personnel in applying for insurance compensation. There
were no work-related fatalities in the past three years,
including the Reporting Year.

Measures on Occupational Health and Safety
The Group provides its employees with a safe working
environment, so as to protect them from potential health
hazards and injuries. Employees are required to familiarise
themselves with local safety requirements including
wearing adequate personal protective equipment and
reporting unsafe acts, conditions, and safety risks. To
raise employees’ awareness of safety, mandatory training
and observation programs such as safety training, fire
drills, and first-aid certificate courses are provided. The
management is responsible for facilitating risk assessments
and developing protective measures in cooperation with
employees. The Group also provides industrial accident
insurance for employees as a protection measure.

The human resources department of the Group is
responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the above
measures relating to occupational safety and health
matters. In each of the workplaces in Macau, Hong Kong,
and the PRC, cases of work-related injury and accident
must be reported by the human resources manager to the
relevant regulatory authorities within the respective time
limit. All employees of the Group may, from time to time,
raise any occupational health and safety-related issues
through various channels.
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Actions in the Post Pandemic Period

The COVID-19 pandemic was a great lesson for the Group
and it highlighted the importance of public health. Even
though the impacts of the pandemic have lessened,
the Group will continue to pay attention to hygienic
issues and prioritise the health of its valuable employees.
Employees are encouraged to wear face masks when they
are not feeling well.

Development and Training

The Group adopts a philosophy of continuous
improvement and endeavours to keep the Group’s
technical professionals abreast of the latest technology
developments. To always stay at the technological
forefront in an ever-changing market, the Group
encourages employees to continuously improve and
develop their skill sets. The Group's performance
management process facilitates timely fact-based
feedback and offers channels to discuss development
opportunities. The Group also provides ongoing product
and other on-the-job training and development through
formal programs, coaching, mentoring, and on-the-
job experiences. In addition, the Group provides global
training programs in a variety of areas, such as people
management and leadership. The Group has stipulated
management procedures on employee training in its “Staff
Manual” under the section headed “Employee Training
and Development”.

Training Programmes

Subject to the needs of business development, employees
may be required to take part in training or professional
examinations to obtain industry certifications and
accreditations, of which the expenses are subsidised by
the Group as an encouragement. It is believed that all-
around training can increase productivity, build employees’
confidence, and create a better working environment.
Training will be offered to engineers regularly to keep
their technical standards up to market level and equip
them for certification examinations. Before employees
participate in the training or professional examinations,
they are required to sign an agreement on employee
training stating their willingness to serve the Group
within a certain service binding period after the training
or professional examinations. In addition, pursuant to
the “Taxes Management Policy”, the Group provides
continuing professional development for employees of the
Finance Department to ensure tax filing is prepared and
reviewed competently and is submitted to the regulatory
bodies timely and accurately.
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In view of the significance of data security and sustainable
development to the Group’s operations, relevant training
has been provided to employees during the Reporting
Year to enhance their awareness while familiarising
them with compliance and best practices. The Group's
project management professionals have earned leadership
experiences and expertise with globally-recognised
certifications. In addition, employees who are qualified
members of the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute have attended development training
related to accounting and corporate governance to fulfil
the professional requirements. A summary of the Group’s
training data during the Reporting Year is as follows:
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2024 2023
Percentage  Breakdown Average Percentage  Breakdown Average
of employees of employees training  of employees  of employees training
trained' trained? hours® trained' trained? hours?
ZHlEg ZilER T3 XilEE ZillEE FHRE3
AR B4R’ iE3 8 BOH A4’ R
% % Hour % % Hour
% % N % % /NEE
Total A&t 2698 N/ATER 6.10 1986  NATEA 5.35
By gender gl
Male Eilid 25.91 69.57 7.76 25.49 91.23 6.39
Female pegid 29.79 30.43 1.74 6.02 8.77 2.81
By employee RESER
category
Senior management =HREEE 8.33 2.18 0.08 8.70 3.51 8.15
Middle hRERE
management 10.34 6.52 2.97 .1 7.02 2.00
General employee  —#REB 32.43 91.30 7.36 22.37 89.47 5.60
Notes: B 5T
1. Percentage of employees trained = (number of employees 1. RilEEBES=(FEHRIREFE
trained in the specific category during the reporting year =+ ZIEB A - FEENREFER
number of employees in the specific category at the end of EEAZ) X100%

the reporting year) X 100%.

2. Breakdown of employees trained = (number of employees
trained in the specific category during the reporting year
= total number of employees trained during the reporting
year) X 100%.

3. Average training hours = number of training hours in the
specific category during the reporting year = number
of employees in the specific category at the end of the
reporting year.

2. Z)EERMA=(FTERREFES
JEEAB-REEETIREAA
) X100% °

3. FORISB=ERINBREFES
Y- FEERRESFERERA
2 o
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B4. Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits human rights abuses over
the entire business operations. During the Reporting
Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to the
prevention of child labour or forced labour that would
have a significant impact on the Group. Relevant laws and
regulations include but not limited to the “Framework
Law on Employment Policy and Workers’ Rights (Law no.
4/98/M)"”, the "Regulation on Prohibition of lllegal Work
(Law no. 17/2004)”, the “Law for the Employment of
Non-resident Workers (Law no. 21/2009)" of Macau, the
“Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour”
of the PRC, the "Employment Ordinance”, and the
“Employment of Children Regulations” of Hong Kong.

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group has detailed all recruitment procedures and
requirements in the “Human Resources and Payroll
Management Policy”. In order to avoid child and
forced labour, pre-employment investigation including
background and reference checks would be conducted by
the human resources officer under the consent of the job
applicants prior to the issuing of job offer. Applicants who
are found providing misleading, erroneous or deceptive
information during the recruitment process would not be
considered.

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Working Hours
and Rest Periods” under Aspect B1, the regulations
on working hours and overtime working are set out in
detail in the ESG Policy. Employees may request to adjust
their work schedules to better accommodate personal
responsibility. To prevent unreasonable overtime work,
arrangements of overtime would only be made upon
the request of an employee’s supervisor. Overtime pay
will be distributed as compensation aligning with local
laws and regulations. Since employees’ rest periods
are well respected, they are entitled to various types of
holiday as described in the “Staff Manual”. If any form
of child or forced labour is found, the Group will initiate
investigations, communicate with the senior management,
and stop such situation in a timely manner.
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B5. Supply Chain Management B5. fitpESEEE
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Building a trust relationship with suppliers helps the
Group manage its potential environmental and social risk
while enhancing the efficiency of the Group’s operations.
The Group's suppliers comprise system vendors,
authorised distributors, and subcontractors. Under the
Enterprise IT Solutions business, the suppliers are mainly
authorised distributors of the system vendors and the
Group purchases the products from them for project
application. The Group has implemented the “Purchases
& Payment Policy” with the following practices on supplier
management for all suppliers. During the Reporting Year,
the Group had a total of 310 (2023: 211) suppliers. The
geographical distribution of suppliers is as follows:

HEEEEYETHEEREIREAEE
EREBEMRREL SRR - FFRE
BAEERNEENE o  AEEEER
BIERGHER  HELHEHAES B
B RIETHASTRERT - HE
BAEB ARG HEFNRELHD
mMASEREFREERAREEE
A o AN EE RS R REEE)
A EEEATUA T HEREIRIE
Bl - RIBEFE - AEEAHEE310M
(20234 : 21118 (HER - HEMK
@D MHEAT

2024 2023
Geographical region HhE 20244 20234
Macau SEPY 75 69
Hong Kong BB 176 88
The PRC H 35 23
Others (Israel, Taiwan, Australia, HEm (BT - & -
Finland, US, Thailand, Singapore, SBAFTE - B
Malta, and Malaysia) EB - B - RO
EEAD N ERFALR) 24 31
Total HEt 310 211
Procurement Mechanism FRAB 1)

The Group has established the “Purchases & Payment
Policy” which stipulates the procedures whenever
engaging a new vendor. The director of the Product
and Marketing Department should fill in the Vendor
Registration Form with the potential vendor’s basic
information and then conduct background checks and
United Nations sanction checks with relevant supporting
documents to ensure the potential vendor is valid. Upon
approval by the CEO, the director of the Product and
Marketing Department should register the qualified
vendor into the Approved Vendor List. Relevant supporting
documents must be obtained before the purchase order is
placed to the new vendor and properly filed and retained.
Due to the business nature, occasionally some required
goods and services may not be provided by the existing
vendors on the Approved Vendor List. In those cases, a
quotation should be obtained from potential vendors
before placing any purchase orders.
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Supply Chain Environmental and Social Risk
Management

The Group conducts an annual performance evaluation
of all the approved vendors to weed out undesirable
vendors based on performance indicators including defect
rate, pricing and discounts, turnaround time and validity
time of quotes, packaging integrity and delivery schedule,
technical skills and ability, flexibility, accessibility, and
responsiveness to queries. The evaluation results are
recorded in the Vendor Performance Evaluation Forms,
which are reviewed and approved by the CEO. The
Approved Vendor List is updated regularly based on the
evaluation results and unqualified vendors would be
removed from the list.

In addition, the Group puts emphasis on suppliers’
compliance with environmental and social laws and
regulations, which helps to identify and minimise risks
along its supply chain. Any non-compliance to relevant
laws and regulations discovered by the Group will be
promptly reported to the management. Corrective action
will be carried out to remediate the identified risks in a
timely manner.

Promoting Environmentally Preferable
Products and Services

The Group has adopted green procurement practices
suggested in the ESG Policy which aim at providing
the Product and Marketing Department with guiding
principles when making sustainable procurement
decisions. The Group strives to raise environmental
awareness in the supply chain by encouraging suppliers to
explore and implement innovative environmental practices.
Throughout the procurement process, higher preference
would be given to those suppliers adopting green
specifications and meeting the Group’s environmental
protection requirements. The above selection criteria are
clearly specified at the beginning of the procurement
process. Approved vendors are monitored and assessed
with the annual performance evaluation as detailed in the
paragraph above, with environmental protection as one
of the criteria.
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B6. Product Responsibility

B6. EmE(E

The Group places customer satisfaction as its top priority
and strives to keep up with the evolving needs of its
customers. The Group has established the “Product
Responsibility Policy” to standardise procedures for the
quality management of products and services. The Group
strives to establish and maintain good relationships
with customers, listen to their concerns, and surpass
their expectations with the Group’s premium quality. As
technology continues to advance, the Group will maintain
good customer communication and track changes in
customers’ behaviour and expectations.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling, and
privacy matters about products and services provided and
methods of redress that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include
but not limited to the “Consumer Protection Law (Law
no. 12/88/M)”, the “Personal Data Protection Act (Law
no. 8/2005)” of Macau, the “Cyber Security Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Data Security Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Civil Code of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Personal Information
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China” of the
PRC, the “Sale of Goods Ordinance (Chapter 26 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)”, and the “Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong)” of
Hong Kong.

Quality Assurance, Product Recall and
Complaint

The Group believes that stringent quality control is
critical to the Group's success and reputation. With the
commitment to delivering products that are safe and of
consistent quality, the Group ensures products are sold
in compliance with local rules and regulations related
to health and safety. The Group has put in place high-
standard quality control measures at various stages of
the Group’s work process, including project planning,
procurement of hardware, associated systems and
components, and project implementation to ensure
the quality of the work adheres to the contractual
requirements and customers’ specifications. In projects
where subcontractors are engaged, the Group takes steps
to ensure that their works conform to the requirements,
specifications, and timeline. The Group monitors the
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performance of its subcontractors through conducting on-
site reviews. Meanwhile, the subcontractors are required
to submit progress reports to the Group on a regular basis
to record and report the work completed by them.

If the products are defective upon arrival, the authorised
distributors of the system vendor in general would
unconditionally replace them with new products within
seven days of the delivery. In other cases, product repairs
or returns depend on the warranty purchased by the
Group's customers, the periods of which generally range
from one year to three years. The Group provides back-to-
back warranty to the Group’s customers accordingly.

During the Reporting Year, there were no products
recalled for safety and health reasons and no material
written complaints related to products and services
were received. As described in the section headed
“Accreditation and Awards” above, the Group was
honoured with awards such as the Certificate for
Qualification of Information Security Service Provider
in recognition of its commitment to delivering high-
quality networking solutions and services. In addition, the
Group's services and management systems have been
certified by the ISO. Moving forward, the Group will make
every effort to keep up its performance.

Privacy and Data Security

The Group is committed to respecting privacy rights and
protecting the personal information clients share with
the Group. Therefore, the Group has formulated the
“Policy on Data Protection and Privacy of Personal Data”
under its ESG Policy to set forth how the Group should
manage the personal data that it collects in the normal
course of business. The Group takes steps to ensure the
proper collection and use of personal data. The Group
grants data subjects reasonable access to their personal
data during normal working hours and upon reasonable
requests, and they are allowed to update and/or correct
any inaccurate information. As a precaution to mitigate
risks of data leakages and privacy breaches which may
lead to increased costs in addressing regulatory actions
and also potentially tarnishing the Group's reputation,
employees are required to sign non-disclosure agreements.
The Group will also take other reasonable precautions
to protect personal data from loss, misuse, unauthorised
access, disclosure, alteration, and destruction.
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The Group uses a self-assessment approach to assure
compliance with the privacy policy and periodically
verifies that the policy is accurate, comprehensive for
the information intended to be covered, prominently
displayed, completely implemented and accessible, and
in conformity with the principles. The Group encourages
interested individuals to raise any concerns regarding the
use and disclosure of personal data in accordance with
the principles. If a complaint or dispute cannot be resolved
through the Group'’s internal process, the Group agrees
to resolve it using a third-party resolution provider as a
method of redress.

As an enterprise providing IT solutions and cyber security,
data security is material to the Group’s business. Thus,
the “Staff Manual” provides guidelines relevant to
tackling potential threats such as hacking and cyber
phishing. Preventive measures on handling e-mails and
documenting files as well as setting passwords are set out
in the guidelines. Employees are provided with external
training and briefing sessions on data security by relevant
IT solution providers from time to time. Employees are also
encouraged to report suspicious situations in a prompt
manner.

Intellectual Property Rights

To protect the Group's intellectual property rights, the
Group has registered or made applications to register the
Group’s patents, copyrights, trademarks, and domain
names in different jurisdictions. As at 31 December
2024, the Group has registered 10 trademarks, 30
copyrights, 60 patents, and 8 domain names which are
material in relation to the Group’s business. Despite of
these, litigation may be necessary to protect the Group’s
intellectual property rights in certain circumstances.
The Group will continue to monitor to ensure that its
intellectual property rights are not being infringed upon.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group conducts limited advertising campaigns and
therefore does not involve any significant advertising-
related risks. Nevertheless, in terms of the advertisement
for products and services, the Group strictly regulates
and monitors its promotion materials to ensure that they
comply with advertising and labelling-related laws and
regulations. The Group also ensures all marketing and
promotion accurately reflect the quality of the Group'’s
products and services.
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B7. Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption is a crucial part of the Group’s principle
“We take corporate responsibility” which states that
“We set clear requirements for corporate responsibility
and ethics within the Group and for the Group's
business partners”. To establish trust with customers,
authorities, shareholders, and society, the Group upholds
professionalism, expertise, and high ethical standards
in all aspects of its work. The Group promotes a culture
of integrity, ethical conduct, fairness, honesty, and
openness when doing business while adopting a zero-
tolerance attitude towards any bribery, fraud, and money
laundering. The Group is committed to ensuring that no
bribes, kickbacks or similar gifts, payments or advantages
are solicited from or offered to any person for any
purposes. Aligning with the Group’s vision, core values,
and principles, the “Anti-Corruption Guidelines” has been
formulated to increase awareness of anti-corruption and
to enable employees across the Group to identify and
combat corruption effectively. Managers are responsible
for ensuring that employees familiarise themselves with
the guideline. Employees are therefore expected to
behave with care, integrity, and professionalism pursuant
to the guideline.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money-
laundering that would have a significant impact on the
Group. Relevant laws and regulations include but not
limited to the “Law on Prevention and Suppression of
Money Laundering Crimes (Law no. 2/2006)" of Macau,
the “Company Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China” of the PRC, and the “Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance” in Hong Kong. During the Reporting Year,
there was no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees.

RIR - HERERHRS

B7. RES

REASRAEE BARELEET]
RAINEZERES - RERPIYA
SEARTMEBAERFNEEREE
NBERRHAARER ] - BTHEP -
REEE  BRRMEEENEE A
SEAETENEED mERBEEER
- EEABESERETE - AKE
HBABHE  mERT - 2FRLE
WiERAM SR X - WEHEIRERE -
BEMARBTRERERBREE -
AEBHOBERYT S HER B K
RAEAA L (GRREREHR) EAIREE
EIHIsELRY) - MBI - B
AEERER  ZOBEERRA A
SEGIE T(REFER) - MRS Y
BEAMRE  TEEEENEEEN
RBRITEE)S - KRB EEERE
BREZER - BEEERRIRIEE)
FIEEME - [EE MEEEMITE -

RBEFE  AEBYTTMEBLME
RERUAEEENEATEEHE
B3R RAERAERENERE
oo EERFERBEETER
SRPICTER KB IR BEILENE
2/20065% A1) ~ REICHRZE AR HA
BIRAFNE)  (REARKEMBRE) -
(PEARAREMBERTNES HF
TR BB LEF ARG - RIREF
E - BEEHtHAEENHESR
AP B R B SRS -

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT

97



98

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREGRE

Preventive Measures

To facilitate employees to understand the importance of
anti-corruption, the “Anti-Corruption Guidelines” provides
a detailed definition on what constitutes corruption and
inappropriate benefits. Nobody may receive benefits from
the Group’s business contacts or give benefits to them if
such benefits are based on the employment relationship.
Persons in violation of the policies or applicable laws and
regulations may be subject to disciplinary or administrative
actions, as well as civil or criminal liabilities. The Board is
responsible for drawing up and making accessible training
materials to relevant employees to ensure compliance
when new laws and regulations that may impact the
business are introduced.

Training sessions are held at least once every year for
Directors and employees. During the Reporting Year,
Directors and employees of the Group participated in a
1-hour anti-corruption training organised by a professional
third party. Such training familiarises the Director with his
corresponding roles and responsibilities in anti-corruption
and business ethics, and helps cultivate employees’
awareness towards anti-corruption and a high standard of
professional conduct, facilitating compliance with the laws
and regulations in the operating locations of the Group.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

Anyone who becomes aware of an incident or situation
which appears to contravene the anti-corruption rules and
guidelines of the Group is encouraged to report orally or
in writing. The procedures of whistleblowing are set out
under the guidelines to facilitate employees’ reporting
of corruption incidents and misbehaviour. The Group
specifies consequences of breaches based on their type
and severity. All sanctions will be assessed by the human
resources manager or the Board before implementation.
The Group strives to review the effectiveness of the
whistleblowing mechanism regularly and enhance relevant
processes if necessary.
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B8. Community Investment

The Group attaches great importance to community
contribution, investment, and development. Therefore,
the Group has formulated the “Policy on Community
Investment” and established a voluntary team. The Group
strives to contribute to the sustainable development of
its operating communities, create shared benefits, and
improve the quality of life for those in need through
activities such as blood donation, elderly home visits,
donations, and charity walks. To encourage employees to
participate in community activities and uphold the Group's
vision to bear more social responsibilities, the Group
has launched the “Service Award Plan”, which provides
incentives for community contributions.

Besides, the Group pays attention to the concerns and
expectations of its key stakeholders regarding the Group’s
core social responsibility values, products, and services.
Approval, reporting, and monitoring mechanisms are in
place for the community investment procedures to further
enhance accountability and transparency, so as to ensure
effectiveness.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

In the Reporting Year, the Group joined hands with
the Civil Affairs Bureau of the Zone to launch an online
platform that offers volunteering information and updates
to citizens. Besides, the Group actively contributed to
social welfare and harmony. The table below summarises
the Group’s contributions:

Activities Organiser

4%& BT

&¢¢F rEEBEFFARRE
%ﬁ% HERRTRREHREREREE
MEREFNB LTS WEHRALS
N MAELESERER -« TREM
REEHEE -

Contribution

i

2024 Walk for a Million the Charity Fund of Readers of
Macao Daily News

2024 NEm e A BT BFEHREE A ARED
End Polio Charity Walk & Run the Rotary Club

RER /NGB R B A TRREE R b7t

Ka-Ho St. Jose School Mid- Rotary Club of Penha

autumn Festival Visit

JURBEEZERT U2 [EE=y=2N o pan

Blood donation Macao Health Bureau
A RPIEE R
Cyber-security Competition Peng Cheng Laboratory
WL THRE PR ER=

The Group will continue to embolden and support
the public by various means of social participation and
contribution as part of the Group’s strategic development.

=1 1§
Sponsored around MOP10,000
and participated in the 3.5-hour

walk
EBh4910,000i8F9 )T » £823.5/
REEXEED

3 employees with their families
donated MOP 5,000 and joined
the 2.5-hour walk

3% EI?%%J%TEWQFWS 000

- 8D 5/ NEEEAP)E B

6 employees visited the students
in the Ka-Ho St. Jose School to
show love and care

6HRETHRFIVREEZER - &
EFD

Employees donated blood
BT

Sponsored a special award — Hong
Kong and Macao Special Award

BB RIS — R Rl 82

ERASEEEERN—#D K&K
B EEARELE2EMERAN T
o BEMIHERR -
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RIE - HERERERS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX HXF(ESGEHREIESIYRNAED]

OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

MR ERE

Section

=z s

FH

Governance Structure

BIRRE

Reporting Principles

PE SRR A

Reporting Boundary
ME TR &0 E

ESG Governance Structure
ESGEALEE

About the ESG Report — Reporting Framework
RARESGHRE — SRS

About the ESG Report — Reporting Scope
FRESGHRE — S & [E

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

TEEE - B@ -
—REERERENIEE

Aspect A1: Emissions
EEA1 : BB

Description

fa

Section/Declaration

555/ B%

General Disclosure Information on: Emissions

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water

and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—MRIE BRBERMEERBYMN - MARL0OES BERESEENN Y

EEEN

@ BE: K

b) BTFHETAREATENREERAD

AR -
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — Air Emissions
FRETERAL BB AR B - B — RERBEI
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  Emissions — GHG Emissions

BESEEIZA1 2

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

B (BE1) kR (BE2) R EREHME A E) k(i@
B)ZE(WABEEEN - BEREHE)
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RIR - HERERHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

ELL G
TEEE  EBH -

—REBERERENER

KPI'A1.3

BSREIUEIRA1 3

Description

fat
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
ELRERENEE (AN E) R(MER)ZE(MASEEE

fi - SERIEHE) -

Section/Declaration

=8,/ 88

Emissions — Waste Management (Not
applicable — explained)

B - EENER(TER -
BRE)

KPIA1.4

BRENUEIZA1 4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEARZEEENEE UEHE) R(ER)ZE(NASESE
fi - SERIEE) -

Emissions — Waste Management

T -BEENERE

KPIA1.5

BSRIENUEIZA1S

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

WA LR BEE B R R BRI EL R BITRRN SR -

Environmental Targets, Emissions —
Air Emissions, Emissions — GHG
Emissions

RERE - P — RPN -
B — IR E RIEHEIR

KPI'A1.6

BIRENUEIZA16

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

HLEEAEREZRRYNIE - RERAAI L ARER R RAE
FELRRARERN SR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : EREA

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

Environmental Targets, Emissions —
Waste Management

REBR - EEYER

Use of Resources

—MRIE BRERER(OIER - K REMBEME)BECR o BiREA
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas  Use of Resources — Energy
or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Management

SR RAL.1

volume, per facility).

RENASMERR/SEEER(NE - Kah) @RE(ATET
REFE)REE(MASESEN - BRREHE)

BRER —RERERE

KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production ~ Use of Resources — Water
volume, per facility). Management
R ERUERA2.2 BRKEREE(NMASESEN BEREE) BRER-KERER
KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to  Environmental Targets, Use of
achieve them. Resources - Energy Management
R B RUERA2.3 W ATRT AR IREE P B IR R ARE R L B BT B - BHEAR  BRER-RER
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

TEER  E@ -
—REBERBRENESE #Hd

KPIA2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit ~ Environmental Targets, Use of
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Resources — Water Management
them.
HREIIERA24 HWASKEGERKR EATBERER - URAATVORKRGERERER RERR  EREA-—KBRER
EIELE ERRRE T
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if ~ Use of Resources — Use of Packaging
applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Materials (Not applicable -
explained)
B MIEEAL S SRR ORI E) RUNER) SEESMEE - AREA - BEMRER(TER -
CRE)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3  BRERAARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the  The Environment and Natural
environment and natural resources. Resources

—MRIE BEZETAHREIRAERELEAT BHOREK ° RERRABR

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment  The Environment and Natural
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Resources

IR B MIRIRAS HREREDHRERRAERNEATERCRKMEREHTEN RERKRER
18-

Aspect Ad: Climate Change

EBHEA4 - RIZEL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related ~ Climate Change
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

—MRIE FRREHE R R EHETAEEYENEARKHEBAEENE  RIRE(L
Eﬁ o

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have  Climate Change

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

BRI MIRIRALY WAEERAGEEHETAELYENEARKEESEE - REHTT RIRE(
o
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs Description
TEHE EH -
—-REERBRERER Hd

Aspect B1: Employment

Section/Declaration

EEB1 : &
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—MRIE AEFMLEE BERER  TERHE RE TEHe 21T ER
b« RIERE AR E 1538 R AR FIEY -
@ BE: R
(b) BFHETABEARZENEBERRAD
AR -
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or ~ Employment
part-time), age group and geographical region.
MR RUEIRB1.1 RIER - EEEL(N2BIRE) FRAMNRESNESR ER
e
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical ~ Employment - Recruitment,
region. Compensation, Promotion and
Dismissal
B R 2 RIS - FRR ROEHSOEE AL E - R — B - 0 - B AR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EEB2 : RERZ2

General Disclosure Information on:
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

—MREE BHREZ2THERERGRREEEHEHELLEEN
(@ B R

b) BETFHBITABEATENAEEEZREM

HYER} o

Health and Safety
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and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TEHE EBH -
—-REERBRERER Hd
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the  Health and Safety
past three years including the reporting year.
R ERUEIRB2.1 BE=F(BRERFE)SFRITHMABRLE - RREZE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
MR E M IRIRB2.2 RAIGEATERS - REZE
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and ~ Health and Safety — Measures on
how they are implemented and monitored. Occupational Health and Safety,
Health and Safety — Actions in the
Post Pandemic Period
MR ERUIETRB2.3 HIPTER AR B R R L 25 - ARBBRTREE RS - RERZ>-FHARERREL S

MG - R 2 — RIGRE
oI

Aspect B3: Development and Training

fEEB3 : BREKIEH

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging ~ Development and Training

duties at work. Description of training activities.

—MRIREE BRRTEE BT IERENAB R R « fHilEINES - Bl

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee  Development and Training - Training
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Programmes

RIRAE HE1RB3.1 RUFIREEEN(INBRAEEE PREEE)IINZIEERD BRIUEI-EIEE
L e

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and  Development and Training — Training

RS AIE15B3.2

employee category.

RIthI R EBERED - BRERTHE N TR -

Programmes

BRI —E 8

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EMEBA : B TRA

General Disclosure

—RBE

Information on: Labour Standards
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BEGIEETRAHETH : LT AR
(@ BX: Rk

b) BFUHBETABEAYENAEEEZRE

HYER} o
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
ELL G

TEEE  EBH -
—REERERENEE

Description

i

Section/Declaration

55,/ 89

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child  Labour Standards - Prevention of
and forced labour. Child and Forced Labour

HREBUIEERAN iR REREPIME AR RET RRHIZT - BTRA-FIEET RRHIST

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when  Labour Standards - Prevention of
discovered. Child and Forced Labour

MR B NIERBA.2 WRERRERBERSERERBRMRRE S o BIRA-BMIEETREHST

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[ETEBS : fiEHEE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

Supply Chain Management

—fREE ERHERNRERMERARYE AR E R

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

FIR R IR 1RB5. 1 RREDNHERHE - e E IR

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of ~ Supply Chain Management -
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they Procurement Mechanism
are implemented and monitored.

MR B RUE1RB5.2 W EBEAtEANEN  MERTEBENNHEREE - AR HEEEE KB
HERTREERE

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management — Supply

RARE NUIE1RB5.3

risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

ML ABRAfERSERENRE R SABNEN - ARBEH
IRERE -

Chain Environmental and Social
Risk Management

HIEREE —HERNRERILE
RkEE

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable  Supply Chain Management -
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are Promoting Environmentally
implemented and monitored. Preferable Products and Services

FIRERUEIRBS .4 HOIEREHERRREEZARRERRRGNEN - ARBERNT HEREE-RESARREMR

REFTA

R
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
NG Description Section/Declaration

TEER  E@ -

- REBRHERENER #HA =8,/ 88

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[ETEB6 : EMEE

General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

—MRIE BRMREERMRENRELELSE - B  REIMMEFEULE EmAE
KOTEE -
@ BE: Rk
(b) BFHETABEAZENEBERRRD
AR -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for  Product Responsibility — Quality
safety and health reasons. Assurance, Product Recall and
Complaint
BB AR AUIE1RB6.1 EESRERERAHTRL 2 BRFEAMARKNADLL - EmEE-E8RE  EniEK
Rk
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how  Product Responsibility — Quality
they are dealt with. Assurance, Product Recall and
Complaint
MR RIE1RB6.2 REARERRRBORFEE AREE X - ERET-EE8RE EmALK
RGi
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting  Product Responsibility - Intellectual
intellectual property rights. Property Rights
MR EUEEB6.3 Hi B A AR PR A E R B IRV 1B - EmET-MHER
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility — Quality
Assurance, Product Recall and
Complaint
R ENUERB6.4 i SR REREREWER o EnEE-EE8RE EmAOK
RGi
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how  Product Responsibility — Privacy and
they are implemented and monitored. Data Security
HIR B NUETRB6.5 HEBE ERHRE RALREBER - ARABERTRERENE - EmEE-RBLEBEZE

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT 107



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI - HEREGHRS

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

NG Description Section/Declaration
TEER - BH-

—-REBRBRENESE  #Hd

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EEB7 : RES

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption
(@) the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

—MRIE BRI IR - HR - BEFROAREMN REF
(@ BE: Rk
b) EFHETARERZENRBEERRD
KB o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought — Anti-corruption

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

BB R RUE1RBT 1 REGPNHEBTASEESREVETENETHFARGNEER RESF
FADEER ©
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, — Anti-corruption — Preventive
how they are implemented and monitored. Measures, Anti-corruption —
Whistleblowing Mechanism
PIREMIRIRRT 2 WP EEE R EREF  HERTRERTE REF BRI RET -8R
1
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. ~ Anti-corruption — Preventive
Measures
MR EMIRIRRT 3 HRMEERE TRENREFHE - K& — B
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

NG Description Section/Declaration
TEER - BH-

—-REBRBRENESE  #Hd

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the ~ Community Investment
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.

—MREE BANEES ,\XT%EELFﬁETiE ENBREERTHEZEM  HERE
& M = IR
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, ~ Community Investment — Corporate
labour needs, health, culture, sport). Social Responsibility
TR IEUEISBS. 1 DIEREE(NHE  RBESEE Ik BE Xt BF) HEREE-CELESEAR
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment - Corporate
Social Responsibility
BIRENIEIERS.2 EETHEMBAER(MSELIERH) - HERERE-PEMGRE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERS

The Board submits herewith this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2024.

COMPANY INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 18 February 2021 and
was registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) on
7 June 2021. The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange from 15
July 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business during the year, which includes
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, particulars of important events influencing
the Group, an indication of likely future developments in the
Group's business, and discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance and the relationships with its stakeholders,
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance
Report”, “Environmental, Social and Government Report” and
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report. The review
forms part of this directors’ report.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements, is set out on pages 227 to 229 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated financial results of the Group for FY2024 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial
position and note 43 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
FY2024 (FY2023: nil).

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chao (Chairman and CEQO)
Ms. Chiu

Ms. Lei

Mr. Ng

Non-executive Director
Mr. Li

INEDs

Mr. Man
Dr. U
Mr. Suen

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of each Director and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Chao, Ms. Chiu, Ms. Lei and Mr. Ng, being the executive
Directors, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.

Mr. Li, being the non-executive Director, has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date.

Each of Mr. Man, Mr. Suen and Dr. U, being the INEDs, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Service
Contracts”, no contract of significance was entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during FY2024 or subsisted at
the end of the year and no contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during
FY2024 or subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has adopted a Dividend Policy, details of which are
disclosed as follows:

Purpose

This Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines that the
Company will apply when considering the declaration and payment
of dividends to the Shareholders.

Principals and guidelines

The Board adopts the policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its Shareholder’s value.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders, subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Company and the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

e financial results;

e cash flow situation;

e business conditions and strategies;

e future operations and earnings;

e  capital requirements and expenditure plans;

e interests of Shareholders;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year
period:

° interim dividend;
e final dividend;
° special dividend; or

e any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash
dividend or scrip dividend or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Review of the Dividend Policy

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time
to time.

Annual general meeting

The 2025 AGM will be held on 20 June 2025. The notice of the
annual general meeting will be published and dispatched to
Shareholders in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERED MEMBERS

The Register of Members will be closed from Tuesday, 17 June
2025 to Friday, 20 June 2025, both days inclusive, for the purpose
of determining the identity of members who are entitled to attend
and vote at the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting
scheduled to be held on Friday, 20 June 2025. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer
forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 16 June 2025.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2024 are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
FY2024 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during FY2024 are set out in the consolidated statements
of changes in equity and note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium, retained
earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately following
the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to approximately HK$618.7 million (2023: HK$620.9
million).

There is no arrangement pursuant to which a Shareholder has
waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

BORROWINGS AND GUARANTEE

Details of borrowings from bank and other financial institutions of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

During FY2024, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior
management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules).
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 15 July 2022. Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sales of treasury shares) during the FY2024 and up to the
date of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 20 June 2022, the Company has conditionally adopted the Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is subject to,
the regulations under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected participants (i.e.
any director (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors) and full-time and/or part-
time employees of any member of our Group) with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
selected participants to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and the Shares for the benefit of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. The Share Option Scheme will provide the
Company with a flexible means of either retaining, incentivising,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits
to selected participants.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company (and to which the provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed
the Scheme Mandate Limit. Options lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. There is no
service provider sublimit under the Share Option Scheme.

The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time
subject to prior Shareholders’ approval. However, the Scheme
Mandate Limit as refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of the aforesaid Shareholders’ approval. Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share
schemes of the Company (and to which the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including those outstanding,
vested, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with its terms or exercised),
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
refreshed.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed the Individual Limit. Any further grant of options to a
participant which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such
participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant of
such further options exceeding the Individual Limit shall be subject
to Shareholders’ approval in advance with such participant and his
close associates (or his associates if such participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date, but in all other respects
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required
in accordance with the provisions of the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, determine the terms and
conditions of an option (if any), including the vesting date, vesting
period, any performance target or any other conditions, whether
restrictive or not, to an eligible participant as vesting conditions
pursuant to provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The amount payable for each share to be subscribed for under
an option in the event of the option being exercised shall be
determined by the Board but shall be not less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant; (i) the average closing prices
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date
of grant (provided that in the event that any option is proposed to
be granted within a period of less than five Business Days after the
trading of the Shares first commences on the Stock Exchange, the
Offer Price of the Shares for the Global Offering shall be deemed to
be the closing price for any Business Day falling within the period
before listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange); and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.
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Exercise of option

Subject to the terms and conditions upon which such option was
granted, an option may be exercised by the grantee at any time
during the option period, provided that:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

in the event that the grantee (being an employee or a director
of any member of the Group) ceases to be a participant under
the Conditions, the option shall lapse on the date of cessation
of such employment or engagement and not be exercisable
unless the Board otherwise determines in which event the
option shall be exercisable to the extent and within such
period as the Board may determine. The date of cessation of
employment of a grantee (being an employee and who may
or may not be a director of any member of the Group) shall be
the last actual working day on which the grantee was physically
at work with the Company or the relevant subsidiary, whether
salary is paid in lieu of notice or not;

in the event that the grantee dies before exercising the option
in full and none of the events for termination of employment
or engagement under the Conditions with respect to such
grantee, the personal representative(s) of the grantee shall be
entitled within a period of 12 months (or such longer period as
the Board may determine) from the date of death to exercise
the option up to the entitlement of such grantee as at the date
of death;

if a general offer for shares by way of voluntary offer, takeover
or otherwise (other than by way of scheme of arrangement
pursuant to item (iv) below) is made to all the holders of
Shares (or all such holders other than the offeror, any person
controlled by the offeror and any person acting in association
or concert with the offeror) and such offer becomes or is
declared unconditional prior to the expiry date of the relevant
option, the Company shall forthwith give notice thereof to the
grantee and the grantee shall be entitled to exercise the option
to its full extent or, if the Company shall give the relevant
notification, to the extent notified by the Company at any time
within such period as shall be notified by the Company;
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(iv)

(vi)

if a general offer for Share by way of scheme of arrangement
is made to all the holders of Shares and has been approved
by the necessary number of holders of Shares at the requisite
meetings, the Company shall forthwith give notice thereof to
the grantee and the grantee may at any time thereafter (but
before such time as shall be notified by the Company) exercise
the option to its full extent or, if the Company shall give the
relevant notification, to the extent notified by the Company;

in the event a notice is given by the Company to the
Shareholders to convene a Shareholders’ meeting for the
purpose of considering and, if thought fit, approving a
resolution to voluntarily wind-up the Company, the Company
shall forthwith give notice thereof to the grantee and the
grantee may at any time thereafter (but before such time as
shall be notified by the Company) exercise the option to its full
extent or, if the Company shall give the relevant notification, to
the extent notified by the Company, and the Company shall as
soon as possible and in any event no later than three days prior
to the date of the proposed Shareholders’ meeting, allot, issue
and register in the name of the grantee such number of fully
paid Shares which fall to be issued on exercise of such option;
and

in the event of a compromise or arrangement, other than
a scheme of arrangement contemplated in item (iv) above,
between the Company and the members and/or creditors being
proposed in connection with a scheme for the reconstruction
or amalgamation of the Company, the Company shall give
notice thereof to all grantees on the same day as it first gives
notice of the meeting to the members and/or creditors to
consider such a compromise or arrangement and the grantee
may at any time thereafter but before such time as shall be
notified by the Company exercise the option to its full extent
or, if the Company shall give the relevant notification, to the
extent notified by the Company, and the Company shall as
soon as possible and in any event no later than three days prior
to the date of the proposed meeting, allot, issue and register
in the name of the grantee such number of fully paid Shares
which fall to be issued on exercise of such option.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of
the grant of an option.

(iv)

(vi)
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The total number of options available for grant, hence shares
available for issue, under the Share Option Scheme is 50,000,000
which is 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of this annual report. As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December
2024 (being the beginning and the end of the financial year), the
total number of options available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limit and available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme were 50,000,000.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at Shareholders’ meetings.

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately 7.2 years.

No options were granted, vested, exercised, cancelled or lapsed by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December
2024 and there were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme during FY2024 and up to the date of this annual
report. A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme has
been set out in the section headed “D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company during FY2024 or subsisted at
the end of FY2024.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no time
during FY2024 was the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
and chief executives of the Company (including their spouses and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with
such a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Reporting Year or at any time during
Fy2024.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments (including the discretionary bonuses) of the
Directors and senior management of the Company are decided
by the Board with reference to the recommendation given by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individual in the Group are set out in notes 12 and 13
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

For FY2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
Fy2024.

The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme as
incentive for Directors and eligible employees. Details of the said
scheme are set out under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this annual report and “D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus. Except as disclosed above, no other
payments have been made or are payable, for FY2024, by the Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management’s remuneration, on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of office or appointment.
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Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group. Further details are disclosed in
the paragraph headed “Employees and Remuneration Policy” under
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2024, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
Director and/or its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters
as disclosed in the section headed "Directors’ Service Contracts” in
this annual report, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or in existence as at the end of the
year or at any time during FY2024.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
FY2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:

(i) Long position in Shares

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

EERFETHAERALQARH
MESEERRG - HERORER
AR RRE

MR2024F12A31H  EERARFEEZITHA
ERARFISHEREEZE(EXRBLHFNLPER
BIZEXVER) B9 n - MBI D REEFEPEEBIR
EEE NI E GG E352E B AR R GTHETER
BB IBIEEST RIBME AN A R REZFTH
BERARSHIINT

() RRONER

Number of  Approximate

Ordinary percentage of

Director/chief executive Nature of interest Shares held  shareholding
Fi%s LR

BEE TETBAE REmE BBEROHE ERESL
(Note 1) (Note 3)

Cia (B&E3)

Mr. Chao (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 315,116,750 (L) 63.02%

J& e A (F3E2) RiEHEE RS

(ii) Long position in the shares of the associated
corporations of the Company

(i) RARBEBEERONER

Approximate

Name of associated Capacity/ percentage of
Director/chief executive corporation Nature of Interest shareholding
EE TETBAE HEEE SR 54 ERtE BOFERESL
Mr. Chao Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited  Beneficial Owner 100%
Bk Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited Ez5#EA A
Notes: BT

1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. These 315,116,750 Shares are held by Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited.
Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Chao. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chao is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited.

3. The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e.
500,000,000 Shares).

1. FRILEZALREOTOFE -

2. #%%315,116,7508% % 5 BB Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings
Limited3¥% ° Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited f1 /&
KEREHRE - BIBEFFRIERD - BEER
A K Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited35 8 #9i% 1
B o

3. ZBENEHEBEZNRMDEEREA2024F 12
A318MEE/T D £ 8 (B1500,000,0000% %

n) e
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had, or were
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Company, as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, the following persons, other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, had an interest of 5%
or more in the Shares or underlying Shares:

B EXCATIREEESN - FA20245F12A31H &%
RARRBEZITHRA B WEN AR TSR
B (ExRBHLEEEAZEXVE) B, - 48
B REREEPEA SRR B REEF K
HA SIS DI 352 16BE AR R RETE N B e sk
R AEST BB A S A D R R B R ATAy () A i
MKB -

FERRREMALTRERTRSG
RAEBROHNERRAR

2024F 128318 » BEARQRIFTA - BARQ A
BAE AR S IENE336 AR FNE LM
Rk WTAT(BRESHI AR &ESITHAE
AN FARRAD S AB B RR (5 P B 5% 3 A _E R Es

Number of  Approximate
Ordinary percentage of

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held  Shareholding
P B4

BRER BB MY ZERGEE ERESL
(Note 1) (Note 4)
(MF3E1) (Fff5E4)

Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 315,116,750 (L) 63.02%

Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited BEmfEBAA

Ms. Wong Pui Fan (Note 2) Interest of a spouse 315,116,750 (L) 63.02%

=M a (FsE2) BB

Da Heng Qin (Macau) Limitada (Note 3) Beneficial owner 44,865,000 (L) 8.97%

AEZCRP) AR AR (MFES3) BE=BA

Zhuhai Da Heng Qin Group Limited* Interest in controlled corporation 44,865,000 (L) 8.97%

(Note 3)
HEREZEEEFR AT (FEE3) RIEHEE R
Mr. Ung Choi Kun Beneficial owner 27,776,000 (L) 5.56%

RIEERERE

* for identification purpose only

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

EnEEA

2024 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes:

1. The letter (L) denotes the person’s and/or entity’s long position in the
relevant Shares.

2. These 315,116,750 Shares are held by Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited.
Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Chao. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chao is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited. Ms. Wong Pui Fan is the spouse of Mr.
Chao and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 315,116,750
Shares held by Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited in which Mr. Chao is
deemed to be interested by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

3. These 44,865,000 Shares are held by Da Heng Qin (Macau) Limitada,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhuhai Da Heng Qin Group
Limited*. By virtue of the SFO, Zhuhai Da Heng Qin Group Limited* is
therefore deemed to be interested in the 44,865,000 Shares held by
Da Heng Qin (Macau) Limitada.

4. The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e.
500,000,000 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company was
not aware of any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During FY2024, the Group's largest customer accounted for 16.5%
of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 42.4% of the Group's total revenue.

During FY2024, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 11.7%
of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 42.0% of the Group's total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers or the Group'’s five largest customers.

* for identification purpose only
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During FY2024, details of significant transactions with its related
parties or transactions undertaken in the normal course of business
are set out in the note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
None of those transactions constitutes a disclosable connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

During FY2024, the Group has not entered into any connected
transactions.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

During FY2024, the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong
Kong are required to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
in Hong Kong. The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Macau
and the PRC are members of the government-managed retirement
benefits scheme operated by the local government. The employees
of both Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The information of Directors during FY2024 and up to the date
of this annual report that are required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are as follows:

- Ms. Chiu Koon Chi, the executive Director, has been appointed
as the director of administration department of Boardware HK
and is entitled to receive a monthly salary of HK$52,427 with
13-month salary. Such salary has been adjusted to HK$23,327
per month since 16 September 2024.

- With effect from 16 September 2024, Ms. Chiu Koon Chi has
been appointed as the director of administration department
of Boardware Macau and entitled to receive a monthly salary
of MOP30,000 with 13-month salary and discretionary bonus.
Such salary has been increased to MOP31,620 per month since
1 January 2025.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e
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—  With effect from 1 January 2025, the monthly salary of Ms.
Lei Sok Han, the executive Director, has been increased from
MOP54,000 to MOP55,620.

—  With effect from 1 January 2025, the monthly salary of Mr.
Ng Hong Kei, the executive Director, has been increased from
MOP54,000 to MOP55,620.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained the public float of
not less than 25% of the issued Shares as required under the Rules
Governing the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events after the end of the
Reporting Year and up to the date of this annual report that either
request adjustment to the financial statement or are material to the
understanding of the Group’s current position.

DONATIONS

During FY2024, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$0.1 million (FY2023: HK$0.2
million).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management
and independent auditor the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Company and the audited consolidated financial
statements for FY2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2024 were audited
by Deloitte, who will retire at the end of the forthcoming annual
general meeting, and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment.
A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte as the independent
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

For the three years prior to FY2024 and up to the date of this
report, save as the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers and
the appointment of Deloitte as the auditor of the Company on 10
November 2023, there has not been any change in the Company’s
auditors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environmental
and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.
The environmental policies and performances and the Company’s
relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and other
that have a significant impact on the Company and on which the
Company’s success depends are discussed in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For FY2024, the Company was in compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company in all
material aspects.

On behalf of the Board
Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

BEBREERSE

AEEBNRBEITHEEE - (RER TR
B’ RERFELOSEME  BRASEER K
FHRIRE  HGREAWME ]| —Hi5lwm T ARA
MERBBERMEZE - URARREET - 2F -
HEBMEAMHARRAEAZE ABRIAR
BRI R TR BER -

FEERERERER
20245 B4 - ADARFIAEAS BE BT
AR B EATENAMERTES «

EEEEW
FEHFEBITEE
BAR®E

0 202593 828H

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

i NVR R SCTE: S

Deloitte

To the Shareholders of BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 136 to 227, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a

FRRETEE
ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁr%lﬁxe?@ﬁ%i“mﬁ%%ﬂiﬁﬁ Y=V
A BRERNEBTAEEMNETE - BREE
qu%IEEAiM*qu%‘&f?E\Aﬁﬁ“#ﬁ?ﬁ&ﬁ/\ =
RESERIE o TeHERETETRIZHEREE

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide & °

a separate opinion on the matter.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition for provision of Professional IT
services

We identified the revenue recognition for provision of
Professional IT services, recognised over time under input
method by reference to the proportion of contract costs
incurred to date to the estimated total costs for each
contract, as a key audit matter, due to management
estimation required in the determination of the estimated
total costs and costs to complete the remaining
performance obligations of the contracts, which impact
the progress towards completion for revenue recognition.

The Group has recognised revenue for provision of
Professional IT services of HK$289,562,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024, out of which HK$279,012,000
is recognised over time under input method by reference
to the proportion of the contract costs incurred to date to
the estimated total costs for each contract, as disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

As set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognises revenue for provision
of Professional IT services according to the management’s
estimation of the estimated total costs and costs to
complete the remaining performance obligations of the
contracts. The progress towards completion of revenue
recognition is measured based on the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligations
relative to the estimate total costs to the satisfaction of
those performance obligation.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition for
provision of Professional IT services included:

e  Obtaining an understanding of the relevant key
controls over revenue recognition for provision of
Professional IT services;

e  Reviewing contract terms, on a sampling basis,
and evaluating whether the basis of the revenue
recognition is in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies;

e Agreeing projects’ contract sum to signed contracts
with customers, on a sampling basis;

e Obtaining an understanding of the process of
developing the management’s estimates on the
estimated total costs, and evaluating, on a sampling
basis, against relevant supporting documents or
evidence;

e Interviewing the project managers, and reviewing
correspondence and/or acceptance by customers to
understand the completion status as well as progress
towards complete satisfaction of selected contracts;

e Comparing the actual cost incurred during the year,
on a sampling basis, to the relevant supporting
documents from subcontractors and suppliers, as
well as the payroll records, to ensure the validity and
accuracy of the contract costs incurred; and

e Testing the mathematical accuracy of revenue
recognised during the year, on a sampling basis,
based on total contract revenue, estimated total
costs, and actual contract costs of selected projects
incurred during the year.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B TR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan, Alan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeREMEMEENAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B Z2024F 1231 HIFFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FBT
Revenue U 5 648,012 717,595
Cost of sales and services HE KRB (523,215) (601,948)
Gross profit EF 124,797 115,647
Other income EugA 7 17,405 8,169
Distribution and selling expenses DI RIHERX (44,040) (32,323)
Administrative expenses TE R (78,254) (71,842)
Research and development expenses R (18,385) (10,037)
Impairment losses under expected credit TEHI(S & EIEER T BRI E
loss model, net of reversal B8 (kR D) 8 154 (453)
Other gain and loss, net Hib e REEFEE 9 1,509 (885)
Finance costs BB RN 10 (1,577) (830)
Profit before tax BREE AR T 1,609 7,446
Income tax expense FSRiHAX 14 (657) (2,944)
Profit for the year FREF 11 952 4,502
Other comprehensive (expense) Hith2E (R WA
income
Item that will not be reclassified to BT EE D EE B EE -
profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of property Y E LA - 710
Jtem that may be reclassified HREs e E 7 EE18am A
subsequently to profit or loss: EH :
Exchange differences arising on MEIBINETEPRE £ 8
translation of foreign operation PE N =% (1,033) (207)
Other comprehensive (expense) income R E M2 mE (FIs) YA
for the year (1,033) 503
Total comprehensive (expense) FREE (X)W AHLLE
income for the year (81) 5,005
HK cents HK cents
AL AL
Earnings per share BREF 15
— Basic — =K 0.19 0.90
- Diluted —#E N/ATERA N/AZT i A

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FE IR R

As at 31 December 2024

FR2024F 12 H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
BaE FExT FiBT
ASSETS BE
Non-current Assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WEKEE 16 27,839 9,332
Investment property WEMZE 17 4,681 4,939
Right-of-use assets PHEEE 18 14,925 10,088
Intangible assets BmAE 19 2,166 776
Interest in a joint venture R—EEEENER 15 -
Deferred tax assets RIEFIEEE 20 612 1,567
Finance lease receivables RbE M E IR 21 5,799 9,941
Contract assets BHEE 22 8,926 7,352
FVTPL RATERG ABRE 109 109
Deposits and prepayments e RTENHIA 24 9,212 29,617
74,284 73,721
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories rE 23 13,472 21,928
Deposits, prepayments and other &~ TR IR EMEW
receivables FE] 24 81,639 65,936
Contract costs BRI 25 8,487 3,901
Finance lease receivables A E R FIE 21 6,047 6,484
Contract assets BHEE 22 141,255 148,594
Trade receivables B S rEE 24 163,871 179,906
Tax recoverable AI EF IR = 883
Pledged bank deposits BHEAIRITIFR 26 10,734 53,317
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEED 26 85,872 28,733
511,377 509,682
Total Assets BEHAEE 585,661 583,403
2024 FEHRE o FHEEEMEERQAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

- s 3
e E
As at 31 December 2024
F2024F 12 H31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET T
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EZREE
Capital and Reserves B0 K=
Share capital N 27 5,000 5,000
Share premium and reserves RS 1732 (8 M (b 330,947 331,028
Total Equity RSB 335,947 336,028
Non-current Liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEBaE 29 5,759 4,018
Contract liabilities AHEE 30 7,847 2,807
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIBEEE 20 56 1,224
13,662 8,049
Current Liabilities REERE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAERFRIA 31 178,195 190,942
Contract liabilities A4IEE 30 33,047 26,678
Amount due to a joint venture ErREERENIE 15 -
Lease liabilities HeEa’ 29 9,024 7,139
Tax payable JERTRIE 1,075 3,515
Borrowings & 32 14,696 11,052
236,052 239,326
Total Liabilities BEHEE 249,714 247,375
Total Equity and Liabilities BEZREE 585,661 583,403

The consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to 227 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

CHAO KA CHON
BAR®%
Director

EF

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
pey e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BL22024F 1231 HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
KRAHEAEE
Share Share Capital Legal Revaluation  Exchange Retained
capital premium reserves reserve reserve reserves profits Total
Bx  REE  EARE  iERE  EMRE 0 EXRE  REER @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T BT THL TAT TAT TAT TAT
(Note 1) (Note 2)
1) (Fitst2)
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A1A 5,000 168,033 1,024 12 - (2,376) 159,330 331,023
Profit for the year ERgf] - - - - - - 4,502 4502
Gain on revaluation of property IS - - - - 710 - - 710
Exchange differences arisngon ~ BERIFEHEEH
translation of foreign operation ~ EXZE - - - - - (207) - (207)

Total comprehensive income ~ £A2ERA(ER)

(expense) for the year a5 - - - - 710 (207) 4,502 5,005
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 5,000 168,033 1,024 12 710 (2,583) 163,832 336,028
Profit for the year ERgf] - - - - - - 952 952
Transfer to legal reserve ERTETRE = - = 2410 = = (2.410) =
Exchange differences arisingon ~ AERNEBHELN

translation of foreign operation ~ EREE = = = = = (1,033) = (1,033)

Total comprehensive income  £A2ERA(RR)

(expense) for the year ag - - - 2,410 - (1,033) (1,458) (81)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 5,000 168,033 1,024 2,422 710 (3,616) 162,374 335,947
Notes: B 5T
1. Capital reserves represent the paid-in capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant 1. BAFEEEARBRMNH2022F7 158 LHaIREE

to the reorganisation prior to the listing of the shares of the Company on 15 July AREERBRRNEHER -
2022.

2. In accordance with Macau Commercial Code, companies limited by quotas 2.  RERFIEZEL - FRFIEMEZRAHER IO A

incorporated in Macau should set aside a minimum of 25% of the entity’s profit AIARERBRBGENBERL2%2ETERHE  BEE
after tax to the legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches a level EBEREBUEE R E B ERS0%MKFE o

equivalent to 50% of the entity’s capital.

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT 139



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FRRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 2202412931 HILFZE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReETEE
Profit before tax BRI A 1,609 7,446
Adjustments for: R
Amortisation of intangible assets | A E 944 871
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERREBITE
equipment 7,305 5,861
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9,242 9,103
Exchange gains, net P& & U e F 58 (1,150) (254)
Finance costs BhE RN 1,577 830
Impairment losses under expected credit loss ~ JEERE EEIERA T HREE B
model, net of reversal (¥0BREEE]) (154) 453
Interest income FBUA (2,738) (2,247)
Write-down (write-back) of inventories FEMUR (B E) 2,113 (744)
Loss from change in fair value of investment & WE N EEENEE
property 125 -
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESEIINCERERE
working capital 18,873 21,319
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables B G eI IE R A (3E 1) 15,326 (33,221)
Decrease (increase) in contract assets BHEERLDGEM) 5,828 (66,923)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and other &% + FE{ 78 K EAth FE U 7B
receivables 0 (7,491) (20,568)
Increase in contract costs B AR ARIE B (4,586) (1,075)
Decrease in inventories FERD 6,342 35,441
Decrease (increase) in finance lease receivables && M & & IER 2> (38 HN) 5,372 (1,895)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables & 5 K H b FE1 28 Gl ) 80 (12,754) 55,465
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities AHEaBERINCRD) 11,426 (58,813)
Cash generated from (used in) operations LS (AR 38,336 (70,270)
Income tax paid ETFTER (2,431) (5,365)
Interest received BUFE 404 207

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING RETHAB (A RESFHE

ACTIVITIES 36,309 (75,428)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZED
Interest received EFE 1,801 1,257
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB « HE &% (13,740) (3,966)
Purchases of intangible assets BERFEE (2,342) (65)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERAFESABENEREE = (109)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REBEERRITFR 50,000 50,000
Placement of pledged bank deposits FABERRITER (7,636) (50,000)
Repayment from non-controlling interest FEVEAR A 2R R K = 4

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING REFTBMEB(FTA)RESFE
ACTIVITIES 28,083 (2,879)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BV Z2024F 12 A31 HIFFE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest paid ERFE (1,490) (806)
New borrowings raised EEMIER 39,495 11,097
Repayments of borrowings BEER (35,552) -
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEERE (9,619) (8,793)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING BEEE(FTA) TR FE
ACTIVITIES (7.166) 1,498
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND HRERHESZEWEIMCGHEL)
CASH EQUIVALENTS HEE 57,226 (76,809)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT MAB1BNRERASEEY
1 JANUARY 28,733 105,519
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNENE R FFH T E (87) 23
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R1I2A3MANEERES
31 DECEMBER ZEY
represented by bank balances and cash EIRITIHHBIEIAS 85,872 28,733
2024 FEHRE o FHEEEMEERQAT

141



142

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IR RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZ2024F 1231 HIFF/E
1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on Stock Exchange. Its ultimate parent is Tai Wah (BVI)
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and is wholly-owned by Mr. Chao. The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are provision of Professional
IT services, Managed services, IT equipment leasing, IT
maintenance and consultancy services, and distribution and
resale of packaged hardware and software in Macau, Hong
Kong and the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$,
which is also the functional currency of the Company.

—REH
AAREREHESEFMA T AEREER
DA RIDEBRATET - HREE QT
/Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited @ 8% 2 A
RABREXFHSEMAY BALEEE
A - ARBAMRERERFEEEME
i BAERF RN B AR —EHRE

ARABFEZERRR - EMBARMNE
REBR/IORF - FERTBEERHEERITR
% ERS  TREBHE - THENESR

ARTS - AR S REEERB A R -
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HIThRERHS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the

IASB for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the

Group's annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements
IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group's financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

RS I IS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 HIFF/E
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RAFERHERNERT B RS
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RAREE » REED &R ER T bR
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1 B FiA 89 S HA R 58 ) A2 2 B R B 795
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

2.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification
IFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Amendments to IFRS 9 and  Contracts Referencing Nature-
IFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 113

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Except for the new and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of new and amendments to
IFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying
forward many of the requirements in IAS 1, introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors and IFRS 7 Financial Instrument: Disclosure.
Minor amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS
33 Earnings per Share are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit
or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS
18 on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 HIFF/E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include

3. REVBBRRNEREEREKX
BITERER

3.1 REMBHRRNVEREE

REVBHRRERERE S ERE
EZEEMNBRYBHREER G E
RS - RBEGAMBEHRERME
HEBENSBERHEYET2EM
EEHRRE  AABERREAE
Ko Wsh  SREFBHRREBELTR
AIREERTRAIRENERRES

applicable disclosures required by the Listing Rules and by I8 o

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going

AATEFEIERAS MHERES -
AEERA LB E BN KRE R
WERRHEEE - Bt NEREE
IS IRERES - S B S e
CHEC T

concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated

financial statements.

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is

achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its o

involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. o

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are

3.2 EXEEBEER
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BB RIS RET EX RS
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changes to one or more of the three elements of control g AASEEeEMTHHEREY
listed above. RERTIEEIESIRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZ2024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BHRRMNGREERE KX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 2 BERER @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFHERER @)

148

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating
to contracts with customers is provided in note 5.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, contract costs
and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful
lives and contract costs to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, contract costs
and intangible assets (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for
assets capitalised as contract costs under IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers, the Group assesses and
recognises any impairment loss on other assets related
to the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable
standards. Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets
capitalised as contract costs is recognised to the extent
the carrying amounts exceeds the remaining amount
of consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for related goods or services less the costs
which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the
carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which
they belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of
that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #REaHBHRENGFHREEREX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

SEBERE R @)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFHERER @)

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, contract costs
and intangible assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a specific
identification method or weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to
the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and restricted deposits that are held for meeting
short-term cash commitments. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #REaHBHRENGFHREEREX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

SEBERE R @)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFHERER @)

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale,
except for freehold land, which is always presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, ultimate costs incurred
for provisions for restoration the Group applies IAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities, the
provisions for restoration and the related assets separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BHRRMNGREERE KX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 2 BERER @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFHERER @)
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(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the MPF Scheme for staffs in Hong Kong,
retirement pension schemes for staffs in the PRC and
central social security scheme for staffs in Macau are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another IFRS Accounting Standards require or
permit the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Leases
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 Leases
at inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZ2024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BHRRMNGREERE KX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 2 BERER @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFHERER @)

156

(continued)

Leases (continued) HE®)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBIERAA (4#)
Right-of-use assets (continued) EREEE@E

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
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the cost of right-of-use assets. P REEE 2B
Lease liabilities HESE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at
amounts equal to net investments in the leases, measured
using the interest rate implicit in the respective leases.
Initial direct costs for leases in which the Group is the
dealer lessor are recognised in costs of sales at the
commencement date of the finance leases. Interest
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect
a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

OISR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #REaHBHRENGFHREEREX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

SEBERE R @)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFHERER @)

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
other receivables, deposits, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances) and other items (including contract
assets and finance lease receivables) which are subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZ2024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e BHRRMNGREERE KX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 2 BERER @
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFHERER @)
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(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(continued)

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(continued)

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables and contract assets using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For finance lease receivables, the cash
flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with
the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with IFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and certain
contract assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amount due to a joint venture and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZ2024F 1231 HIFF/E
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition from provision of
Professional IT services

Revenue from Professional IT services is recognised over
time under input method according to the progress towards
completion of each individual contract, which is measured by
reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred to date
to estimate total costs. The recognition of contract revenue
requires significant management judgement and involves
estimation uncertainty. Estimated costs mainly comprise
material costs, subcontracting charges and project staff costs.
In order to ensure the total estimate costs are accurate and up
to date such that contract revenue can be measured reliably,
management reviews the estimate total costs, costs incurred
to date and costs to complete the remaining performance
obligations for each contract regularly and revises the estimate
total costs when necessary. As such, the increase or decrease in
estimate total costs results in the adjustments to the progress
towards completion and the corresponding amount of revenue
recognised in the period.

GBEMBBRERNEREEREK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables, finance
lease receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets
with significant balances and credit-impaired are assessed for
ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on certain trade receivables and contract assets which are
not assessed individually using a collective basis. The provision
rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group's historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables,
finance lease receivables and contract assets are disclosed in
note 34.

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

A TABEENEZRR @

EZEWHE  MEREEKKE
RENEENEREEBERRE
ABBEAGEHEDREEREDE S EKR
OB MEAMEEWHKERANEERES
TR E A -

AN RETREBTEHNE 5 EUKEKIEA
RAERNEE  AEERBEHEEEEA
SREEQAMGEHEENEERE - &
BEAZBREFANRRSEE  XEE
AEBHELZORNER N HEINKA
BN A EEHEIE R R A AT
EE - REWEAH  ABERNELEY
KGEHNE - Wt RAEEERNES) -

BMEERERER XA EINT
2 FHBENEEER A5XEEZREK
FE - BMEHERUKEARAGNEENE
S EENHFES -

REVENUE g
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers KB & F & LRI 638,694 707,172
Lease income from IT equipment ITEREFTSHE WA 9,318 10,423
Total st 648,012 717,595
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W@

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () BEFEANKESE
with customers

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Types of goods or services Em AR E Bl
Enterprise IT solutions EITHRAT R
Professional IT services (Note) FHZETHRE (FIFE) 289,562 379,227
Managed services LB R 51,826 27,715
IT maintenance and consultancy IT#EE & R A ARTS
services 51,745 49,235
393,133 456,177
Distribution and resale i REE
Distribution o= 118,155 123,372
Resale EeE 127,406 127,623
245,561 250,995
Total “Et 638,694 707,172
Note: An amount of HK$279,012,000 (2023: HK$371,039,000) MizE © 279,012,000 # Jt ( 2023 £
included under Professional IT services is recognised over 371,039,000 7T ) 5 A B ITAR
time under input method by reference to the proportion of % - IBIRE A ER — BRI A
contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total costs. R ERELSEENEDNAME
MBI ARILL A o
An analysis of the Group’s revenue by timing of REBRBTRAEENOEEESH
satisfaction of performance obligation is as follows: WEHSFT :
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Timing of revenue recognition U s R RS
A point in time A — 2 267,399 266,690
Over time R—EB R 371,295 440,482
Total HaEt 638,694 707,172
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS I IS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE
5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WEm
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () BEFEANKED B @
with customers (continued)
Geographical markets I 77 %
The following table sets out the Group's revenue TREVNEAEBLCEMERR
from external customers by geographical location as EFAEEEMES DN AEERE
determined by the country/region of domicile which the HNEBE P NS o AN E IR A IR
Group operates. The geographical location of revenue UEENRRHURENEENYIELE
of the Group is based on the physical location of assets IRNEMHLE °

through which the services were provided or the location
at which the goods were delivered.

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Macau JEPY 461,179 439,577
Hong Kong B 143,343 145,550
The PRC s 34,172 122,020
Others Hit - 25
Total et 638,694 707,172
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

5. W=
(i) EEAHNBHNEERKERE

customers and revenue recognition policies

Revenue from provision of Professional IT
services

The Group provides multiple deliverables to customers,
including network configuration, assessment of system
specifications and requirements, procurement and delivery
of packaged hardware and software, installation of
equipment and software, and technical support services
under fixed price contracts. These multiple deliverables
are collectively accounted for as a single performance
obligation when the Group provides an integrated service.

The Group recognises revenue from provision of the
integrated service over time as its customers control the
asset being created or enhanced arising from the Group’s
performance. Revenue is recognised over time under
input method, which is by reference to the proportion of
contract costs incurred to date to estimate total costs for
each contract.

Estimates of costs or extent of progress towards
completion are revised if circumstances change. The
progress towards completion of revenue recognition
is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of the performance obligation relative
to the estimate total costs to the satisfaction of those
performance obligation. The increase or decrease in
estimate total costs results in the adjustments to the
progress towards completion and the corresponding
amount of revenue recognised in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision become known
by management.

Upon the completion of the integrated service, the
Group may provide further provision of IT maintenance
and consultancy services to the customers mainly
includes post-sales on-site maintenance support and
technical support services which is considered as separate
performance obligations. Such revenue is recognised over
time on a straight-line basis over the period of services as
the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance.
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ERERITIRE S War
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AT T EN A 2 REIFTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 HIFF/E

5. W=
(i) EEAHNNBRNEERKERE

5. REVENUE (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies
(continued)

Revenue from provision of Professional IT
services (continued)

Where the contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on the relative stand-alone
selling prices. Where these are not directly observable,
they are estimated based on expected cost plus a margin
approach.

The Group also separately provides its customers with
software development services where the Group will
customise the software based on the user requirements of
the customers. Revenue is recognised at a point in time as
the Group’s customers control the asset only after delivery
to the customers.

Revenue from provision of Managed services
The Group leases certain IT equipment to its customers
under finance lease arrangements and renders related
technical support services under fixed price contracts.
Where the contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the Group as a lessor will separate the
components of a contract and the transaction price will
be allocated to each component based on the relative
stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on the expect cost
plus a margin approach.

Revenue from related technical support services is
recognised in the accounting period when the Group
provides the service and all of the benefits are received
and consumed simultaneously by the customer
throughout the contract period. Therefore, the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue
over time. The Group’s accounting policy as a lessor is set
out in note 3.

The Group also provides its customers with security
monitoring services to protect customers’ information and
data security as well as network operating environment.
The Group applies time based method to measure
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation when the Group has a stand-
ready obligation to make itself available to provide the
services to the customers over a period of time.

FABUR ()
FEREEITIRF B 725 (%)

HMENBEEZHEENET RPER
REABBIEEIEESBNE
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T EEBRES @ RIRERERHKA
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

5. W=
(i) EEAHNBHNEERKERE

customers and revenue recognition policies
(continued)

Revenue from provision of IT maintenance
and consultancy services

The provision of IT maintenance and consultancy services
mainly includes on-site support and technical support
services provided to the customers and post-sales
maintenance and support services provided by system
vendors under extended warranties.

For revenue from IT maintenance and consultancy services
excluding extended warranties is recognised over time
on a straight-line basis over the period of services as
the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance. The Group
applies time-based method to measure the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation when the Group has a stand-ready obligation
to make itself available to provide the services to the
customers over a period of time.

For extended warranties, the Group acts as an agent as
the Group is not the primary obligor in fulfilling such
additional promises and the corresponding revenue is
recognised on a net basis at a point in time.

Revenue from distribution and resale of
packaged hardware and software as a
separate performance obligation

The Group sells a range of packaged IT hardware and
software. Revenue from distribution or resale of packaged
hardware and software is recognised at a point in time
when sale is completed and control is transferred, being at
the point of time the products delivered to the customer’s
specific location and no unfulfilled obligation could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products. Transportation
and other related activities that occur before customers
obtaining control of the related products are considered as
fulfilment activities.

A receivable is recognised by the Group when the
products are delivered to the customers as this represents
the point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.
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5. REVENUE (continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

5. W=
(i) MEFANBXRBERIE T
BTENEME

HZE2024%F K2023F12A318 © i
EHRT(REREIBOARATER)BEHE
AR S B R A T8 585
s

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHETT

Within one year —FR 58,823 50,460
More than one year but not more than 8@ —F{E BB E

two years 13,585 19,252

More than two years R E 7,492 8,106

79,900 77,818

(iv) Leases

During the year, the Group recognised selling profit
of HK$2,113,000 (2023: HK$1,643,000), being the
difference between revenue and the cost of sales, as a
dealer lessor.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Directors, being the CODM, for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment focuses on
revenue analysis by products and services. No other discrete
financial information is provided other than the Group’s results
and financial position as a whole. Accordingly, entity-wide
disclosures, major customers and geographic information are
presented.

(iv) HE
FRN - NEBERHEERF2,113,000
77T (20234F 1,643,000 7T) » BIYE
AR SEEREA - WS EEE KR

6. oHER
MEE(NIBRLREAZRABET
BRD TR T8 BRI B R E SRR
TV B DT - B AR B A BB R
RIS - IR E B A
e E ERREEREBEEE X228
B R Ak o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @
Geographical information wEER
The Group's operations are located in Macau, Hong Kong and REBREEMINRPT - EBRFE -
the PRC.
Information about the Group’s revenue from external REBIREINTFEF RS 2 ERHBIRL
customers is presented based on the location of the operations. EREHEY - BEASENIERDEE
Information about the Group’s non-current assets other than (2RI EAERBEEMRIBEEERIN ERTY
financial instruments and deferred tax assets is presented based EREEMTEYEMLERENILEERNZ
on the physical location of the assets or the location of the BRI EHET -

operations to which they are allocated.

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REPEEF KR FERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023

20244 20234 20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T FET T

Macau P 470,497 450,000 40,147 30,552
Hong Kong B 143,343 145,550 8,091 7,827
The PRC 1 34,172 122,020 14,638 10,734
Others EAtb - 25 34 -
648,012 717,595 62,910 49,113
Information about major customers FEEFHNEHR
Revenue from external customers of the corresponding years IUTNABEFEREEAEBHAWZE
contributing over 10% or more of the total revenue of the RR10% LA LB SNERE P B I as

Group are as follows:

2024 2023

2024F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FA&T

Customer A EPA —* 86,246

Customer B =B —* 85,601
Customer C EBFC 107,170 —*
Customer D ZFD 74,381 —*
*  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the * HE2024F 2023F 128318 ILFE - M
total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December JE W 2 9 7R £ B 48 o 2 9 B RA SR 3 10% A

2024 and 2023. Fo
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OTHER INCOME

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

7. HagA

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT
Government grants (Note (7)) BT Bh (BREx)) 9,038 4,921
Incentives from vendors for marketing ~ Fh& $5/ESHIL (LB IES Y
events (Note (ii)) H2Rh (B (i) 1,511 835
Interest income on: FBUA -
— bank deposits —RITER 1,985 1,464
— finance lease receivables — R EREEINIA 749 586
- financing components in relationto ~ —HEEFAHBEHEE DS
contracts with customers 4 197
Others HAtb 4,118 166
17,405 8,169
Notes: BaE

U]

(ii)

During the year, a city in the PRC, where one of the subsidiaries
operates, has granted financial subsidies amounting of
HK$3,806,000 (2023: HK$4,096,000) to businesses in the
technological sector that are operating within the designated
area for regional growth.

During the year, the Science and Technology Development Fund
has granted financial subsidies amounting of HK$4,558,000
(2023: HK$812,000) to commercial enterprises registered in
Macau that are engaged in research and development activities.

Certain vendors of the Group have agreed to grant certain
amount of incentives to reward the Group for hosting marketing
events that promote business activities and opportunities in
relation to their brands.

iy TR Hb—HEHBRRKEENENTER
WMERMEETRELEENRIRITENE
2 {4 B 1B 8 B 3,806,000 7T (2023 4F ¢
4,096,000/87T) * LR RIEIZE -

FR MRERESCARRPEML
R ET R0 R DRI H I B RS
4,558,000/ 7T (20234 : 812,000 7T) °

(i)  AEEETHERRZRL—FRZEIAE
BIREESETEHRDEEES REENR
miE A e -
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ISR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B Z2024F 12831 HIFFE

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 8. FEHiI=EEFEEERXRTHHEEE
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL (fO0BREEME)

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T

Impairment losses (reversed) recognised (2 %8l ) B FERAR EE51E

on:
— trade receivables — 8B S RENFE 3) 620
— contract assets —BHEE (107) (260)
— finance lease receivables —BEHERKFIR (44) 93
(154) 453
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34. REE RSN MIEE34 -
9. OTHER GAIN AND LOSS, NET 9. Hih=m R EEFEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FHT T
Loss from changes in fair value of BEMENTESBEE
investment properties (125) -
Net foreign exchange gains (losses) SNEUR 25 (518 ) F 58 1,634 (885)

1,509 (885)
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10. FINANCE COSTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

10. @E R A

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$’'000

FHT T

Interest on borrowings Ep7eRS) 942 109
Interest on lease liabilities HEREFE 618 703
Other finance costs HEh g & A 17 18
1,577 830

. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

1. FRER

S PRI (A A TSR, -

2024 2023
20245

20234
HK$'000
TH&T

HK$°000
TR

Auditors’ remuneration IZE BN <

— Audit services —ZE R 2,100 2,293

— Non-audit services — IEZEURTS 108 98
Amortisation of intangible assets B R ERH 944 871
Cost of inventories sold and services BEFEMBIRERBAKA

provided 475,113 562,343
Depreciation of property, plant and Mm% - BELRBITE

equipment 7,305 5,861
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 9,242 9,103
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAX(RIEESEME KR

(including directors’ emoluments BAETEIER )

and contributions to retirement

benefits scheme) 136,869 112,149
Expense relating to short-term leases EEEEMNRAT 225 175
Write-down (write-back) of inventories 12 SR (@) 2,113 (744)

2024 FEHRE o FHEEEMEERQAT

177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 2202412931 HILFZE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIBEA LR REB R BRI R
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong REEEERTEITHAEFMOT -

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
2024 20245

Other

emoluments

paid or

Social  receivablein

security  connection

Pension fund, with the

costs- allowances  management

Sales defined and other  of the Group

Director's Salaries  Discretionary ~ commission  contribution employee orits

fee  and wages honus expense plan benefit  subsidiaries

HftBf#e

e HEALE

REES.  FEKEAF

BikeRA-  BERHEE  EEERY
EEpe  HeRIE MERA  HERSMX ARl EaEH felzo8 a3t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tixn TR TR TEn TER TR TR

Executive Directors 7S

Mr. Chao Bk 120 630 291 - - 2,906 - 3,947

Ms. Chiu Bt 120 a3 - - 1" - - 574

Ms. Lei 34t 120 680 91 115 - 1 - 1,007

Mr.Ng R4 120 680 91 58 - 1 - 950

Non-executive Director FYTES

Mr. Li ik = = = = = = = =

INEDs BUFHES

Mr. Man p G 180 - - - - - - 180

Mr. Suen B4 180 - - - - - - 180

DrU FEL 180 - - - - - - 180
1,020 2433 473 173 1" 2,908 - 7018

The executive Directors shown above were for their services FHHTEENHE AESERER AT

in connection with the management of the affairs of the RAEEEBAREERBME

Company and the Group.

The INEDs’ emoluments shown above were for their services as LB ERTEENNE ABRFEEE

Directors. ETREREEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BElZ2024F 12731 HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERIETHAEME @
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
2023 20234

Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable in
Social security connection
fund, with the
Pension allowances  management
costs — defined and other  of the Group
Salaries  contribution employee orits
Director's fee and wages plan benefit  subsidiaries
HiE S
e %
REEE . HHf
RIEHKA- REREM  ERAEN
EEE  HERIE AEMGE EER=H FEMOE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TAT TET TAT TET TAET

Executive Directors ~ #{7EE

Mr. Chao BksE 120 630 - 2,907 - 3,657
Ms. Chiu fiche g 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Lei EY o 120 592 - 270 - 982
Ms. Ng R%HE 120 592 - 177 - 889
Non-executive Director EETEE
Mr. Li A - - - - - -
INEDs BIFYTES
Mr. Man P&k 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Suen BEE 180 - - - - 180
Dr.U L 180 - - - - 180
1,020 1,814 - 3,354 - 6,188
The executive Directors shown above were for their services FHMTEENNE AEEREEARF]
in connection with the management of the affairs of the RASEEEBARERENME
Company and the Group.
The INEDs’ emoluments shown above were for their services as BN TEENIE ATREELE
Directors. EATIREREHOBE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

None of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil).

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
Directors, and no payments were made to the Directors as
compensation for early termination of appointment during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available Directors’ services during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements
in favour of the Directors, or controlled body corporates and
connected entities of such Directors during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

Except for mentioned above, there were no significant
transactions, agreements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of the operating
companies were a party and in which a Director had material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

1. EERFETHAEMES @

BT -

U]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

REZE2024F 128318 ILFE - REEH
E|EEREZESNEHI - (EARSIEEN
AREBE R INARE B K EEEN(2023F -
;) -

REZE2024F12A31HILFE © HESS
REE Sk R B MR B (20234F : &) o

REZE2024F12 A31 B ILFE - ETW
BEEY BT EKREE - JRER
EEYNEAREEARMNKIEZENE
8(20234F : ££) o

REBZE20245F12A31 B IEFE - #EsE
RH{EERBEMATE=TRE=TTEK
BB (20234 - &) -

REZE2024F 128318 ILFE - BENSE
£ EBENIEHEERBEERAR S
AWER - EERREMT HLZHE(2023
F ) o

B AT E SN - KR B Sk ] B A A
MERAEEERIVEERESRHEE
KiEZR (T EEME) BREE2024F
NANBILEFEFRENEARS « HE
A#(20235F < ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M IS ERRMIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BLR2024F 1231 HIFF/Z
13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 13. AEEESFMAL

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year FAN - AEERERSFMALTEE %
included one Director (2023: one Director). Details of whose BE(2023F  —REE) - HENHEE
remuneration are set out in note 11 above. Details of the PR ESCHIETT « FN - 2T H % (2023
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2023: four) F B EaTMEES (WHEARTES

highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief REETHAB)NBMESFENT -

executive of the Company are as follows:

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e TERDA 1,732 2,090
Sales commission expenses HEMESRX 6,580 2,676
Pension costs — defined contribution plan 3R KS B AR — FE R 2 18 36
Social security fund, housing and other # 2{REEE S  FEREM
employee benefits BB @A 467 467
8,797 5,269
The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the MeEULTHENIFESNESFTMAE
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is AEIAT -
as follows:

Number of individuals

A
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T 1 3
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T22,000,00078 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7C% 3,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 T2 3,500,000/ 7T 1 -
4 4
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five REZE2024F 128318 IEFE - AEEH
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon BmREMNAERESHFMATSEHTM - F
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during RS EMAREE L INAREEZH
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). R E B ERRE(E (20234 « &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

14. FiBHAX

182

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

Current income tax BEAFT1S AR
— Macau Complementary Tax —BPIFBAETER 870 1,914
Overprovision in prior years B FERERE = (6)
870 1,908
Deferred taxation (note 20) FEIEF IR (MI7E20) (213) 1,036
657 2,944

The Group’s principal applicable taxes and tax rates are as
follows:

Macau

The entities within the Group incorporated in Macau are
subject to Macau Complementary Tax at progressive rates
ranging from 3% to 9% on the taxable income above
MOP32,000 but below MOP300,000, and thereafter at a
fixed rate of 12%. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Macau tax authority introduced a one-time incentive that
raised the tax-exempt income ceiling from MOP32,000 to
MOP600,000. Consequently, profits surpassing MOP600,000
are subject to the standard 12% fixed tax rate.

Hong Kong

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

AEBENTZEATBERRENT

B
RRFFMR I AEBRNERAERS R
32,0008 P9 7T 18 1K 72 300,000 8 9 7T &Y f&
ERUAIRN T 3% E9% K REFI R
BPIRSEER - ZEE U EARETEH
K12%ZHETSHFH - BlZE2024F 128
3THIEFE - RFPBREHE —E X
2R KeBiRE LR B32,00008F g E
600,000 F37T » At - #38600,0005% F9
TCHYE AR EE E R R 12% 4T -

58

REFENESHNMNESHEMAS - &F
REBERNE2BEETENNRER
8.25% - MiB@2B BB TR RMAORE S
16.5% > TRHAEMESHEMEF ERNE
EERAENBEBIRI65%HNR—HEX
B o it - AEHERBEN P E2ES
BTLRB25%FAEAEREEERNEE
MED - EETERTOS @28 8B
E16.5%5TH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

15.

The PRC

Under the EIT Law and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled from
the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

14. FIEHAXZ @
R El
BECEMSEFRENTEMSRIEANE R
A PEBARRMEFE ZHEY
F25%

FRMBHRAXIRGEERREMEE
WAK AR AR AL BR AT -

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit before tax FRBERT R A 1,609 7,446
Tax at the Macau complementary LR SHTRBERGTE 2 A
tax rate 193 894
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBIRAZ BIAZE
tax purpose (137) (129)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  NAHKINFEIERM X 2 BT 2
for tax purpose 57 23
Overprovision in prior years BT FERRERE = (6)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ FHERFRIEEB 2 FRIAFE 1,372 2,002
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7EE fth &) AR & BT B A F)
operating in other jurisdiction TRAME &8 117 553
Others Hth (945) (393)
Income tax expense for the year FRFTEHIRX 657 2,944

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
is based on the Group's profit attributable to the owners of
the Company of HK$952,000 (2023: HK$4,502,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares calculated below.

15. SR &R
EREARBERAMNDZARRES A
15 7K £ B 5% 7/ 952,000 7T (2023 4F -
4,502,00078 7T ) K& I8 A% N S 15 B G
TR o

2024 2023
20245 20234

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FARA T & &I E A K #EE 2 F 6

shares for the purpose of basic and AR 1D 8L
diluted earnings per share

500,000,000 500,000,000

No diluted earning per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 were presented as the Company has no dilutive potential
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

A AR B A R BT I NEEE B
AR WMEE2024F12A31BILFEEN
EE2Y|SREERT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BMERRE

Furniture
Computer and Office  Leasehold Motor  Construction
equipment fixture  equipment improvement  Buildings vehicles  in progress Total

Bl BEEL  BORE  AENR L5 RE ERIE st
HKS000  HKS000  HKFOOD  HKS000  HKFOOD  HKS000  HKS0O0  HK$'000
TR AR Thr TR Thn TRT TR Thn

At 1 January 2023 R2023F151H
Cost o 12818 1,562 1143 12,519 5,463 628 1,705 35,838
Accumulated depreciation B3 (8,974) (726) (651) (9,256) (1,129) (241) - (20,977)
Carrying values BaE 3,804 836 49 3263 4334 387 1,705 14,861
Year ended 31 December  £Z2023512A318

2003 LEE
Opening carying values ~ FAIEEE 3844 836 49 3,263 4334 387 1,705 14,861
Additions e 3729 - 265 693 - - - 4687
Depreciation Vit (2352) 237) (363) (2678) (105) (126) - (5,361)
Transfer from construction in - EEERTH

progress - - - 1614 - - (1,614) -
Transfer to investment EZRENE (M)

property (Note) - - - - (4,229 - - (4,229
Exchange realignment EiHE - - - (35) - - (91) (126)
Closing carrying values EREEE 521 599 3% 2857 - 261 - 9332
At 31 December 2023 120235125318
Cost A 16,547 1,562 1,408 14826 - 628 - 34971
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZHHE (11,326) (963) (1,014) (11,969) - (367) - (25,639)
Carrying values HEE 5221 599 394 2857 - 261 - 9332
Year ended 31 December ~ £Z2024E12A31A

2024 LEE
Opening carying values ~ FAIEEE 521 599 39 2857 - 21 = 9332
Additions hE 20,424 79 119 5229 = = - 25,851
Depreciation nE (3.671) (201) (184) (313) = (126) = (7,305)
Bichange realignment EfEE (22) - 6] (14) - - - (39)
Closing carrying values EXEEE 21,952 an 36 4,949 - 135 - 21,839
At 31 December 2024 20245128318
Cost A 31,153 1,641 134 20,055 = 628 - 60,818
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZEHTE (15,201) (1,164) (1,015) (15,106) - (493) = (32.979)
Carrying values ERE 21,952 an 326 4,949 - 135 - 27,839
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R I IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 HIFF/E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16.¥% - BERZHE@

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for Ly BEERREBEE (EEIER
construction in progress, after taking into account the residual SNRETRFIRBEBIREFEERE

values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to MEFARSEIRUTEFIERAFHR
allocate their costs less residual values over their estimated DERABFI R EEE ¢

useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment 410 5 years BIGRAE 454
Furniture and fixture 410 5 years RIBRFL 4FE 55
Office equipment 5 years MAERE 54
Leasehold improvement 2 to 3 years or the remaining AENR 2E3F A E R RIS AR
period of the lease, whichever is (AR EA%E)
shorter
Buildings 20 years BF 20%F
Motor vehicles 5 years qE 5
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group reclassified MizE : BZ2023F12A318LLFE - A%EE
its buildings with a carrying amount of HK$4,229,000 from ARTEI{E /34,229,000 TTHIEFIEW 2 -
property, plant and equipment to investment property upon the BERSEBENSEAREYME  EH
end of occupation by the Group. The difference between the RAEEDEFLERZETF - ZBFR
carrying amount and the fair value of that buildings, amounted HSEENTE 2 FRZ5710,000/8 7T
to HK$710,000, has been recognised in other comprehensive BEHMEEWARER - WIS
income and accumulated under revaluation reserve. B R o
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The Group leases out office under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. The lease runs for an initial period of 2 years,
with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial period
held by lessee only.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangement, as the lease is denominated in the
functional currency of group entity. The lease contract does
not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 17. REWHE

AEERBLEMEHERLE  RAK
PHe - HERVIRE2F  RAEABEAR
B H B 5 AR T HR AT & = A48 BFR LA
BN o

MREEAREERNIEERFE &
AEBTERMEE LT MASZINE R
MEANTRERERE R FABAL
MEMAREBEMEERE -

HK$'000
TAT

FAIR VALUE DFE
At 1 January 2023 7A2023F1H18
Transfer from property, plant and

EamE - BER&E(HE1e)

equipment (note 16) 4,939
At 31 December 2023 7202312 H31H 4,939
Fair value change NEEEE) (125)
Exchange realignment PE 5 A% (133)
At 31 December 2024 A2024%12831H 4,681

In estimating the fair value of investment property, it is the
Group's policy to engage an independent qualified professional
valuer to perform the valuations. The management works
closely with the valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
model or techniques and inputs to the model.

The fair value of the Group’s investment property as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 has been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out by APAC Appraisal and Consulting
Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not
connected to the Group.

The valuation has been arrived at using direct comparison
method by reference to market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties in the same locations and conditions.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment property,
the highest and best use of the property is its current use. The
fair value of the Group's investment property has been adjusted
to exclude prepaid or accrued operating lease income to avoid
double counting.

B REMENRHER - AREBER
TERBYAEREXMAEMETHE -
ERERGEMZYIAE  BIEENMG
BRI bty AR AL 8 A B ©

NEERIREWER 20245 2 2023F12 A
31 HA A FE THAR 15 B 7R 5 [ 0 4 R s A
By ABEREEGMEMEAGERERE
FRARIEITHMEMET °

HEAERLBE2ZREME KRN
BOMEZZBEOTHEESH -

REFARERENEN R FER - BA
RErMENSESERERSE - AEER
BYENRFED THE - UGIREMHL
EFTEZEHEWA - #REEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R I IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair

17. REWMHE @)
TEIEEBEEMEN AT ENAET

values of the investment property is determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the

MER (LERMABN G ERMRE AR
B)  URIRAFEFER OB ARERE
2RE  BRATEFESENRITEER
(F—2F=) -

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Investment properties
held by the Group

in the consolidated
statement of financial
position
AEERGE I
MRRFEWIREYE

Relationship of

Significant unobservable unobservable inputs to

fair value
FAB R A&
SN FENBHFR

Valuation technique inputs

fhER EXTBEGARE

Commercial property in
the PRC: HK$4,681,000
(2023: HK$4,939,000)

Direct comparison method  Unit sales rate, taking into  An increase in the market
with unit sales rate as key  account the time, location, unit rate used would result
input. and individual factors in an increase in fair value,

such as footage and size, and vice versa.

between the comparable

and the property, ranging

from RMB29,911 to

RMB32,417 (2023:

RMB29,076 to RMB33,294)

per sq.m.
R BIREEDE EEESE - DIBEANE ZEIERE - I RER  FATSBAEREAe
4,681,000/ 0(2023%F : EBIREATERAZE - YEEMEARASF ZHEMOM BHRAFELEN  R2ZT

4,939,000/ 7T) AR REEEER A A
= BUHEEBERNIRE
FHKARE29911 TR
AR#E32,41770(2023% -
ANR#29,076TE AR

33,2947T) ©

The fair value of the investment property at 31 December
2024 and 2023 was measured using valuation technigue with
significant unobservable inputs and hence was classified as
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's investment
property have been pledged to secure a banking facility
granted to the Group.

B MENR2024F K2023F 12 A31HHA
FENFERAEERTIEREAZIED
HERNEE WO BEAATFEBRE=

A2024% 2023512 A310 - AEERE
EMEEWER  AAEEERANRITER
BIRHEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024

120245128318

18. FFHEEE

(0l
properties

i ENIES

HK$°000
TAT

Office
equipment
WARE
HK$'000
TET

Staff
quarters
BRIES
HK$’'000

FHT

Total
et
HK$'000
THT

Carrying amount BRMEE 14,271 146 508 14,925
As at 31 December 2023 7A2023F12831H
Carrying amount ARMEE 9,450 214 424 10,088
For the year ended #Z2024%12A31H
31 December 2024 IEFE
Depreciation charge nEEA 8,644 67 531 9,242
Exchange adjustments I H 171 - - 171
8,815 67 531 9,413
For the year ended B 22023128318
31 December 2023 LFE
Depreciation charge EEH 8,663 58 382 9,103
Exchange adjustments P& H (23) - - (23)
8,640 58 382 9,080
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET AT
Expense relating to short-term AR X 225 175
Total cash outflow for leases HERS RN 10,462 9,671
Additions to right-of-use assets REFRAEEE 14,250 7,770
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Group leases various office properties,
offices equipment and staff quarters for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to
5 years (2023: 1 year to 5 years), but may have extension
and termination options as described below. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
equipment. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no lease
with variable lease payment. The lease agreements do not
impose any extension or termination options which are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessors.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group does not
provide residual value guarantees in relation to leases
arrangements. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has no leases
that are committed but not yet commenced.

RS I IS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 HIFF/E

18. FAREE®

RMEFE  AREYSEXGEERE
EEMAME  MARBREIES - H
EAKMEEMRAIFE5F(20235F 1
FESF) - BAEEA FXPIRAEH R K
IFEERE - MERENEOETER > &
BTN RMER R I - B RS
ISR ERE - ARERAAONE
EVETANANITHHIR

AEBTFHMRET L REEE - 12024
F2023F12A31H  MHAHEEHEAHE
XA ECBHERYNEBHEEAEE

4+

Eo

PA2024%F K 2023% 12 A31 8 » AEEIE
AIERENRNAE - HERZHIL &N
ErRASEMIELEDAAITENEM
JEEASR AR | EIBIEHE -

PA20245 K 2023% 12 A31 8 » AEBE I E
MAETHREFSGEBERER - BREBEA
BEMNHEEENERERI  HEWR
it DT A 22585 o

A2024F 202312 318 » NEFEI &
BAEREARAARHEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& &
e ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B Z2024F 1231 HIFFE
19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. B EE
Software
B4
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 January 2023 7A2023F1H18
Cost 3% 4,577
Accumulated amortisation Kt (2,995)
Carrying values REE 1,582
Year ended 31 December 2023 B Z2023F12A318ILEE
Opening carrying values FHEREE 1,582
Additions NE 65
Amortisation By (871)
Closing carrying values FREEE 776
At 31 December 2023 7A2023F12831H
Cost 34N 4,642
Accumulated amortisation KEtEY (3,866)
Carrying values REE 776
Year ended 31 December 2024 B Z2024512A318LFE
Opening carrying values FHREE 776
Additions NE 2,342
Amortisation i3 (944)
Exchange realignment e 3, 8 B (8)
Closing carrying values FREEE 2,166
At 31 December 2024 7A2024%F12831H
Cost RN 6,984
Accumulated amortisation Kt (4,818)
Carrying values IRAEE 2,166
The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such B EEAERFERFH ZEER
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the BENATHMEERESEES

following periods:

Software 2-10 years Bt 2-10%F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS I IS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BLR2024F 1231 HIFF/Z
20. DEFERRED TAXATION 20. ERERIIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement REEMBRAKNEINME - & TRIE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities MBEENBEDWEE - TRARME
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred R E K2 IEERIBASH AT

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$’'000
THExT FET
Deferred tax assets EIERIBE 612 1,567
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEB A (56) (1,224)
556 343
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) UWTAEAFENBEFECHERANEZIE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and EHREEE(BBE) REEES
prior years:
(Accelerated)
decelerated Write-  Impairment Right-  Provision for
tax down of losses under Lease of-use onerous
depreciation inventories  ECL model liabilities assets contract
RREE
(M) HE BREAT B#
BRFE  M#EE  WHEER 2 HERE GRREE  S0RR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT Thn TEn TR T TATL
At 1 January 2023 #2023E181A ) 1,140 16 - - 21 1379
Credit (charge) to profit or loss ~ RiEaEr A (31%) 10 (730) 73 1,062 (1,224) 227 (1,036)
At 31 December 2023 1#2023512A31R 6 410 89 1,062 (1,228) - 383
Credit (charge) to profitor loss ~ FMEZETA(31%) (13) 170 (31) 1,037 (890) - 213
At 31 December 2024 1#2024512A31R (67) 580 58 2,099 (2.114) - 556
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$45,118,000 (2023:
HK$34,422,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$31,953,000 (2023: HK$19,851,000) with expiry dates as
disclosed in the following table. Other losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

20. FEZERIE ()

RIFERR - A EBBRDEHAEBELY
45,118,000 7T (2023 4 : 34,422,000%
JC) Al AR S AR 2R s A o R A A TEOR
RACHF IR - S T % EE B R RIE
EMBEE - RERBABEREDHH
BB TR PTIE BE MY E5 18 4931,953,00078 7T
(20234 : 19,851,000/ 7T ) o H{th E518 7]
R LS o

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FBTT

2025 20254 10 10
2026 20264 435 447
2027 20274 7,837 9,774
2028 20284 9,357 9,620
2029 20294 14,314 -
31,953 19,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R I IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BLR2024F 1231 HIFF/Z
21. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 21. mEHEERWFEIR
The Group entered into finance lease arrangements as a lessor AEEBWEADBAN)RRBII LRAERE
for equipment. The average terms of finance leases entered ZHE o AU RMERE 2 FHHRBE RIE
into usually range from 3 to 5 years. All interest rates inherent 54 - HEZ FTEEA A EIRHEBRNE 08
in the leases are fixed at the contract date over the lease terms. HAEETE o
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Finance lease receivables comprise BEHERUGRIABRIERIR
undiscounted minimum lease SEAENK
payments:
Within 1 year 1R 6,178 7,630
In the 2nd year F24F 2,745 5,445
In the 3rd year 34 2,530 1,907
In the 4th year F4F 1,286 1,698
In the 5th year 54 38 963
Gross investment in the lease HERERTE 12,777 17,643
Less: unearned finance income W REREURLE YA (823) (1,066)
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (108) (152)
Present value of minimum lease SEMAENHRE
payments 11,846 16,425
Analysed as: O
Current mE 6,047 6,484
Non-current JETE) 5,799 9,941
11,846 16,425
Interest rates implicit in the above finance leases range from P ERERSHENF2.3%%E20.4%
2.3% t0 20.4% (2023: 2.3% t0 20.4%). (2023%F : 2.3%%£20.4%) °
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of HRAEHENEEEREENIIEE
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the WatE  MASEETEABEELHEMERR
respective functional currencies of group entities. SNGE Rz o
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34. EF BN FE34 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

22. CONTRACT ASSETS

22. EHEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET T
Professional IT services EEITARRS 125,264 148,119
IT maintenance and consultancy services IT#k & & 34 HARTS 14,786 6,008
Managed services B RIE 10,665 2,462
150,715 156,589
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEEEERE (534) (643)
150,181 155,946
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T

Analysed as: D
Current mEh 141,255 148,594
Non-current JEREY 8,926 7,352
150,181 155,946

As at 1 January 2023, contract assets amounted to
HK$88,487,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional.

Contract assets, that are not expected to be settled within the

Group's normal operating cycle, are classified as current and
non-current based on expected settlement dates.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

R2023F 118 © A#E E 588,487,000
BT o

BHEETERAKENIE T LA
STHERENENER  ARLSENN
AEBERKOBBOBNBGN - B%FE
MR BERTR  SHEEREREES
JEWRRIA -

BHTeEAKENLE S ERRANE
MEHMEE SREMEERMOBELAR
EDSELEIE
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23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
assets recognised are as follows:

Professional IT services

The Group's contracts include payment schedules which require
stage payments over the service period once certain specified
milestones are reached. The Group requires certain customers
to provide upfront deposits 30% of total contract sum as part
of its credit risk management policies.

The Group also typically agrees to a retention period ranging
from 2 to 4 years for 10% of the contract value. This amount is
included in contract assets until the end of the retention period
as the Group's entitlement to this final payment is conditioned
on completion of the retention period.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because
the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

IT maintenance and consultancy services

The contract assets represent the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to
customers when that right is conditioned based on mutual
agreement with customers, therefore a contract asset is
recognised over the period in which the IT maintenance and
consultancy services are performed.

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

22. EHEEm

SYECHRANEAESBORRIHE
AT

EHEITRS
AEBHNANBIE—BRBBYNEIE
T T B2 AIEE N RN R
B EARERREEREN—HH - &
EBMERETFELIZMANBTEI0%HTE
RS -

AEBBETRAEZEI10%NANEENRE
HNF2245F - WA AANEE &
ERBHER  REENAREARFRE
MR BRRISRERRNR

ARERREANEESRARDEE -
R 76 A 7 A B B I 30 4B P P
BRZAEE -

IT 4 58 &% 5 8 AR 3%
BHEERAKERRBARERTFE
A H) AR TS WER B RO R (E 2R FIIA B
FRMRE S RIEE) - AEHNEER
HETTITHE & R AR TS B RERR

INVENTORIES 23. &
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Finished goods X 13,472 21,928
2024 FERE o BHEBEZRHEBRLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& =
R IR RMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 2202412931 HILFZE
2. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 24. EFEWFIE %€  BANHE
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES & H fth R R IR
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables B S EWFIE
Contracts with customers BEFEAH 165,176 181,513
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,305) (1,607)
163,871 179,906
Deposits, prepayments and other e BEAREREAER
receivables FRIE
Deposits %% 21,216 19,073
Prepayments TERTFIE 66,086 74,912
Other receivables HAh U GRIA 3,549 1,568
90,851 95,553
Analysed as: ARV
Current e 81,639 65,936
Non-current IERE 9,212 29,617
90,851 95,553
As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with MR2023F1A1H RERFAEHNESE
customers amounted to HK$149,253,000. U FRIA 149,253,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The credit terms of trade receivables granted by the Group are
generally 1 to 3 months. The following is an aged analysis of
trade receivables presented based on invoice dates:

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

24. BSBWHIR - BE - AARE

& H At FE U FIE ()

AEE-RETESHRBGIEI1E3EAD
EEH - RBEZAHEIINE FEKGKR
BRI -

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET T

Up to 3 months 3@ B AR 103,282 112,883
Over 3 months and within 6 months 3{E A LA E61E A AR 37,922 57,871
Over 6 months and within 1 year 618 A LA E15ELAR 16,529 5,376
Over 1 year 1F A 7,443 5,383
165,176 181,513

As at 31 December 2024, no bills were discounted to bank;
while at 31 December 2023, included in trade receivables are
bills amounting to HK$5,547,000 that were discounted to bank
on a full recourse basis. Since the substantial risks and rewards
of the ownership of the bills have not been transferred taking
into account the credit quality of the issuing counterparties,
the Group continues to recognise the full carrying amount of
those discounted receivables and has recognised the associated
liabilities as borrowings as disclosed in note 31. All bills received
by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one year.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of HK$54,243,000 (2023: HK$59,460,000) which are past
due at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$27,079,000 (2023: HK$19,585,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default because it's
the industry’s practice that payments are usually made after the
due dates. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. Trade receivables which are neither past due nor
impaired are in good quality with satisfactory repayment history
in the past.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
are set out in note 34.

R2024F12A831H © MERRITEIRAME
¥ mMN2023F12A31H - BHEKZTE
FEBEUNESBRELERRITMANE
155,547,000/ 7T - AR EEHZEHH{EA
BEMABZIEZBAIEHEERR K
WEETER  AEEBBEREERZE
BAREWRIEZ BREEME EREEH
BEAERCRMFEIAHEE) - NEBFR
BEWEEMNEIERG DR —F -

R2024F 12 A318 » AEEE FEKRRK
HEHRBERREORaBNERRAE
54,243,000 7 7T ( 2023 € : 59,460,000 i
JC) W FEUSER R o s HA&EfR + 27,079,000
7 70 (20234 : 19,585,000/8 7T ) & #1 8
90HR A E - ARIRIBRITEIEN - (I50A
BIERMA 2 BET BT EREAEL -
AEEVERZSEBSETEHERR -
BEafiERENE S RIGNEEERR
17 BIREERGEES ARE °

Z 5 R H ity e I k8 B E R RIS E N
BI5E34 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

25. CONTRACT COSTS

Incremental costs to obtain contracts US4 49y 2 i A (FEE())

24. XM

2024
20245

2023
20234
HK$'000
FBTT

HK$°000
TR

(Note (i) 7,622 2,873

Costs to fulfill contracts — Setup costs  JB1TA LIHIAK AN — FAR ZE TSR AN

(Note (ii)) (B aEGi)) 865 1,028
8,487 3,901

Notes: B e -

()  Contract costs capitalised relate to the incremental sales () BXAEORETERKNBEREAS
commissions paid to the sales personnel upon successful AFMEEABELNNEEHERS -
negotiation of long-term contracts. Contract costs are recognised SRR ARERAREBENGEER L
as part of selling expenses in the consolidated statement of HeEBAXRBRAHEER B — B
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in Do FRRBEERNEMEKRASTER
which revenue is recognised. The amount of capitalised costs 13,641,000 7% 7T (2023 4 : 8,293,000 7
recognised in profit or loss during the year was HK$13,641,000 JL) ° BiE2024F K2023F 12 A31HIEF
(2023: HK$8,293,000). There was no impairment in relation to B BRNMERNANENEHRKIFREAR L
the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised BN RE ©
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group applies the practical expedient and recognises the AEBRAEBERIEL  MASERE
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to the sales BROZEEENBHEBHE A —F MU
of goods and services as an expense when incurred if the A BIESEIFEE R RRIBERENE L
amortisation period of the assets that the Group otherwise would BIEENA  REERERRFAX °

have recognised is one year or less.

(i) The Group has also incurred direct labour costs from the iy AEBETEBTERGFESQOABNHE
engineers for fulfilling the obligations in relation to the software EMEELRE TRMAOEELIRA - &
development contracts. The labour costs are directly related to TR AEBREFHESOEZEHE - ARE
the software development contracts, used to fulfil performance BB LIERT AT E - FRARERERE
obligations of the contracts and are expected to be recovered. &ML R € 88 4726,00078 7T (20234 -
The amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during 1,661,000/70) ° H 220244 2023412
the year was HK$726,000 (2023: HK$1,661,000). There was no AMBIEFE - BN AR F 4R
impairment in relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs FREAREB AN EFE o
or the costs capitalised during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, AND CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits for the
purpose of meeting the Group's short term cash commitments,
which carry interest at market rates which ranged from 0.001%
10 0.75% (2023: 0.001% to 3.10%).

Pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rates range from
0.5% t0 4.2% (2023: 1.0% to 3.6%) per annum and represent
deposits pledged to banks as a security for a bank facility and
a bank guarantee requested by a supplier. Deposits amounting
to HK$10,734,000 (2023: HK$53,317,000) have been pledged
and are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank
deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant bank
borrowings.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and
pledged bank deposits are set out in note 34.

27. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2024

EE

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

26. CHEFRITERERERRTE
B4

RekREEEBYRBTHFR  BNA
BIIAEBMEHRSEE @ BEmHEH =X
NF0.001%20.75% (20234 : 0.001% %
3.10%)5T & »

EEMRTESILZEEFFNEN F0.5%
Z£42% (20235 1 1.0% £3.6% )5t 8 -
FEEHEIR T IRITIEABSRITEERA MR
FERERKMESRITERNRES - 7K
10,734,000 7% 7T (2023 4 : 53,317,000 7%
TTEEF - Ak nBARBEE - DA
RITEFE R 4B BRI TR SRR -

RITHESR N O B IRITF SRR E R (4 5
BRI R34

27. B

Nominal
value of
Shares
gl 4= R EE
Share HK$’000

A% FAET

Number of
Shares

GREME.OE T L@k

M2023FE1A1H ~ 2023512 A31H
&2024%12A31H

10,000,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid ERITRER
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023

and 1 December 2024

Nominal
value of

Shares
=4 EE
HK$'000

Number of
Shares

BAEE
Share

At TET

MR2023F1A1H ~ 20235F12A31H
§2024F12A31H

500,000,000 5,000
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Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

The Company’s Scheme was adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on 20 June 2022 for the primary purpose
of providing selected participants with the opportunity to
acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
selected participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and the Shares for the benefit of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. The Scheme will provide
the Company with a flexible means of either retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or
providing benefits to selected participants. Under the Scheme,
the Directors may grant options to eligible employees, including
Directors and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

At 31 December 2024, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was nil (2023: nil), representing 0% (2023:
0%) of the Shares in issue at that date. The total number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders. The number of shares issued and
to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Shareholders.

The exercise price of options is determined by the Directors
and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of
the Shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon
acceptance of the grant of an option.

The total number of options available for grant, hence shares
available for issue, under the Scheme is 50,000,000 which
is 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2024 and the date of this report.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at Shareholders’ meetings.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 28. BT

AT URE A B R

RABIRIEF2022F6 8208 BB R
KRWZETE  TZENRAETRESE
REWERQARI A ERERNEE 1T
BiET2EERNEARRRRBMDAE
B SARRARBREERES - L2
BANBREEENFTN  UEZ - =
B H2E) - MY WERT2HEER R
MERBEF - RIEZTE - EETRE
EREE(RRESREWBEAG)RLE
BRHE - AR EIARG °

MR2024F12A31H - RIEZFFEIERTE
MARTENBREMSERHOBRNHEE S
AR (20234 : TRR) - MERZ BB EITIR
D EI10% (20234 : 0%) ° REARQFIALE
BIHE - ARIRZAT BT RE IR I A B AR
BT K M BR 15 48 BT 15 B 1B 7 (T (r] B R 26
BEITRMHMI10% o RSB LU A
T A — F A AT A A A 8 AT B4R
MEBRIEATS KRB BT RBEITHRG
HETEBBTEANBEAHEETROM
1% o

BREENTERERESET - BB MER)
R B2 THIE  (DEEREEA
HiR AL (A2 % B P B ¢+ Kii)
BihEEzESE -

BEXBERERTHENBENRE00E

ﬁo

IRIERZ AT IR A B AR i B 2 (BD AT it
TP ) /&50,000,0000% © 1R A TR
202412 A31 8B RARE BB #TIRA
#110% °

B A T ERA AMER IR B SR AR
RAE EREZHER -
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29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued) 28.

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company (continued)

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately 7.2 years.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no share option is granted
and exercised under the Scheme.

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

B 2 AT )
ARATUREL SRR RERT 8 ()

729

R202449F 202312 A31 B EAR IR 45T
B R ATIERBRRAE o

LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HEAE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEAE
Within 1 year 1R 9,024 7,139
Within a period of more than 1 year but #8:@ 148 T #B:@2 E ) HAE K
not exceeding 2 years 4,360 3,893
Within a period of more than 2 years but #B:@2 18 T #B:@B5E ) HAE K
not exceeding 5 years 1,399 125
14,783 11,157
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : R 121E 8 AEIEEE 2 & 58
12 months shown under current (RREaEE N IR)
liabilities (9,024) (7,139)
Amount due for settlement after 12 R12EREEIEEE &5
months shown under non-current (RIERBAEBETIIR)
liabilities 5,759 4,018

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 3.5% to 5.0% (2023: range from
2.5% t0 5.0%) per annum.

ERRAE S BN INEFIEEEREF
RNN3.5%25.0% (20234 : NMR2.5% %
5.0%) °

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

29. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are
set out below:

20. HEEEWw

ZEHRAHEEERNINGEEEUINZEE
HENHEERESIINT

MOP

BP9 T

HK$'000

Tt

As at 31 December 2024 72024512 A31H 4,388
As at 31 December 2023 2023512 A31H 3,198

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

30. BEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Professional IT services EEITARS 11,229 5,543
IT maintenance and consultancy services IT#k & & 34 RS 19,404 14,090
Managed services TEIRS 6,978 6,041
Distribution 4 749 2,088
Resale HEE 2,534 1,723
40,894 29,485

Analysed as: DNTE -
Current mE 33,047 26,678
Non-current FERED 7,847 2,807
40,894 29,485

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$88,238,000.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and
how much relates to performance obligations that were
satisfied in prior periods.

R2023F1H1H » 548 1&E 588,238,000
BIT o

TREVBEHHELESNEERRAN
HEBHOEEERNCERKDESHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS I IS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BLR2024F 1231 HIFF/Z
30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 30. WA E@®
IT
maintenance
Professional and
IT  consultancy Managed
services services services  Distribution Resale
ITEER
BXITRE B R EERE ik | BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TR THT THT TR
For the year ended BZ2024%12A831R
31 December 2024 HEE

Revenue recognised that was SAFNANaEER
included in the contract liabilities ~ #)2 FER M
balance at the beginning of the

year 5,543 14,090 6,041 2,088 1,723
For the year ended B Z2023F12A831H
31 December 2023 ILEE

Revenue recognised that was TAENEHERLHS
included in the contract liabilities  #2 e Es
balance at the beginning of the
year 59,022 13,417 7,143 21 831
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o =
e ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B Z2024F 1231 HIFFE
31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. EZ R HEMENRIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Trade payables B 5 ERFIE 155,092 174,165
Salaries payable BN TE 13,853 9,933
Accrued expenses e 5,014 4,343
Other taxes payable HibfERFLIE 892 113
Other payables H A TR 3,344 2,388
178,195 190,942
Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 1 to EHREMNFIBREER AP ARERE
3 months from recognition. Z3E A AT -
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented REHZAMZINE FENRIBRE DT
based on the invoice date. R e
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
Within 1 month MEB AR 135,498 121,497
Over 1 month and within 3 months ME B LA E31E B AR 11,912 41,035
Over 3 months and within 1 year 3EA E1FEAA 7,527 11,605
Over 1 year 16 LA 155 28
155,092 174,165
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32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BORROWINGS

Financial liabilities on bills discounted

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

32. Bk

2024
20245

2023
20234
HK$'000
FBTT

HK$°000
FERT

MHEREIRZENSRAE

with recourse - 5,547
Other secured bank borrowings Hua G IMIRITER 14,696 5,505
14,696 11,052
The carrying amounts of above AR BRE{EZE R T 51 B
borrowings are repayable: Bi% :
Within 1 year 1A 14,696 11,052

Included in the balance are fixed-rate bank borrowings which
carry interest at rates ranging from 2.80% to 3.25% per
annum (2023: ranging from 1.70% to 3.65%).

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has the
following undrawn borrowing facilities:

ERBIFIRN T 2.80%E3.25% 7 F MRt
B2 ERIRITER(20234%F : N F1.70% %
3.65%) °

RIEHR - NEEHB AT REZIRITRL
‘&

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fixed rate & E Fl =
— Expiring within 1 year — P FREIER 2,600 85,550
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. EXE B EE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in notes
30 and 29 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and reserves.

AEENAREE R RARRAEEER
BT - ANEBELESRBAT
& RBEEFMEALI - £F - A%E
HE BRI TR -

AEENEXAGEBRRERKFE  HP e
BRI E30 R 29 ENERREER
B R RRSEEMFERARRER
AEE#ED (BRDBEITRA - ROEEN
Kf#f) o

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT

205



206

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

33.

34.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and share buy-backs as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

33. EAR B EE @

EREFFFRNEANRE - ERRFTN
—HD EEESEREARAREEER
AEOER - RIEEEENZZE  AREH
BB IR A BB R A7 B B DA B AT R (B 75
SERRAES FEERERRE -

34. €T A

ERITEER

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost i N 297,088 282,597
FVTPL BATEE B EE e AER 109 109
Financial liabilities tRAaE
Amortised cost i N 173,147 187,605

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, deposits, other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables,
amount due to a joint venture and borrowings. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

MR RERERBERBER

AEBENTESRIAREE S RER
B RE - HMEWEKIE - EERRTE
R BHERRSEEY  BIREMEN
IR BN —REERERBARER - &
BMTAFBERENERMNE - BZE2R
TARBMRARESET SRR (EERR K
MEmERE)  FERRERBEZRR - T
XEF Al R R L E R BRER - AN
EREREERERZERRARERNEE
MERAUEE 11 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
The Group operates in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to
RMB, US$ and MOP. Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities. The Company currently does not have a currency
risk hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign currency risk exposure by closely monitoring the
movement of foreign currency rate and considers hedging
against it should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

34. €@t T B um)
BEEMREERERBE@®

5
() EXEE
REBRRF - BERPEELS?
% WAR ARG ELIMNER
B TEEARYE T ORFITHE
B o SMNERRIR A RREERH AR
Eﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁ%°$ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
%Eﬂﬁﬁ” AW EREEBF
PEREXRE EQ%EHWEFW
7 YEBEFENIER TEEEHIN
BEE LB o

R EHRAIMNEHENEBEER
ERaENREERT

Assets Liabilities
BE =N

2024 2023 2024 2023

202445 20234 202445 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THT FHET AT

RMB AR 453 6,513 17,069 14,147

Us$ = 24,796 13,438 22,211 32,100

MOP SBPITT 79,058 99,638 5,959 5,660
Sensitivity analysis BREDH

As HK$ is pegged to US$ and MOP, the Directors are of
the opinion that the foreign exchange risk of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in US$ and MOP is
insignificant.

MR BETTEETTNORPITEE  EF
u/b;% J’/(%E&/QF%T_E;-I_TEZ ﬁl‘%é
ERBERNIMNERRIT TERX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
the RMB. 5% (2023: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the
reporting period for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. For a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of HK$
against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit for the year and the
amounts below would be negative.

i Mk g 1R

Profit or loss

34. €@t T REwm)
BEEREERERBE®

5B B ()

(i) Bz
HRE 7 (%)
TRANAEERETEARE LA
N T BR5% (20234 : 5%) Z BURSE -
5% (2023 : 5% ) BRATEEEAE
REB2MIMNE R RS IR A TR R E IR
[ L8 R4 12 A e & B A AT 7 7O UK
o FRREDINTE IR UINESHER
REBERIEE » WIK5% (20234 :
5%)EXREBRABNRMERR KLY
SR MBI HBREBEE TH5%
(20234 : 5%) ' BEFRBHNELE
HMETHRRTE UWTEBEEEEE
g o

RMB Impact
AR¥EE
2024 2023
20234
HK$'000
AT

20245
HK$’000
FET

(831) (382)

This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on
receivables and payables not subject to cash flow hedges
and intra-group balances at year end.

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the foreign exchange risk inherent in
the financial assets and financial liabilities as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

HHEERRFRTIZBRREE D
Ko 52 B A~ ) PR 4 B AR PR B FE WK TR
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EEERS  BRESMATERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to pledged bank deposits (see note 26), fixed-rate
borrowings (see note 32 for details of these borrowings)
and lease liabilities (see note 29 for details). The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances (see note 26 for details). The
Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of borrowings
in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within
reasonable range.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

34. €@t T B um)
HEEREEBZERBEm®

SRR (%)

(i) FIEEE
AEEEGEDEPRITER(RNE
26) - ERER(ZEERFBERNE
) RHEBB(FIBRWF29)BH
F A EFERE o A5 E I8 e
FRIRTEHGFBRME26) BN
RenesfExER AEBENRESR
SFERRFEEFRIRITELRNF]
KR E) o AEERBRIKFEKER
A=A ERF RSB EENBER
ZRERHEFERR - EEEHBE
EBMZEBETMELY - WHERERE
BIEEENA -

REHERATENTREENSBA
HEIE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET BT
Other income EmugA

Financial assets at amortised cost BB HEK AT ENCRIEE 1,985 1,464

Interest income under effective interest RIBERFREFTE 2 F B
method WA 1,985 1,464

Sensitivity analysis

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.

BREDN
HREEERRFBMERRITHEMRE
EMRSRENXRBRLTEK
SEBURE DT N EIERITAEL ©
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, deposits, contract
assets, finance lease receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances, other receivables. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers/finance lease receivables/contract assets
Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade
receivables, contract assets and finance lease receivables,
the Group monitors the issuance of credit on an ongoing
basis. Credit limits and credit terms granted to customers
are approved by delegated officers only after thorough
background checks and interviews were conducted. The
activities of individual credit account are monitored regularly
for management to decide if the credit facility should be
continued, changed or cancelled. Furthermore, follow-up
actions will be actively taken in order to closely monitor the
overdue amounts.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 13% (2023:
11%) and 32% (2023: 40%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables, financial lease receivables and
contract assets with significant balances and credit-impaired
individually. The remaining balances are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the Group’s
internal credit ratings.

Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. £R T B am)

HEEREEBZERBEm®

= EERRR BE

EERREASENHF I REBITEA
%f&ﬁ%ﬁ$§§ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%mﬂ
% AEENEERRKOTERZEARE
SEMFIA -~ B EQQF BEME
FEMERIR - DIRIRIRITER - RITAERR
H A JEUGRIE » ANEE I E R A AR
mEREMEEERERARESREEN
BAEERRRMRE -

FREFEHNE L ENFIE - HEH
BEWHE EHEE
ERZEAHEL ZA - AEBE(ER R
EEFRAGFLEETPZEEERY
BIEPREFER - EFPNEELRE
BEARS; fﬁﬁéﬁﬁm EEEEMEITIEf
DAREIR ERERBRAE 1T B LAUR I8 BA (B 75 -

REAREMREE SRR é\%@ﬁ%&
REBEENHE EEER - ALER
FEEERIZEER - #?%}EZ EER
BEEERFIREZEETESRZEREAHR
BRABKEEABE - BEEEEHEE
EEERPHEDUREZ EEREDR
AeAE - B E G o S - BIERERER
ETBUTYERBRTIABR -

REE13%(20234F 1 1% ) &32% (2023
F40%)B S EWRBLRENETEER
SO RIREAEEZEATFRAKREP °
ABEERRRERE AEEEERED
ZREGEEECEEREREESEL -

AN REEEREREEHREEAYA
EEAEHRLREREEERENE S EK
FE - BMEHERUKERAGNEEETT
ERIRER G - SR N ERTI2EREE 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits/bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank deposits/bank balances
by reference to information relating to probability of default
and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management believes that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition. For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits
are insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 HIFF/E

34. €T AEwm)

HEEREEBZERBEm®

1= B EFR K Bl e 1 (%)
EBFIRITIHRITHE
HREF I REBRREEFEREL TR
EE%%&Zfﬁ'ﬁ ' H&EE&T%EGT?%(/@E

THHENEERRER - AEE2EZHH
ﬁI\JBEE%ﬁ&%%%%E’JWﬁ EERE
MEENRERENBRRRZER -
EEIFRITERRITAERN12ME A TAH
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BERFBEREL
MEMERRBRZESNS @ BEEBRE
BELMTE  BECBRARSEARR
BYENREETERTHEEN > HHA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

34. €@t T REwm)
BEEREERERBE®

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE &R EFFE &)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises REBNANLEERRSHTHBIEBEUAT
the following categories: R

Trade receivables/

contract assets/

Internal finance Other financial
credit rating Descriptions lease receivables  assets/other items
g2 EWE
BREE/ HttemEE
RS E AR it mMEESEWRE HtEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL—not ~ 12m ECL
credit-impaired
Ve HFHHELNRRIE HIEHEEEE 12EAESREE
—EEERE 18
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL—not ~ 12m ECL
but usually settle in credit-impaired credit-impaired
BRIIR BERARERIBAREN  BEBENE 2HEHEEESE 12EAEBREE
BERENBERTEE —EBEERE i
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL—not  Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since through information credit-impaired credit-impaired
developed internally resources
RER REAFFRRSHOER - FERREEZ 2HENEEERE 2HBEHEEER
il —EEERE —EBEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
fE1E FRBERETNEEBEERE iﬁsﬁi‘ﬁﬁsﬁﬁﬁiﬂé FHEMEEER
EERE —EERA
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written ~ Amount is written
is in severe difficulty and the Group has off off
no realistic prospect
H g ERBETNEBAENBRERNE - A5E  #MiEzoE M sEFRIE
3 f R Y AT B2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE M SHRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 HIFF/E
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. R T B
Financial risk management objectives and MK EREEBERBK @
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) S BRI B E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's THRIFMEIWEAEE S REENZER
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: B - E/ASTEREEEIET,

2024 2023
External Internal Gross Gross
credit credit carrying carrying
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount

SN i 12(8 A X 20245 20234
&R EEFR 2HRAEERE REAE REAE
HK$'000 HK$'000

THT SR

Financial assets at amortised cost

REBHERATENSREE
Trade receivables - contacts 23 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 83,586 90,363
with customers N EER 2HRBEEHE(ERIFE)
B HRIGE-RFEAH (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 81,490 90,893
(FizE2) ZHREHEEEE(RETE)
Loss Credit-impaired 100 257
B#E EERE
Contract assets 21 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 91,814 98,303
BHEE TiEMA ERER 2 HRAEEBB(ERNTE)
(Note 2) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 58,863 58,248
GE) 2HRAEEBR(RENG)
Loss Credit-impaired 38 38
BE EERE
Finance lease receivables 20 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 11,954 16,577
BERERKNGE i ERER 2 HEEBEEEE(ERFE)
Deposits and other receivables 23 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 24,765 20,641
e REMEREE i (H3E1) NEAEHEERSE
Pledged bank deposits 25 A N/A 12m ECL 10,734 53,317
BEBRTER A Nl NEAEHEERSE
Bank balances 25  Aa3tobaa3 N/A 12m ECL 85,872 28,733
BITHES Aa3Ebaa3 NEM NEABHEERE
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Notes:

1. For deposits and other receivables, the Group considers the
exposure of credit risk is low because counterparties have no
historical default record and the directors expect that the general
economic conditions will not significantly changed for the 12
months after the reporting date.

2. For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the impairment loss
at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these items
collectively based on loss patterns as reflected in the debtors’
historical payment pattern.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables and contract assets which are assessed
on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).
Debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired with gross carrying amounts of trade receivables
and contract assets of HK$83,686,000 and HK$91,852,000
respectively as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$90,620,000
and HK$98,341,000) were assessed individually.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. £R T B am)

HEEREEBZERBEm®

EE R BE L &)
Fif -

1. BMREREMGEYRFANS  AREFH
WHEBEENRS  BEFEHARESHE
ToEAANBEREBRRN TG R LEERE
b BAEERBEERBRE -

2. REBESEEFENRANEEMNS  A%E
SR BRI s & 2E B B 95k A L RRT
EXHEACEEBERORERSE - XEE
BREBEEBANBENREXRRNELRE
AAREEZFHENAREERE -

EBAEBEER ﬁ%ﬁﬁm—iﬁ NS
B4 = FRARIEETA Ti\%ﬁﬁu*ﬁ
BE P ERE Iﬁxzmﬂéﬂzm =B A
WOEER 75)5/\ Hﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ“%ﬁ(?ﬁ
SERE) NI LR EEFTE - 1R2024F
128318 - EEEK%@B& SRk E %
A EERENESANE ZBEZERE
#EERE4RE S 5183,686,000/8 T &
91,852,0005 7T, (20234 : 90,620,000 7T
1298,341,000/8 70 ) 1@ B 1 TREAS ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Gross carrying amount

2024
20245
Average Trade
loss rate receivables

¥13 g2
BRE EBKRXEA
HK$'000

TERr

Internal credit rating AERE B4R

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

34. €@t T B um)

BEEMREERERBE@®

EEE R EFE &)
FRET#EE

2023
20234

Contract Average Trade Contract

assets loss rate  receivables assets

4 25

BREE BRE  EEFE ANEE
HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$'000

TER TR TR

Low risk 1K 0.08% 19,523 30,520 0.10% 14,697 32,465
Watch list BRI% 0.86% 60,684 28,001 0.30% 72,676 25,441
Doubtful RE 25.10% 1,283 342 23.88% 3,520 342

81,490 58,863 90,893 58,248

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated. The contract assets have substantially the
same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same
type of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the
loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation
of the loss rates for contract assets.

AR EERDENMEH AR BRF G
EBEMSNEQRMAR  LIRBRFILE
B % BCR SRE 0 R BUS B B BE 1R B KL AR
B HETIERERETE MR - AHER
FEBBAEBENSIEN - ANEE
HFR A D/ E 5 R UEIR A Rk 45 B
BAER - it - AEERERRE SR
FENEBEREESNEENEREAIEM

4+

Eo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FRE IS HRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B22024F 1231 HIFFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. R T B
Financial risk management objectives and MEEREEBERBK @
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) BRI B E)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that TRV EHERABES A EmE S ERFTER
has been recognised for trade receivables and contract assets AUNEERIAN D HTEHEEGENEE -

under the simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2T
2 HATEH FEEEE
EERFE (B%4E
(BEERHE) EERE) wmat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T T FHBT
As at 1 January 2023 "2023F181H 1,273 1,390 2,663
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EBREEERE (333) 333 -
— Impairment losses recognised —BEERREERE 1,957 - 1,957
— Impairment losses reversed — B RERESE (940) (657) (1,597)
— Write-offs — A - (771) 771)
Exchange adjustments PE 3 A% () - )
As at 31 December 2023 7M2023%F12H31H 1,955 295 2,250
— Impairment losses recognised —BERRBIEEE 196 58 254
— Impairment losses reversed — BB EIREEE (364) = (364)
— Write-offs — 38 (84) (215) (299)
Exchange adjustments B 3, 8 2 (2) = (2)
As at 31 December 2024 720245128311 1,701 138 1,839
Debtors for finance lease receivables with significant MR2024F12A31H - EEERKEEL
outstanding balances or credit-impaired with gross carrying BB EEEERENRTEMEEE WK
amounts of HK$11,954,000 respectively as at 31 December THHR T 4218 & 11,954,000,8 7T (20234 -
2024 (2023: HK$16,577,000) were assessed individually. For 16,577,000/87T) - MHEAGEH A KB ET
the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment of HK$44,000 i EIZE2024F 12 A31HILFE » BED
(2023: HK$93,000) on finance lease receivables was reversed (BEHER) B & & e k1B R [ 44,000
(recognised). 7£(20234F : 93,0008 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has available
unutilised short-term bank loan facilities of HK$2,600,000
(2023: HK$85,550,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities and derivative instruments.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with
a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate or based on
overnight index average, the undiscounted amount is derived
based on management’s best estimates at the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interest rate curve,
if available.

RS I IS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 HIFF/E

34. €T AEwm)

HEEREEBZERBEm®

REBEZ R

REERRPDESRRE  AEBEERENE
FREEERRMBENARELERDR
ERENBTEMEBRARNRAE RS
EBEYKF - AEEEEEEERITER
HIEN AR MR8 T B F0fG

AEEBFRBRUTEBHRIEARBESZEX
R o 7A2024F12 A31H » ANEET B
REAREARITERFE £2,600,000%
7t(2023%F : 85,550,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS B I SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

34. €@t T REwm)

BEEREERERBE®

TEE LR (&)

Weighted On demand Total
average or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year 1to2years 2to5years cash flows amounts
RERE KRB
illy 4 HES RERE
TR PME 1225 2E5F EE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TERT THERT THET THET
2024 2024%F
Trade and other payables % 5 & £ fEf 5008 - 158,436 - - 158,436 158,436
Amountduetoajoint  fER—EALME
venture 2B - 15 - - 15 15
Borrowings B0 2.96% 14,936 - - 14,936 14,696
Leases liabilities HEARE 4.19% 9,247 4,640 1,559 15,446 14,783
182,634 4,640 1,559 188,833 187,930
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tyear 1to2years 2to5years  cash flows amounts
N REER
hug % Heng
RRZLIES NS 1225 2555 Lk FmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TER TEx TER TAT TAT
2023 20235
Trade and other payables & 5 & Efth i F8 - 176,553 - - 176,553 176,553
Borrowings B0 267% 11,157 - - 11,157 11,052
Leases labilities HEARE 3.91% 7378 4,111 136 11,625 11,157
195,088 411 136 199,335 198,762

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing

models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities carried

at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

TRIENDFETE

TREENTBRABENAFEDREER
MIRREREDMNAREERAETE -

WMEERA RN EREERSRAEN
A EERERmMERS °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

35. MEEBELENEEYHK

TERHAMAEERETHELNARE
(BRASFFFRCES)  MEZHES
MEBREREREGKIRRETRE
HRAKBEGARERERTHNER/RE
ABAERERENAE -

Lease

Borrowings liabilities Total

EEN HEARE st

HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR

HK$'000
TET

At 1 January 2023 A2023F1818 - 12,158 12,158
Financing cash flows MERSRE 10,994 (9,496) 1,498
New leases entered AIVHEHE - 7,770 7,770
Finance costs BMEMA 109 703 812
Exchange adjustments PEH R (51) 22 (29)
At 31 December 2023 7202312 A31H 11,052 11,157 22,209
Financing cash flows MERERE 3,071 (10,237) (7,166)
New leases entered/lease modified RN HETHE REEN - 13,426 13,426
Finance costs BERA 942 618 1,560
Exchange adjustments BE 5 8% (369) (181) (550)
At 31 December 2024 742024128318 14,696 14,783 29,479
2024 FERE o BHEBEZRHEBRLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EAEME
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of the BT A MBS HRERANDET L
acquisition of property, plant and BREENREDE - HE
equipment and intangible assets REEARELEERBAN
contracted for but not provided in the ~ &ZAFIsx
consolidated financial statements 677 1,252
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BB AR S
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEE A SN
The remuneration of key management during the year was as RERETEETEAESNTFTIOT -
follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e TERDA 4,975 5,078
Discretionary bonus [ EEEFAN 242 -
Sales commission expenses HEMeMX 3,269 1,765
Pension costs — defined contribution plan EKS A — RE 2] 62 66
Social security fund, housing and other #H&REES - FEMEMEES
employee benefits =l 23 22
8,571 6,931
The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined EERFETHRABZFNATHNEZER
by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the RBEARRRTISEBAEE o

performance of individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R I IRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. QB RKE EE
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiBT

Non-current Assets FRBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries KRB ARIMIELMIEE 483,000 483,000
Prepayment TEf IR 34 -
483,034 483,000

Current Assets RBEE
Prepayments TEfTRIE 111 992
Amounts due from subsidiaries R ENGIE ¢ 141,821 143,406
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBEEED 322 404
142,254 144,802
Current Liability REEE

Accruals FEETER 1,555 1,900
Net Current Assets REEEFE 140,699 142,902
Total Assets less Current Liability EELERRBARS 623,733 625,902

Capital and Reserves ERR#HE
Share capital & 5,000 5,000
Share premium & E 168,033 168,033
Reserves (Note) bt (M E) 450,700 452,869
Total Equity ERmE 623,733 625,902

RRBFEAR AR ER2025F3 A28 HEE
EeEREERE WA TIHIEERRK

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March

2025 and are signed on its behalf by: =E
CHAO KA CHON CHIU KOON CHI
BR#& HEZ
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EE

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT 221



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. &< BBk n Rk & & m
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: Movement in the Company’s reserves are as follow: MizE : ARRSREZESIOT -

Capital Accumulated

reserves losses Total
B EE ZitEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FET
At 1 January 2023 72023F181A 483,000 (28,681) 454,319
Loss and total comprehensive expense & AIETE K 2 TH F S 4258
for the year - (1,450) (1,450)
At 31 December 2023 7A2023F12A831H 483,000 (30,131) 452,869
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FAEE &2 EH X B5E
for the year - (2,169) (2,169)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 483,000 (32,300) 450,700
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below.

Name of subsidiaries

WEARER

BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited

BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited

BW (BVI) Holdings Limited

BW (BVI) Holdings Limited

Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited

Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited

BoardWare Information System Limited

BRERZRARLA

Synergy Computers & Communications

Limited

EHHEARAA

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
MR/
RIBER
AR

BVI, limited liability
company

RERRES
BREFALF

BVI, limited liability
company

RERNES
BREAAR

BVI, limited liability
company

RERNES
BREAAR

Macau, limited
liability company

BFT - BRAM

An]
Hong Kong, limited
liability company

&5 AREL

24

Authorised/
issued and
paid up capital

T/ BRI
RARER

US$50,000/US$1

50,0007,/ 1% 7T

US$50,000/US$1

50,0007,/ 1% 7T

US§50,000/US$1

50,0007,/ 1% 7T

MOP5,000,000/
MOP5,000,000

5,000,0002F97,/
5,000,0002F97

HK$1,000,000/
HK$1,000,000

1,000,000%7%,/
1,000,000 7T

2024 FERE

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

AF2024F 1231 HIEFIZ

39. KRR FEME QA TFE

RI|BEMR - AR EELEESA NN
BARFHEWT

Proportion of
ownership interests
held by the Group

AEEHEN

e gzt pl

2024 2023
20245 20235

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

E2:31 )

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Provision of Professional IT services,
Managed services, IT equipment
leasing, IT maintenance and
consultancy services, resale of
packaged hardware and software
and R&D activities

REERTRY - ERS - TRER
B MEERZAARE BEERRE
EREH RHEED

Provision of IT maintenance and
consultancy services, and distribution
of packaged hardware and software

RETEE A AREU R HERE
N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/E

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

39. KRR FEME A FAFE @

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
MR,/
RIBER
AR

Authorised/
issued and
paid up capital

Proportion of
ownership interests
held by the Group

Name of subsidiaries Principal activities

e/ BRI
RARER

AEEHEN
FreERR LAl
2024
20245

WELRER IEED
2023

20235

BoardWare Information System (HK) Hong Kong, limited ~ HK$10,000/HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of Professional IT services,
Limited liability company Managed services, IT maintenance
and consultancy services, and resale
of packaged hardware and software
BEENZG(FE)ERRA &% BREM  10,00087L/ 100% 100%  REZRTRE  FERE TEER
AR 10,000757C BARBUREEERE RIS
Zhuhai BoardWare Network Information  The PRC, wholly RMB50,000,000/ 100% 100%  Provision of Professional IT services,
Limited* foreign-owned RMB36,000,000 IT maintenance and consultancy
enterprise services, resale of packaged hardware
and software and R&D activities
REBEREESERAR TE - 2SMERE  ARMES0,000,0007T/ 100% 100%  SREZRTRE - T4ERBARE -
AR36,000,0007 HEERFH REMAREEE
Guangzhou BoardWare Network The PRC, wholly RMB12,300,000/ 100% 100%  Provision of Professional IT services, IT
Information Limited* foreign-owned RMB 12,300,000 maintenance, consultancy services
enterprise and resales of packaged hardware
and software
BMBEBEESERAR TE 2SMERE ARM12,300,0007T/ 100% 100%  REZRITR - T4 REARBEA
AR%12,300,0007 REEERFHREH
Barco Technology (BVI) Limited BVI, limited liability ~ US$50,000/US$4,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
company
Barco Technology (BVI) Limited RERTES 50,000%7,/ 100% 100% ALK
EREARH 4,000%7
Barco Technology (Macau) Ltd. Macau, limited MOP25,000/ 100% 100%  Investment holding
liability company MOP25,000
RPYARBRARAR BP9 BREM 25000877/ 100% 100% RERR
NG 25,0002
* for identification purpose only
BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

*

Name of subsidiaries

WEARER

Carriex Business Investment and
Management Limited

BABEREREEBRAT

Barco (BVI) (PTC) Limited

Barco (BVI) (PTC) Limited

Barco Technologies Limited*

IARBBRAAE]

BW Project (BVI) Limited

BW Project (BVI) Limited

BoardWare Project (HK) Limited

BoardWare Project (HK) Limited

for identification purpose only

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
ML/
RIBER

AR

Macau, limited
liability company
#M - BREE

N

BVI, limited liability
company

RERNES
BREAAR

The PRC, wholly
foreign-owned
enterprise

TE - 2HELE

BVI, limited liability
company

RERRES
BREEALF

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
&5 BREE

N

Authorised/
issued and
paid up capital

EE/ BRI
RARER

MOP25,000/
MOP25,000

25,0007,/
25,0002P97%

US$50,000/U5$50,000

50,000E77,/
50,000%7T

RMB50,000,000/
RMB4,500,000

AE50,000,0007,/
ARH4,500,0007

US§50,000/US$50,000

50,000E71,/
50,000%7T

HK$10,000/HK$10,000

10,0003,/
10,0008 7T

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

AF2024F 1231 HIEFIZ

39. AR B FEHB A AFHE @

Proportion of
ownership interests
held by the Group
REERAEN
PR Rl
2024 2023
20245 20235
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

2024 FERE

Principal activities

E2:31 )

Investment holding

RERR

Private trust

MLAER

R&D activities

VKT

Investment holding (established on
8 May 2024)
REER(R2024F5 ABEA L)

Investment holding (established on
3 June 2024)
REER(R2024F6 A38/1)

BEESHRERLT
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In accordance with the rules and regulations in Macau,
employees in Macau are required to participate in a central
social security scheme operated by the Macau Special
Administrative Region Government. Under this scheme, the
Group is required to contribute a fixed amount on a monthly
basis to the central social security scheme and the contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they are due in accordance with
the rules of the scheme. The Group's obligations are limited to
the contributions payable.

For employees in Hong Kong, the Group participates in the
MPF Scheme established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance in December 2000, which is a defined contribution
scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes monthly the lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC-based employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution retirement benefit plans administrated
and operated by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the PRC
based employees are required to make monthly contributions
to these plans calculated as a percentage of the employees’
salaries. The municipal and provincial governments undertake
to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC-based employees’ payable under the
plans described above. Other than the monthly contributions,
the Group has no further obligations for the payments of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of its employees.
The assets of these plans are held separately from those of
the Group in independently administered funds managed
by the municipal and provincial governments. The Group’s
contributions to the aforesaid defined contribution retirement
schemes are expensed as incurred.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$4,072,000
(2023: HK$3,208,000) represents contributions payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
plans. As at 31 December 2024, contributions of HK$539,000
(2023: HK$300,000) due in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024 had not been paid over to the plans. The
amounts were paid subsequent to the end of the reporting
period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B IS SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 1231 HIFF/E

40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 40. R IKEFIETE

RIBRFTRGREI ROEM - RFIREEAZ
DR TR BITTER R BT A8 & /) P Rt
RIEETE - RIBZA S AEEEASAL
Bl E KRR R SREEHH - W
FHFRIFLT B Z AR B R E RS
AR - NREEREERIOBEMFE -

By 2 9 W

AEBAEBRERESLHEM2000F12 ABE
CRFIMERTER T LR R 2 fE S+
g EATHEENGE - aEeHINE
EBMNALEBEEE  YHBILZEAEL
FINESFE - RIERESFE - A5EE
& A1%1,5008 T 3k (8 B MR A FI5% (JA
REHEAEERHE - 2T AAEBRA
£30,000/8 7T AT EIHFENER B - 8K
EY LR A AR IR A AR SR B O 3K o

RIBF BB GO RER - ARETEE
B2NMbrEEET ABTEELEE
MERTEBHEICENKREFE - RIZZET
g ARERTEEESABEEEETLE
MEX—BADLRZEAEELHR - T -
BB AGERE D5t 8RB ENE
B EARKRAKGEEBRRENER -
B AHRIN  AEBEYNE SRR
T REMEBREEHNOEMBES - ZF5
FNEEBYNASEEE  YhmkE
BREBNBIERESHAR - AEEY
i TE B FORIRET B RO R B A T
RFX

RIEB =R R X /4,072,000 % 7T
(20234 : 3,208,000/ 7T) * AAEE LT
ERAIFTRAM L R ENZ SRR -
M2024F 12 A318 » REIZ=20245 12 A
31H IEF E 2 H#59539,0005 75 (20234 -
300,000/ 70 ) B 5R i R AT T2 5518 »
ERFEERNHEHMERESL -
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42,

43,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into new and modified
lease agreements and recognised right-of-use assets of
HK$14,250,000 (2023: HK$7,770,000) and lease liabilities of
HK$13,426,000 (2023: HK$7,770,000) respectively.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group's borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the
Group's assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets
are as follows:

41.

42,

OISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BElZ2024F 1231 HIFFE

FTEFBRERS

FR o REBRIZHORETHE RS -
A 9 Bl 1 FR{E A #E & = 14,250,000 JT
(20234 : 7,770,000 70 ) R HE & &
13,426,000 /& 7T (2023 % : 7,770,000 /&
JL) °

EEEH
AN 18 R AR S A AR AR
BHEBEEMNERRENT :
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
4,681 4,939
- 5,547
10,734 53,317

Investment property WEME

Bills receivable RN EE
Pledge bank deposits EERRITFR
DIVIDENDS

No dividends was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
by the Company during 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend
been proposed at the end of the reporting period in respect of
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

43,

2024 FERE o

RE

AR B 2024%5 K 2023F I R~ sl i sk

) B AR BRR AR B, - RS BRI
EIMEE2024F 2 2023F12 A31H IE5F

EIRHEMALE. o

BEESHRERLT
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

gy 2Tk

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

20204 20214 20224 20234 20245
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

TAET THET THT TET FEx

Revenue U 25 475,308 534,302 580,833 717,595 648,012
Profits before tax R AT 71 34,150 30,002 6,676 7,446 1,609
Income tax expense FrigBiF X (4,292) (5,999) (3,428) (2,944) (657)
Profit for the year FERHEF 29,858 24,003 3,248 4,502 952
Attributable to: AT S I8 -
Owners of the Company KARERA 29,858 24,003 3,252 4,502 952
Non-controlling interests FEVERR - - (4) - -
29,858 24,003 3,248 4,502 952

As at 31 December
M12H831H
2020 AOYA 2022 2023 2024

20204 20214 20224 20234 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&TT F&TT T T FET

Non-current assets ERENEE 59,343 57,008 65,246 73,721 74,118
Current assets mENEE 259,097 379,109 507,814 509,682 511,543
Total assets BERE 318,440 436,117 573,060 583,403 585,661
Non-current liabilities IEREEE (17,637)  (53,394) (9,014) (8,049)  (13,662)
Current liabilities ViEI=R (167,814) (213,840) (233,023) (239,326) (236,052)
Total liabilities BEBE (185,451) (267,234) (242,037) (247,375) (249,714)
Total equity ERBE 132,989 168,883 331,023 336,028 349,609

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

e 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MIFHE

REVENUE
HK$'000 g 127603 222 1 Professional IT Services
= BEIT
FET 127,406 289,562 EETR
750,000 Joa57 123372/ 717 505 I Managed Service and
39,478 143,879 I 25260 ' lease income
635,000 - 118,155 | 648,012 EERBRAERA
108,800 .
B IT maintenance and
520,000 consultancy services
T4 8 I 55 A RS
405,000 248,932 Distribution
75
290,000 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Resale
20204 20214 20224 20234 20244 HE
REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION
HK$'000 BB EEIDHRE 1200 25
FBxT . 34,172
750,000 41,112 e 143,343 I Macau
167,944 JRFY
635,000 51 128,602 648,012
' 1l Hong Kon
125,401 | 580,833 %5:%9 9
520,000 534,302 470,497 !
475,308 371,777 The PRC
Bl
405’000 405,459 EFI .
349,856 Others
290,000 Hith
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 2024F

PROFITS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
RRATEB ABMEFRRR

HK$'000
FET
30,000 24,003
29,858
22,500
15,000
7,500 952
0
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20245
NET ASSETS
HK$'000 BEE
FBx
400,000
331,023 336,028 335,947
300,000
200,000
132,989 168,883
0
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204F 20214 20224 20234 20245

2024 FEHE o WEESHERERLT
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MIFHE

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

ER=
%
100.0
75.0
50.0
50 19.7 21.0 17.3 16.1 19.3
’ - T —T = —=1
0.0
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
2020 20214 20224 20234 20244F
NET PROFIT MARGIN
R =
%
10.0
7.5
4.5
5.0 4.3
25 0.6 0.6 0.1
0.0 i
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20245
FINANCIAL RATIOS
ML=
Times %
32 (]
Lo 18.6%
2.5 20.0
2.0 16.0
1.5 12.0
1.0 8.0
0.5 4.0
0.0 LT 0.0
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20245
B Current Ratios [] Gearing Ratios
REEE R BEEEER
RETURN ON EQUITY
FR 7 [ 3 &
%
40.0
30.0
225
20.0 142
10.0
1.0 1.3 0.3
0.0 = _— =1
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20245
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GLOSSARY

RAITEER

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the
following terms shall have the meanings set out below.

“12m ECL"
[M2EARMERREE]

“2024 AGM"
[2024FRHAF K |

"2025 AGM"
[2025FRERAF K |

“2027"
[20274 ]

T
[Al]

"AR/NR"
[ ARVR

" Articles of Association” or "Articles”

[#EEEZF2 4R ek 48 ]
“Audit Committee”

[T EZEE ]

“Barco”

[N

“BCI"
[BCI]

“Board”
=5

“Board Committee(s)”
3=

“Board Diversity Policy”
EES-EVidEe

* for identification purpose only

RAERD - FRIFEXESEHE - GRITIIFAR
JEEA T XPRERE °

12-month expected credit loss
1218 ATEEEEEE

the annual general meeting of the Company held on Thursday, 20 June 2024
AN AFR20245F6 4208 (2 BAM) BITHRFBERE

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 20 June
2025
RATEER2025F6 208 (2R ) BITHRFBEFAE

the financial year ended 31 December 2027
HZE2027F12A31 AL REFE

Artificial Intelligence
ALE#E

Augmented Reality and Virtual Reality
Augmented Reality )2 Virtual Reality

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company, adopted
on 20 June 2022, which became effective upon Listing and as amended,
supplemented or modified from time to time

$20224F6 H20 B ER MR AR RIEMER] RS S A ERMAA - ER LT
BREBRAETEERT -~ TR IER

the audit committee of the Board
EXgETLEEE

Barco Technologies Limited* (‘NHEHE AR A A]), a company incorporated in
the PRC with limited liability on 12 January 2023
IARHEER AR - 72023F1 B12 B ER B ARA R

Brain-computer Interface

F e O

the board of Directors
Y

collectively referred to as the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Board

EFEEEINZREE RAZBELFMZESNHRE

the Board diversity policy of the Company
ARAREEELITILHBUR
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GLOSSARY
RISRER

“BoardWare HK”

[EHEE]

“BoardWare Macau”

[T 4R |

“Business Day(s)"

[&%A ]

"BVI”
[RBRIHS]

"CEQ"
[BEREATE

"G
[EER]

"CG Code”
[fEERSTAI

“Chairman”

=S
“China”, “PRC" or “Mainland”

[ B Ikl A

BoardWare Information System (HK) Limited (B # & X (FH)BER A
A]), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 30 March
2017 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BHREMZSR(BBE)BRAT - R2017F3A30REEBFMALABRA
Al RARANEEEEMEB AR

BoardWare Information System Limited (B4 & s R F B R A 7)), a company
incorporated in Macau with limited liability on 21 April 2003 and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BEEARKERAR - —HR2003F4 821 BIERPIFMK I ERA
Al BERAATNEEZERE LA

a day (excluding Saturday, Sunday or public or statutory holiday in Hong
Kong and any day on which a tropical cyclone warning No. 8 or above is
hoisted or remains hoisted between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon and is not
lowered at or before 12:00 noon or on which a “black” rainstorm warning
signal is hoisted or remains in effect between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon and is
not discontinued at or before 12:00 noon) on which licensed banks in Hong
Kong are generally open for business in Hong Kong throughout their normal
business hours
ERNFRBITNREEEEXFR—RAFNESTEXBENEF(HBHE
EHR - EHASBEELRIVEERILAR SR FRVE AR ESEHRR
EFFNAREERF+ R IERBSGRBEHARDF+ RIS A ARRE
T RE | ZEREEERR LFNFEERF T 2RISR SEFERER
A+ RS IE Bk 2 AT R ARRBR O (2T B F)

the British Virgin Islands
REBRIAES

the chief executive officer of the Company

RABIEEATE

corporate governance
EER

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

E AR BIBERC1 B MK R EVRTRID

the chairman of the Board

EEEER

the People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of this annual report
only, excludes, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

I ARAAE - ERAERNE - TREES  EFRAE
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"Code Provision(s)"”
[ =F Bl

“CODM(s)"
[E2EEREAN]

“Companies Ordinance”
NGIIESUN

“Company”

ZAVNCIN

1

“Company Secretary”
[RAEWE ]

“Conditions”

[ ek

U

“Controlling Shareholder(s)"

[ER A R

"COVID-19"

[COVID-19]

GLOSSARY
RISER

Hong Kong Institute Certified Professional Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants

ARG ARG 2 EXREFTAERTR

code provision(s) as set out in the CG Code
1 EEE AT RIPTE <R RIE

chief operating decision-maker(s)

TREERRA

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BREDF 6228 RRNEG)ERHERT - MFE s AR AT ED)

BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited (B # & ZRI AR A 7)), a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 February 2021 as an
exempted company with limited liability and registered as a non-Hong Kong
company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance on 7 June 2021
BHEERFBERAT - —ER2021F2 188 EH EH S M I ER
RARAR - W20215F6 A7 ARB ARG FE 16HBEMAIEFTERT

company secretary of the Company

RRRNAEIWE

any reason other than (a) his/her death or (b) on one or more of the grounds
of termination of employment or engagement that, he/she has been guilty
of serious misconduct, or appears either to be unable to pay or to have
no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his/her debts or has become
bankrupt or has made any arrangement or composition with his/her creditors
generally, or has been convicted of any criminal offence involving his/her
integrity or honesty, or on any other ground on which an employer would be
entitled to terminate his/her employment summarily

B F M (O)A T —IBSIA LIBAR(REETRRE - IUFEE 3
BIEFARAR B A N HEB SR ES D BEESARREL EA P
RSILE S REEERBENERMNERT  EZTAEBEESREFELR
BB EAEAMIEH) MR IHERSISEE M ERR

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules and, unless the context
otherwise requires, refers to Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited and Mr. Chao, or
any of them

BB EmRAETZANRE - BRIEXESBIE - B RI#ETai Wah (BVI)
Holdings Limited 52 J& 5t A gl H A (£l — A

the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), a respiratory illness caused by a
novel coronavirus
2019 R EFR(COVID-19) + —1& F 31 AL A 75 55 5| HE RO MT IR 38 =
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GLOSSARY
RISRER

“Da Heng Qin (Macau) Limitada”

[ KEEZECRF)BRAF ]
“Deloitte”
[1=) |

"Director(s)”

==

“Dividend Policy”
(AR BB

“Dr. U”
[&iBL]

"ECL"
[FEHEEEE ]

"EEG”
[EEE

“EIT Law”
[BRPEHE]

“Enterprise IT Solutions”

[{DEEITRR R T2
“ESG”

[ESG]

"ESG Policy”
[ESGIE |

"ESG Report”
[ESGHRE ]

"ESG Reporting Guide”

[ESG¥RE+E5I

Da Heng Qin (Macau) Limitada, a company incorporated in Macau with
limited liability on 3 December 2019. Da Heng Qin (Macau) Limitada is an
independent third party and a pre-IPO Investor

REZCRP)BRAR - —MR2019F 12 A3 ERPIFMAZNERA
Al KEZECRFDBRAGA—BBEUE= AR —BBERFREERRESE

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, independent auditor of the Company

=% « WEM5EITT - ARRIHBILAZBED

the director(s) of the Company
KARES

dividend policy adopted by the Company
R BIFTERAA RO AR BIBUER

U Seng Pam (53, an INED
REGR © BB IERITESR

expected credit loss
BHMEEEE

electroencephalography, which is a neurological test that uses an electronic
monitoring device to measure and record electrical activity in the brain

MEE - A—RERAEFERRERERCHEAMEEBHPE S8

the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax

PEGEMAETOR

enterprise-grade design and implementation solutions and services provided
to corporate customers in which different computing systems and software
applications are either physically or functionally linked together to act as a
coordinated whole

AR AR PR ERRG RITRR T ZMRG - KR TR B R M
PRI FEYIE FIhee BB A —#E - A — AR ER

Environmental, Social and Governance
RE e kER

an internal policy manual which details the policies and procedures of the
Group in ESG perspectives
WEPBER T - (REESGAE FH RSB BUR M2 T

the ESG report for FY2024
2024 BF FFESGHR &

the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules
FRRIMERC2PIE R - (' MEIRIRE S
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“FDCT"
[FHRERES ]

“Fin-tech”

[ Fin-tech ]

"FVTOCI”

(T2 A HEFFARMEERA

“FVTPL"
& A ERT AR

“FY2023"
[20235F B 4F |

“FY2024" or “Reporting Year”
[2024%F B 4F |k [ EFZE

"GHG"
RZERE

il::3

]

K

“Global Offering”
[BIREE ]

“Gov-tech”

[ Gov-tech |

"“Greater Bay Area”

[XEE ]

"Group”

[RE&EH |

“Henggin”
(&%

"HKS"
77t

GLOSSARY
RISER

the Science and Technology Development Fund of Macau

BB ERMERES

financial technology, which is an emerging industry which uses technology
to improve activities in finance, such as the use of smart phones for mobile
banking and cryptocurrency

TRRHS - I AR SCE S RSB R AR - IERDRETHET T
RITRINEEEEE

Fair value through other comprehensive income or loss

BATER AR MEERA

Fair value through profit or loss

BRAFE AR

the financial year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31 B IEMEBFE

the financial year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12 A31 B IEMIEBFE

Greenhouse gas

Nl ]
BEREE

together, the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Placing
R NMEEMBERESHN5HE

Government technology, which refer to the use of modern innovation and
technology to improve the accessibility, effectiveness, transparency and
efficiency of government services

BURRHE - #8 M AR KA1 R MR A BT ARG H A Rt - BRI - ERHE

the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, which comprises
the two Special Administrative Regions of Hong Kong and Macau, and the
nine municipalities of Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Zhuhai, Foshan, Huizhou,
Dongguan, Zhongshan, Jiangmen and Zhaoging in the Guangdong Province,
the PRC

BERAER  BMERHTRE(ESMRM) RHBEERE NVET(E
JH RIS KR - BRIl BN - R L OTPIRERE AKX

the Company and its subsidiaries

RABRHEKEAR

a city in Zhuhai and a special economic zone in Guangdong Province of the
Pjﬁ)‘%%ﬁ’ﬂiﬁi‘ﬁ C RPBEEREHKERFR

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BILNE - BEEAEEH
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GLOSSARY
RISRER

“HKICPA"
[ERERAE]

" HKSA(s)"
[EBET2EA

“Hong Kong” or “HK"
[ &%)

“Hong Kong Public Offering”

EEYNGE:-3

AS”
[BIFR &R ]

“IASB"
[EFRgrERIEEE]

“IFRS Accounting Standard(s)”

[BIFR B 5 e R & R TR |

“Individual Limit”

MEA LR ]

"INED(s)"”

(B IFTES]

“International Placing”

[BIFRACE |

“International Placing Shares”

[ BB ACE R |

Hong Kong Certified Professional Accountants

BREERE

Hong Kong Standards of Auditing
(EBEERD

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of
China
hiE ARKNBEEBFRITTHR

the issue and offer by the Company of the Hong Kong Offer Shares for
subscription by the public in Hong Kong for cash at the Offer Price, on the
terms and subject to the conditions described in Prospectus
RIBBRERMEFGRLEELGERET AR RIRREEERTREESR
BERERNARBTELAZRALRE - NBRRES

International Accounting Standards
‘F\ = ’&EU

International Accounting Standards Board
REETEAEEE

International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by International
Accounting Standards Board
R ETHERIIE g R ) BRI A R 2 B

the limit of total Share number issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each participant in any 12-month period, which is 1% of
the Shares in issue

B2 HEEEMN218 B BE A ER OB IRERITER B BT RS T81TH
AP BB IR - BN A TARID A1 %

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BMIFHITES

the conditional placing of the International Placing Shares at the Offer Price
by the International Underwriters for and on behalf of the Company, subject
to reallocation, together where relevant, with any additional shares that may
be issued pursuant to any exercise of the Over-allotment Option
BRBHEBAR AR RREEER KT RERRESRN (A FEHHER) -
E[R (AN E R ) DB R AL AR MR T (0 1 P] BE B AT RV IE AT RSN

the 112,500,000 Shares being initially offered by the Company for
subscription at the Offer Price under the International Placing together with
any additional Shares that may be issued pursuant to any exercise of the
Over-allotment Option, subject to reallocation
ARAREBERE SR B EEY P2 AHRREA112,500,0008 8% 17

() X B FE A AR R E T T 1 P RE BT TV AEARIRESINR A7 » A T EFT DAL
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“loT”
[R5 48 |

“IPO"
[BRAFREE]

“1SO"
[soJ

o
(7]

“KPI(s)"
[BRBRAAE ISR

“Listing”
[ b7

“Listing Date”

[ Em B

“Listing Rules”

[ EmRAl

“Macau or “Macau SAR"

[DERFT KR4

“Main Board”

[k

“Managed Services”

[+EE AR

“Memorandum of Association”

[ AR A2 A

“Model Code”

[#52E<7 Al

GLOSSARY
RISER

Internet of Things

Yk k]

initial public offering
BRAREE

International Organisation for Standardisation
BB L AR 4

Information Technology

BARHR

key performance indicator(s)

RS AE RUE IR

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
P& fn OB SZ P AR BT

15 July 2022, being the date on which the Shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in the Shares are permitted to commence
on the Stock Exchange

2022F 7158  BIRDRAB R P _Emh MR AR R PTFe B B/ A Hf

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended from time to time

FEBMARSMARARRES LR GETEHERT)

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China

i AR AMBLRFIR BT R

the stock exchange (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of
the Stock Exchange

M PTEENESF RS (T EERETS) - BB XMGEM - A&
HI1T&1E

support services from leasing contracts and security monitoring services

HEA O R 2SRRI SRR

the amended and restated memorandum of association of the Company,
adopted on 20 June 2022, as amended from time to time

72202246 A 20 B IRV AR R RIS IEFT RS B VAR E R KM (I8 NI &
&)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FRRIMERCIPAE EH AR EFEITEF R HHIRESTR
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GLOSSARY
RISRER

“MOP”
[P

“MPF Scheme”
[BESETE]

“Mr. Chao”
[ B

“Mr. Li"
=

“Mr. Man”
[ XS4

“Mr. Ng”
[RFEAE]

“Mr. Suen”

[fRE4]

“Ms. Chiu”
Fiketull

“Ms. Lei”
[ZFiet]

“Net Proceeds”

[ SRR %%

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEE]

“Offer Shares”

[EERD ]

“Qver-allotment Option”

[ R RAACASCHE |

Macau Pataca, the lawful currency of Macau
BT RFVEEER

the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
RHIENESETE

Mr. Chao Ka Chon (X&), an executive Director, the Chairman, CEO and
the Controlling Shareholder

ARESRE - BRITES - T/F - TBHEEFRERRER

Li Haodong (Z=/& ), a non-executive Director

FHER RIFATES

Man Wing Pong (3Z5K#8), an INED
MOKFB - BB IEITESR

Ng Hong Kei (5= 5#5), an executive Director
BB - AMITES

Suen Chi Wai (f£8751), an INED
BEE BBYIENTES

Chiu Koon Chi (#7@=), an executive Director

HHZ  RTES

Lei Sok Han (Z=#U), an executive Director
R BRMITES

the net proceeds from the Listing after deducting the underwriting fees,
commissions and other listing expenses borne by the Company

ETREFIREE - KNG EHEER - MERARBMMAENEM EHRX

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgeRw%Ee

the Hong Kong Offer Shares and the International Placing Shares, including
the additional Shares that might be issued under any exercise of the Over-
allotment Option

BEBEER D MERRERD - BERIEITE BRI ] s B THERIMNR

%)

the option expected to be granted by the Company to the International
Underwriters, exercisable by the Sole Global Coordinator at its sole and
absolute discretion (for itself and on behalf of the International Underwriters)
pursuant to which the Company may be required to issue up to aggregate of
18,750,000 additional Shares at the final Offer Price, to cover over-allocations
in the International Placing, if any

TEERE AR AR TR B HEE N ERE - TRBRE2HRBHAA(RERS
RRKEBRBHERE)DEBEITE - Bt AARFEFEREREEER
118x%18,750,000A% BIMNK 17 - LA FE BIBR A B AR D BL (208 )
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“Professional IT Services”

[ERITAR

"Prospectus”

[ ERE ]

“Register of Members”

[RXER A

“Remuneration Committee”

[(FMEZEE]

“RMB”
[AR#]

"R&D"
Kig:d

“SaaS”
[SaaS]

“Scheme Mandate Limit”

[FT8IERE LR

nSECH
[FEEg]

Y m =

“SFO"
[ &5 R HEEA) ]
“Share(s)”

[Rstn |

“Share Option Scheme” or “Scheme’

[ R ARt &) k[ %At 8l

“Shareholder(s)"”
[ A%

GLOSSARY
RISER

IT integrated solution services including integrated services and post-sales
maintenance and technical support, and software development services

ITAR & R RIRTS BIEEE A IR R E RS Ao S #7F - ARBMAFIER
%%

the prospectus of the Company dated 29 June 2022
ANRAE /202296 A29H B ELR

the register of members of the Company

AR RIR A

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFxevyHEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARE - PBUEEER

research and development
Ao B pE %

Software as a Service

RN AR

the limit of total Share number which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Company, which is 10% of the aggregate of the
Shares in issue on the date of the Shares commence trading on the Stock
Exchange, which is in aggregate of up to 50,000,000 Shares
Iﬁﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁ’&ﬁ]ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁéﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁ EY P A BB A T A

BEBITHIRM BB EIR - B EE PRI EE 2 A B BTG B8 H
10% & H 850,000,000 4% & 5

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

BAREFLHEEHERZBE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BREBIFST EC(EZ LG RO EREERT » #E s AR T e

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company

RATIIRAREAREEC.01E TR B

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 20 June
2022

RARIPA202246 A 208 B IR IHHERNE B IR AE T &

holder(s) of the Shares
f&HE A
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GLOSSARY
RISRER

“SME"
[/ ]

usq.m.u

EZEY

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 P |

“Sub-committee”
[NEZEE]

“subsidiary(ies)”

KR

"substantial shareholder(s)”

[E2RER]

“Synergy CCL"

[EH R

"tCO.e"

(S E 2

"Us§”
ESH

"Zone”
[RERER]

small and medium-size enterprises
/NI

square meter

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMERXHMARRAR

ESG management sub-committee
ESGEER/NMEZEE

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules

BB EWRRIM T AR RE

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules

BB EWRRIM T AR RE

Synergy Computers & Communications Limited (£ & & & B R 2 7)), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 30 October
1990 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BHERRERAR - —HER1990F 10 A30B EEBTMERIHER AR -
BERARRANEZEEMB AR

tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
W —REREE

United States Dollar, the lawful currency of the United States

XL XBEEEAEER

the Guangdong-Macao In-Depth Cooperation Zone in Henggin
BEERRESFER
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(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RASHSEMAULNBRAT )
Stock code B 3145 : 1204

®
BEEM
MR | Xi ABEEHMAE
F Paper | Supporting responsible forestry
www§cocrg FSC® C157924
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